
Page 1 of 340 

 

AGENDA 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
MONDAY, APRIL 01, 2019 

7:00 PM AT CITY HALL 

 

 
 
Call to Order by the Mayor 

Roll Call 

Approval of Minutes 

1. Regular Meeting of March 18, 2019. 

Agenda Revisions 

Special Order of Business 

2. Public hearing on the proposed plans, specifications, form of contract & estimate of cost for the 2019 
Permeable Alley Project. 

a) Receive and file proof of publication of notice of hearing. (Notice published March 22, 2019) 
 
b) Written communications filed with the City Clerk. 
 
c) Oral comments. 

3. Resolution approving and adopting the plans, specifications, form of contract & estimate of cost for 
the 2019 Permeable Alley Project. 

4. Public hearing on proposed amendments to Section 26-181, CHN, College Hill Neighborhood 
Overlay Zoning District, of Chapter 26, Zoning, of the Code of Ordinances relative to certain 
provisions in the College Hill Neighborhood Overlay Zoning District. 

a) Receive and file proof of publication of notice of hearing. (Notice published March 22, 2019) 
 
b) Written communications filed with the City Clerk. 
 
c) Oral comments. 

5. Pass an ordinance amending Chapter 26, Zoning, of the Code of Ordinances relative to the College 
Hill Neighborhood (CHN) Overlay Zoning District, upon its first consideration. 

Old Business 

6. Pass Ordinance #2937, adopting the Code of Ordinances for the City of Cedar Falls, upon its second 
consideration, or 
 
a) Suspend the rules requiring ordinances to be considered at three separate meeting (requires at 
least six aye votes), and 
 
b) Pass the ordinance upon its third & final consideration. 

7. Pass Ordinance #2938, amending Section 29-107 of the Code of Ordinances by removing property 
located at the southeast corner of West 12th Street and Union Road from the A-1, Agricultural 
District, and placing the same in the RP, Planned Residence District, upon its second consideration. 

1



Page 2 of 340 

New Business 

Consent Calendar: (The following items will be acted upon by voice vote on a single motion without separate 
discussion, unless someone from the Council or public requests that a specific item be considered separately.) 

8. Receive and file the resignation of Jayme Renfro as a member of the Art & Culture Board. 

9. Receive and file the Committee of the Whole minutes of March 18, 2019 relative to the following 
items: 
a) Pavement Management. 
b) Bills & Payroll. 

10. Receive and file communications from the Civil Service Commission relative to certified lists for the 
following positions: 
a) Arborist.  
b) Equipment Operator. 

11. Receive and file Departmental Monthly Reports of February 2019. 

12. Endorse the recommendations of the Library Board of Trustees, the Art & Culture Board and the 
Parks & Recreation Commission regarding use of the Berg and Ray Funds held by the Cedar Falls 
Community Foundation for the benefit of the Cedar Falls Public Library, the Hearst Center and the 
Recreation Center. 

13. Approve the request for a temporary sign on West 1st Street between the Rapp Gas Station and the 
Little Red School House for the Make-A-Wish Walk on April 24-27, 2019. 

14. Approve a request for street closures for the Downtown Show and Shine, May 5, 2019. 

15. Approve the following applications for liquor licenses:  
a) Lark Brewing, Deringer’s Public Parlor & The Stuffed Olive, 314 Main Street, Class C liquor & 
outdoor service - sidewalk café. 
b) Luxe Nail Bar, 5907 University Avenue, Class C liquor - new. 

Resolution Calendar: (The following items will be acted upon by roll call vote on a single motion without 
separate discussion, unless someone from the Council or public requests that a specific item be considered 
separately.) 

16. Resolution approving and accepting from the Municipal Electric and Gas Utilities the permanent 
transfers of $3,372,681.00 to the General Fund and $30,000.00 to the Economic Development Fund 
of the City of Cedar Falls.  

17. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of an Easement Agreement, in conjunction with a 
sidewalk café at 314 Main Street. 

18. Resolution approving the Gold Star Family Memorial Monument site plan concept and preliminary 
cost estimate, as recommended by the Parks & Recreation Commission. 

19. Resolution approving and adopting revised Bylaws for the Housing Commission. 

20. Resolution approving a Claim for Non-Residential Relocation Assistance Reimbursement, in 
conjunction with the West 1st Street Reconstruction Project. 

21. Resolution approving and accepting a Temporary Easement, in conjunction with the 2017 
Levee/Floodwall System Improvements Project. 

22. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a License Agreement with Aureon Network 
Services relative to installing a fiber optic telecommunications system in the Greenhill Road public 
right-of-way. 

2



Page 3 of 340 

23. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a Professional Service Agreement with Robinson 
Engineering Company relative to the Ace Place Subwatershed Assessment Project. 

24. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a Professional Service Agreement with Terracon 
Consultants, Inc. relative to 2019 Construction Testing Services. 

25. Resolution approving and accepting a Lien Notice and Special Promissory Note for property located 
at 925 West 15th Street relative to the Rental to Single Family Owner Conversion Incentive Program. 

26. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of an Amended and Restated Developmental 
Procedures Agreement with James Benda relative to property located in the vicinity of University 
Avenue and McClain Drive. 

27. Resolution approving and accepting the low bids, and authorizing execution of two Rehabilitation 
Contracts with Connerley Construction, Inc. relative to Community Development Block Grant 
(CDBG) housing rehabilitation projects. 

28. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a Service Agreement with Farmers State Bank 
relative to drawdown of Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) funds. 

29. Resolution setting April 15, 2019 as the date of public hearing to consider entering into a proposed 
Agreement for Private Development and to consider conveyance of certain city-owned real estate to 
Zuidberg NA, L.L.C. 

Allow Bills and Payroll 

30. Allow Bills and Payroll of April 1, 2019. 

City Council Referrals 

31. Refer to the Committee of the Whole a request to amend the consumer fireworks ban to allow a 
limited-use window. 

City Council Updates 

Public Forum. (Speakers will have one opportunity to speak for up to 5 minutes on topics germane to City 

business.) 

Adjournment 

  

3



CITY HALL 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, MARCH 18, 2019 

REGULAR MEETING, CITY COUNCIL 
MAYOR JAMES P. BROWN PRESIDING 

  
The City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, met in Regular Session, 
pursuant to law, the rules of said Council and prior notice given each member 
thereof, in the City Hall at Cedar Falls, Iowa, at 7:00 P.M. on the above date. 
Members present: Miller, deBuhr, Kruse, Blanford, Darrah, Wieland, Green. 
Absent: None. 

 
52224 - It was moved by deBuhr and seconded by Darrah that the minutes of the Regular 

Meeting of March 4, 2019 be approved as presented and ordered of record. 
Motion carried unanimously. 

 
52225 - It was moved by Miller and seconded by deBuhr that the minutes of the Special 

Meeting of February 27, 2019 be approved as presented and ordered of record. 
Motion carried unanimously. 

 
Mayor Brown read a proclamation declaring March 2019 as National Nutrition 
Month and Luann Alemao commented. 

 
52226 -  Mayor Brown announced that in accordance with the public notice of March 8, 

2019, this was the time and place for a public hearing to consider adopting the 
City's Code of Ordinances. It was then moved by Darrah and seconded by 
deBuhr that the proof of publication of notice of hearing be received and placed 
on file. Motion carried unanimously. 

 
52227 - The Mayor then asked if there were any written communications filed to the code 

adoption. Upon being advised that there were no written communications on file, 
the Mayor then called for oral comments. City Attorney Rogers provided a brief 
summary and Jim Skaine, 2215 Clay Street, commented. There being no one 
else present wishing to speak about the code adoption, the Mayor declared the 
hearing closed and passed to the next order of business. 

 
52228 -     It was moved by Wieland and seconded by Darrah that Ordinance #2937, 

adopting the Code of Ordinances for the City of Cedar Falls, be passed upon its 
first consideration. Following questions and comments by Councilmembers 
deBuhr, Wieland and Darrah, and responses by City Attorney Rogers, the Mayor 
put the question on the motion and upon call of the roll, the following named 
Councilmembers voted. Aye: Miller, deBuhr, Kruse, Blanford, Darrah, Wieland, 
Green. Nay: None. Motion carried. 

 
52229 -  Mayor Brown announced that in accordance with the public notice of March 8, 

2019, this was the time and place for a public hearing on proposed rezoning from 
A-1, Agricultural District, to RP, Planned Residence District, of property located 
at the southeast corner of West 12th Street and Union Road, and also on an 
associated amendment to the Schematic Land Use Map by changing the 
designation from Greenways & Floodplain to Greenways & Floodplain and 
Planned Development. It was then moved by Darrah and seconded by Green 

4



 
 

 

- 2 - 

 

that the proof of publication of notice of hearing be received and placed on file. 
Motion carried unanimously. 

 
52230 - The Mayor then asked if there were any written communications filed to the 

proposed rezoning and associated amendment. Upon being advised that there 
were no written communications on file, the Mayor then called for oral comments. 
Planner III Sturch provided a brief summary of the proposed land use 
amendment. NewAldaya Lifescapes CEO Millisa Tierney, 7511 University 
Avenue, commented briefly. Mark Sigwarth, 1028 Cherrywood Drive, expressed 
concerns and requested that consideration be tabled. There being no one else 
present wishing to speak about the proposed amendment, the Mayor declared 
the hearing closed and passed to the next order of business. 

 
52231 - Mayor Brown asked for motion to pass a resolution amending the Schematic 

Land Use Map, by changing the designation from Greenways & Floodplain to 
Greenways & Floodplain and Planned Development, for property located at the 
southeast corner of West 12th Street and Union Road. There being no motion 
from Councilmembers, the Mayor announced that there would also be no 
consideration of the related rezoning ordinance listed as the next agenda item, 
and then passed to the next order of business. 

 
52232 -  Mayor Brown announced that in accordance with the public notice of March 8, 

2019, this was the time and place for a public hearing on a proposed Amended 
and Restated Agreement for Private Development with Buckeye Corrugated, Inc. 
It was then moved by Darrah and seconded by Green that the proof of 
publication of notice of hearing be received and placed on file. Motion carried 
unanimously. 

 
52233 - The Mayor then asked if there were any written communications filed to the 

proposed Agreement. Upon being advised that there were no written 
communications on file, the Mayor then called for oral comments. Planner II 
Graham provided a brief explanation and Jim Skaine, 2215 Clay Street, 
commented. There being no one else present wishing to speak about the 
Agreement, the Mayor declared the hearing closed and passed to the next order 
of business. 

 
52234 -  It was moved by Blanford and seconded by Wieland that Resolution #21,454, 

approving and authorizing execution of an Amended and Restated Agreement for 
Private Development and a Minimum Assessment Agreement with Buckeye 
Corrugated, Inc., be adopted. Following due consideration by the Council, the 
Mayor put the question on the motion and upon call of the roll, the following 
named Councilmembers voted. Aye: Miller, deBuhr, Kruse, Blanford, Darrah, 
Wieland, Green. Nay: None. Motion carried. The Mayor then declared Resolution 
#21,454 duly passed and adopted. 

 
52235 -  Mayor Brown announced that in accordance with the public notice of March 8, 

2019, this was the time and place for a public hearing on a proposed Agreement 
for Private Development with Martin Realty Company II, L.L.C. and payment of 
certain economic development grants pursuant to said proposed Agreement. It 
was then moved by Darrah and seconded by Green that the proof of publication 

5



 
 

 

- 3 - 

 

of notice of hearing be received and placed on file. Motion carried unanimously. 
 
52236 - The Mayor then asked if there were any written communications filed to the 

proposed Agreement. Upon being advised that there were no written 
communications on file, the Mayor then called for oral comments. Planner II 
Graham provided a brief explanation and Jim Skaine, 2215 Clay Street, 
commented. There being no one else present wishing to speak about the 
Agreement, the Mayor declared the hearing closed and passed to the next order 
of business. 

 
52237 -  It was moved by Darrah and seconded by deBuhr that Resolution #21,455, 

approving and authorizing execution of an Agreement for Private Development 
with Martin Realty Company II, L.L.C., be adopted. Following questions and 
comments by Councilmembers deBuhr, Wieland and Green, and responses by 
Planner II Graham, the Mayor put the question on the motion and upon call of the 
roll, the following named Councilmembers voted. Aye: Miller, deBuhr, Kruse, 
Blanford, Darrah, Wieland, Green. Nay: None. Motion carried. The Mayor then 
declared Resolution #21,455 duly passed and adopted. 

 
52238 - It was then moved by Blanford and seconded by deBuhr that agenda items 5, 6 

and 7 relative to a proposed land use map amendment and rezoning, be 
reconsidered. Motion to reconsider carried unanimously. 

 
52239 - It was moved by Blanford and seconded by Green that Resolution #21,456, 

amending the Schematic Land Use Map, by changing the designation from 
Greenways & Floodplain to Greenways & Floodplain and Planned Development, 
for property located at the southeast corner of West 12th Street and Union Road, 
be adopted. Following questions by Councilmembers deBuhr, Blanford, Miller 
and Kruse, and responses by Planner III Sturch and Community Services 
Manager Howard, the Mayor put the question on the motion and upon call of the 
roll, the following named Councilmembers voted. Aye: Miller, deBuhr, Kruse, 
Blanford, Darrah, Wieland, Green. Nay: None. Motion carried. The Mayor then 
declared Resolution #21,456 duly passed and adopted. 

 
52240 -  Mayor Brown announced that in accordance with the public notice of March 8, 

2019, this was the time and place for a public hearing on proposed rezoning from 
A-1, Agricultural District, to RP, Planned Residence District, of property located 
at the southeast corner of West 12th Street and Union Road. It was then moved 
by Darrah and seconded by Miller that the proof of publication of notice of 
hearing be received and placed on file. Motion carried unanimously. 

 
52241 - The Mayor then asked if there were any written communications filed to the 

proposed rezoning. Upon being advised that there were no written 
communications on file, the Mayor then called for oral comments. Planner III 
Sturch provided a brief summary. There being no one else present wishing to 
speak about the rezoning, the Mayor declared the hearing closed and passed to 
the next order of business. 

 
52242 -     It was moved by Darrah and seconded by Wieland that Ordinance #2938, 

amending Section 29-107 of the Code of Ordinances by removing property 

6



 
 

 

- 4 - 

 

located at the southeast corner of West 12th Street and Union Road from the A-
1, Agricultural District, and placing the same in the RP, Planned Residence 
District,  be passed upon its first consideration. Following questions by 
Councilmembers deBuhr, Miller and Kruse, and responses by Planner III Sturch, 
Fehr Graham Engineer Jon Biederman and Community Development Director 
Sheetz, the Mayor put the question on the motion and upon call of the roll, the 
following named Councilmembers voted. Aye: Miller, deBuhr, Kruse, Blanford, 
Darrah, Wieland, Green. Nay: None. Motion carried. 

 
52243 - It was moved by deBuhr and seconded by Green that the following items and 

recommendations on the Consent Calendar be received, filed and approved: 
 

Receive and file the resignation of Hillery Oberle as a member of the Planning & 
Zoning Commission. 
 
Approve the following recommendations of the Mayor relative to the appointment 
of members to Boards and Commissions:  
a) Jeanine Johnson, Historic Preservation Commission, term ending 03/31/2022. 
b) Leslie Prideaux, Planning & Zoning Commission, term ending 11/01/2021. 
 
Receive and file the City Council Work Session minutes of March 4, 2019. 
 
Receive and file communications from the Civil Service Commission relative to 
certified lists for the following positions:  
a) Code Enforcement Officer.  
b) Communications Specialist.  
c) Economic Development Coordinator.  
d) Video Production Specialist. 
 
Approve the request for temporary signs at various locations for the Waterloo-
Cedar Falls Annual Coin Show on March 25-31, 2019. 
 
Approve the request for a temporary sign at 4520 Rownd Street for Valley 
Lutheran School on April 12, 2019. 
 
Approve a request for parking variances for the St. Patrick Church Garage Sale 
on April 24-26, 2019. 
 
Approve the following applications for beer permits and liquor licenses:  
a) Godfather's Pizza, 1621 West 1st Street, Class B beer - renewal.  
b) Barn Happy, 11310 University Avenue, Class B native wine - renewal.  
c) Social House, 2208 College Street, Class C liquor & outdoor service - renewal. 
d) Lark Brewing, Deringer’s Public Parlor & The Stuffed Olive, 314 Main Street, 

Class C liquor & outdoor service - new.  
e) Voodoo Lounge, 401 Main Street, Class C liquor - new. 

 
 Motion carried unanimously. 
 
52244 -  It was moved by Miller and seconded by Wieland to receive and file the 

Committee of the Whole minutes of March 4, 2019 relative to the following items: 

7



 
 

 

- 5 - 

 

a) Planning & Zoning Commission Interview - Leslie Prideaux.  
   b) 2019 Municipal Operations and Programs Work Plan.  
   c) Bills & Payroll. 
    
   Following comments by Jim Skaine, 2215 Clay Street, and responses by 

Councilmembers deBuhr, Blanford, Green and Kruse, the motion carried 
unanimously.  

 
52245 - It was moved by Wieland and seconded by Green that the following resolutions 

be introduced and adopted: 
 

Resolution #21,457, approving and adopting revised job classifications for the 
positions of Director of Public Works and Director of Community Development 
relative to the reorganization of City operations. 
 
Resolution #21,458, approving and authorizing execution of a Facilities Use 
Agreement with Northeast Iowa Area Agency on Aging, Inc. (NEI3A) relative to 
use of the Community Center. 

 
Resolution #21,459, approving and authorizing execution of four Owner 
Purchase Agreements, and approving and accepting four Temporary 
Construction Easements, in conjunction with the Oak Park Sanitary Sewer 
Repair Project. 
 
Resolution #21,460, receiving and filing the bids, and approving and accepting 
the low bid of Peterson Contractors, Inc., in the amount of $13,561,862.40, for 
the West 1st Street Reconstruction Project. 
 
Resolution #21,461, approving and authorizing execution of an application to the 
Black Hawk County Metropolitan Area Transportation Policy Board (MPO) for 
Surface Transportation Block Grant (STBG) funding relative to the Main Street 
Reconstruction Project. 
 
Resolution #21,462, approving and authorizing execution of an application to the 
Black Hawk County Metropolitan Area Transportation Policy Board (MPO) for 
Iowa’s Transportation Alternatives Program (TAP) funding relative to the Lake 
Street Trail Project. 
 
Resolution #21,463, approving and authorizing execution of a Farm Lease 
Agreement with Michael Greiner relative to property located west of the West 
Viking Road Industrial Park. 
 
Resolution #21,464, approving and authorizing execution of Supplemental 
Agreement No. 4 with Snyder & Associates, Inc. for 2019 Engineering Services 
relative to the Industrial Park Expansion Project. 
 
Resolution #21,465, approving the Industrial Park Land Acquisition and 
Engineering/Design Services Project in the Cedar Falls Unified Highway 58 
Corridor Urban Renewal Area. 
 

8



 
 

 

- 6 - 

 

Resolution #21,466, receiving and filing, and setting April 1, 2019 as the date of 
public hearing on, the proposed plans, specifications, form of contract & estimate 
of cost for the 2019 Permeable Alley Project. 

 
Resolution #21,467, setting April 1, 2019 as the date of public hearing on 
proposed amendments to Section 26-181 (formerly 29-160), CHN, College Hill 
Neighborhood Overlay Zoning District, of Chapter 26 (formerly 29), Zoning, of the 
Code of Ordinances relative to certain provisions in the College Hill 
Neighborhood Overlay Zoning District. 

 
Following due consideration by the Council, the Mayor put the question on the 
motion and upon call of the roll, the following named Councilmembers voted. 
Aye: Miller, deBuhr, Kruse, Blanford, Darrah, Wieland, Green. Nay: None. Motion 
carried. The Mayor then declared Resolutions #21,457 through #21,467 duly 
passed and adopted. 

 
52246 -  It was moved by Darrah and seconded by Miller that Resolution #21,468, 

approving and authorizing execution of one Owner Purchase Agreement and one 
Tenant Purchase Agreement, and approving and accepting one Owner's 
Temporary Grading Easement for Construction and three Public Utility 
Easements, in conjunction with the West 1st Street Reconstruction Project, be 
adopted. Following comments by John Roth, 4212 Sterling Lane, question by 
Councilmember deBuhr, and responses by Community Development Director 
Sheetz and City Attorney Rogers, the Mayor put the question on the motion and 
upon call of the roll, the following named Councilmembers voted. Aye: Miller, 
deBuhr, Kruse, Blanford, Darrah, Wieland, Green. Nay: None. Motion carried. 
The Mayor then declared Resolution #21,468 duly passed and adopted. 

 
52247 -     It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Blanford that the bills and payroll of 

March 18, 2019 be allowed as presented, and that the Controller/City Treasurer 
be authorized to issue City checks in the proper amounts and on the proper 
funds in payment of the same. Upon call of the roll, the following named 
Councilmembers voted. Aye: Miller, deBuhr, Kruse, Blanford, Darrah, Wieland, 
Green. Nay: None. Motion carried.  

 
52248 - Councilmembers Miller and Darrah expressed appreciation to the Municipal 

Operations and Programs staff for their assistance during recent flooding. 
 
 It was then moved by Miller and seconded by Blanford to refer for further 

discussion the accuracy of river level readings. Following additional comments by 
Councilmembers Kruse and Darrah, the motion carried unanimously. 

 
52249 - Community Services Director Sheetz announced the April 2, 2019 public meeting 

to kick off the Downtown Visioning project. 
  
 Mayor Brown announced that due to flooding, the northern Cedar Falls voting 

location for the Special Election on March 19, 2019 was relocated to City Hall. 
 
 Public Works and Parks Manager Heath provided an update on the recent 

flooding and responded to a question by Councilmember Green regarding a 

9



 
 

 

- 7 - 

 

recent flood preparedness exercise. 
 
52250 -  It was moved by Green and seconded by Wieland to adjourn to Executive 

Session to evaluate the performance of the City Administrator pursuant to Iowa 
Code Section 21.5(1)(i), following Public Forum. Upon call of the roll, the 
following named Councilmembers voted. Aye: Miller, deBuhr, Kruse, Blanford, 
Darrah, Wieland, Green. Nay: None. Motion carried. 

 
52251 - Community Services Director Sheetz responded to flooding concerns expressed 

by Jeremy Sulentic, 1008 Rocklyn Street, and to a question by Councilmember 
Blanford. 

 
 Dale Ohl, 3609 Clearview Drive, commented about the public safety program and 

hiring more firefighters. 
 
 Community Services Director Sheetz and City Attorney Rogers responded to 

private property nuisance (pot hole) concerns expressed by Eashaan Vajpei, 
3831 Convair Lane, and related questions by Councilmembers Blanford and 
Kruse and Mayor Brown. 

 
 Penny Popp, 4805 South Main Street, commented on participation during public 

meetings and made personal comments about Councilmember Miller. 
 
 Councilmember Darrah and Public Works and Parks Manager Heath responded 

to comments by Roger White, 2303 Greenwood Avenue, speaking on behalf of 
the Cedar Falls Bicycle Pedestrian Advisory Committee regarding clearing trails. 
City Administrator Gaines responded to related questions and comments by 
Mayor Brown and Councilmembers Blanford, Darrah and Kruse. 

 
 Andrew Shroll, 930 Newman Avenue, also commented on the trail conditions. 
 
 Jim Skaine, 2215 Clay Street, commented on the value of the Industrial Park, 

roads conditions in his neighborhood and signalized intersections instead of 
roundabouts. 

 
Mayor Brown commented on the City of Cedar Falls lower tax rate when 
compared to other cities in the state of Iowa. 
 

 The City Council adjourned to Executive Session at 8:58 P.M. 
 
 Mayor Brown reconvened the Council Meeting at 10:54 P.M. and stated that 

performance of the City Administrator had been discussed and no further action 
was required at this time. 
 

52252 - It was moved by Green and seconded by Kruse that the meeting be adjourned at 
10:55 P.M.  Motion carried unanimously. 

 
  _______________________________ 
  Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 

 

10



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
 
 

 

 

 
 TO: Honorable Mayor James P. Brown and City Council 
 
 FROM: Matthew Tolan, EI, Civil Engineer II 
 
 DATE: March 28, 2019 
 
 SUBJECT: 2019 Permeable Alley Project 
  ST-056-3149 
  Public Hearing 
 
Submitted within for City Council approval are the Plans, Specifications, and Estimate of 
Costs and Quantities for the 2019 Permeable Alley Project. I would recommend setting 
Monday, April 1, 2019 at 7:00 p.m. as the date and time for the public hearing on this 
project and Tuesday, April 9, 2019 at 2:00 p.m. as the date and time for receiving and 
opening bids.  
 
This project involves the construction of three (3) permeable alleys: 
 

1 9th & 10th – Division & Catherine 

2 4th & 5th – College & Olive 

3 16th & 17th – Franklin & Tremont 

 
The purpose of these permeable alleys is to infiltrate storm water runoff with the goal of 
improving the water quality in Dry Run Creek. 
 
The total estimated cost of the 2019 Permeable Alley Project is $251,231.70. The 
funding for the alley project will be provided by the Storm Water Fund and Street 
Construction funds. 
 
The Plans, Specifications, and Estimate of Costs and Quantities are available for your 
review at the City Clerk's office or at the Engineering Division of the Department of 
Community Development. 
 
xc: Stephanie Houk Sheetz, Director of Community Development 
 Chase Schrage, Principal Engineer  

11



12



13



14



15



16



17



18



“ ”

“ ”

19



20



21



22



23



1 

PROJECT SPECIFICATIONS 

For 

2019 Permeable Alley Project 

Project No. ST-056-3149 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 

ENGINEER'S CERTIFICATION 

I hereby certify that this engineering document was prepared by me or 
under my direct personal supervision and that I am a duly licensed 
professional engineer under the laws of the State of Iowa. 

________________________________________  Date: _________ 
Lindsay R. Beaman, P.E.      Iowa License No. 19971 
My license renewal date is December  31, 2019 

Pages or sheets covered by this seal: 1-30. 

24



 2

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 

 
    Page Number 
 
TITLE SHEET  1 
 
TABLE OF CONTENTS 2-3 
 
NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING 4 
 
NOTICE TO BIDDERS 5-6 
 
DIVISION 1 – Instruction to Bidders 
 

01 Definition and Terms 7 
 02 Qualification of the Bidder 7 

03 Contents of the Proposal Forms 8 
04 Taxes  8 
05 Submission of the Proposal, Identity of Bidder and Bid Security 8-9 
Form of Proposal 10-13 
Bid Bond  14 
Bidder Status Form 15 
Worksheet: Authorization to Transact Business 16 
Non-Collusion Affidavit of Prime Bidder 17 
Form of Contract 18-19 
Performance, Payment and Maintenance Bond 20-23 

 
DIVISION 2 – Special Provisions 
 

01 Award of Contract 24 
02 Availability of Site 24 
03 Protection of Line and Grade Stakes 24 
04 Borrow and Waste Sites 24-25 
05 Subletting or Assignment of Contract 25 
06 Contract Time 25 
07 Work Progress and Schedule 25 
08 Weekly record of Working Days 26 
09 Liquidated Damages 26 
10 Progress Payments 26 
11 Storm Water Pollution Prevention Plan 26-28 
12 Method of Measurement 29 
13 Basis of Payment 29 
 

25



 3

 
DIVISION 3 – Standard Specifications 

 
The City of Cedar Falls has adopted the 2019 edition of the “STATEWIDE 
URBAN DESIGN AND SPECIFICATIONS PROGRAM” (SUDAS) as the City’s 
Standard Specification. 
 
This Standard Specification is amended by the “City of Cedar Falls’ 2018 
Supplemental Specifications to the most current edition of the SUDAS 
STATEWIDE URBAN DESIGN AND SPECIFICATIONS PROGRAM” 

 

 Links to both documents can be found on the City’s website at: 
 www.cedarfalls.com/designstandards 
 
DIVISION 4 – Supplemental Plans and Specifications 30-31 
 

 
 
  

26



 4 

NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING ON PLANS, SPECIFICATIONS, 
FORM OF CONTRACT, AND ESTIMATE OF COST FOR THE 2019  
PERMEABLE ALLEY PROJECT, CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

 
TO ALL TAXPAYERS OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, AND OTHER 
PERSONS INTERESTED: 
 

Public notice is hereby given that the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, 

Iowa, will conduct a Public Hearing on Plans, Specifications, Form of Contract, and 

Estimated total Cost for the construction of the 2019 Permeable Alley Project in said 

City at 7:00 p.m. on the 1st day of April, 2019, said meeting to be held in the Council 

Chambers in the City Hall 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa. 

Said Plans, Specifications, Form of Contract, and Estimated Total Cost are now 

on file in the office of the City Clerk in the City Hall in Cedar Falls, Iowa, and may be 

inspected by any persons interested. 

Any person interested may appear at said meeting of the City Council for the 

purpose of making objections to said Plans, Specifications, Contract or the estimated 

total cost of making said improvement. 

This notice is given by order of the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa. 

   City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 

    By: _______________________________ 

    Jacque Danielsen, CMC 
    City Clerk 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

27



 5

NOTICE TO BIDDERS 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS PUBLIC IMPROVEMENTS PROJECT 

2019 PERMEABLE ALLEY PROJECT  
 

Time and Place for Filing Sealed Proposals: Sealed proposals will be received at the City 
Clerk's office at City Hall, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa by the City Engineer or an 
authorized representative of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, before 2:00 p.m. on the 9th day of 
April, 2019. 
 
Time and Place Sealed Proposals will be Opened and Considered: Sealed proposals will be 
opened and read at 2:00 p.m. on the 9th day of April, 2019 in the City Council Chambers at 
City Hall, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa, for consideration by the City of Cedar Falls 
City Council at its meeting at 7:00 PM on April 15, 2019 or at such later time and place as 
may be fixed. The City of Cedar Falls reserves the right to reject any and all proposals 
including without limitation, nonconforming, nonresponsive, unbalanced or conditional bids.  
 
Time for Commencement and Completion of Work: The work under the proposed contract 
shall commence within ten (10) calendar days after the date set forth in the written Notice to 
Proceed and shall be performed regularly and diligently throughout the duration of the 
project. All work shall be completed within sixty (60) working days. Working days will be 
accumulated concurrently from the date set forth in the written Notice to Proceed.     
 
Bid Security: Each Form of Proposal shall be accompanied in a separate envelope by a Bid 
Security as defined in the Instructions to Bidders - Division 1, Section 05. 
 
Contract Documents: Plans, Specifications, and a Form of Proposal may be obtained from 
the City Engineer's office, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, IA, 50613.  Contract documents are 
also available electronically by calling 319-268-5161 for ftp site location and access rights. 
 
Preference for Iowa Products and Labor:  By virtue of statutory authority, a preference will 
be given to products and provisions grown and coal produced within the State of Iowa. 
 
In accordance with Iowa statutes, a resident Bidder shall be allowed a preference as 
against a nonresident Bidder from a state or foreign country if that state or foreign country 
gives or requires any preference to Bidders from that state or foreign country, including but 
not limited to any preference to Bidders, the imposition of any type of labor force 
preference, or any other form of preferential treatment to Bidders or laborers from that state 
or foreign country. The preference allowed shall be equal to the preference given or 
required by the state or foreign country in which the nonresident Bidder is a resident. In the 
instance of a resident labor force preference, a nonresident Bidder shall apply the same 
resident labor force preference to a public improvement in this state as would be required in 
the construction of a public improvement by the state or foreign country in which the 
nonresident Bidder is a resident. 
 
Failure to submit a fully completed Bidder Status Form with the bid may result in the bid 
being deemed nonresponsive; and be rejected. 
 

28



 6

Sales Tax: Contractors and approved Subcontractors will be provided a Sales Tax 
Exemption Certification to purchase building materials, supplies or equipment to be used in 
the work performance of this project. Products utilized in the construction of this project will 
be exempt from sales tax as provided by the current Code of Iowa Sections 423.2 and 
423.45. 
 
Project Description: This project involves the installation of three full or partial permeable 
alleys. Work shall include a combination of excavation and backfill of the alley areas, storm 
sewer, P.C.C. installation, permeable clay brick paver installation, seeding, and concrete or 
gravel driveway replacement. 
 
Published upon order of the City Council of Cedar Falls, Iowa. 
 

   CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
   BY: __________________________ 
           Jacque Danielsen, CMC 
    City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

29



 7

DIVISION I – Instructions to Bidders 

 
The work comprising the 2019 Permeable Alley Project shall be constructed in 
accordance with the 2019 edition of the Statewide Urban Standard Specifications for 
Public Improvements (SUDAS) and as further modified by the City of Cedar Falls’ 2019 
Supplemental Specifications to the 2019 edition of the SUDAS and the special provision 
included in the contract documents. The terms used in the contract revision of the 
documents are defined in said Standard Specifications. 
 
Before submitting your Bid, please review the requirements of “Division One, General 
Provisions and Covenants,” in particular the sections regarding proposal requirements, 
bonding, contract execution and insurance requirements. Please be certain that all 
documents have been completed properly, as failure to complete and sign all documents 
and to comply with the requirements listed below can cause your Bid not to be read. 
 
01 Definition and Terms 
 
Add the following to the SUDAS Standard Specifications Section 1010 – 1.03: 
 
Code of Iowa: The latest edition of the Iowa Code 
 
Engineer: The City Engineer of Cedar Falls, Iowa or an authorized representative. 
 
Owner: The City of Cedar Falls, Iowa acting through its City Council. 
 
Project: 2019 Permeable Alley Project   Project No. ST-056-3149 
 
02 Qualification of the Bidder 
 
Add the following to The SUDAS Standard Specifications Section 1020 – 1.01: 
 
To demonstrate bidder’s qualifications to perform the work, within five days of the 
Owners request, bidder shall submit written evidence such as may be called for below: 
 
The address and description of the bidder’s place of business; the present firm name, 
and the name of the state where incorporated. 
 
The Owner hereby notifies all bidders that it will affirmatively ensure that in any contract 
entered into pursuant to this advertisement, disadvantaged business enterprises will be 
afforded full opportunity to submit bids in response to this invitation and will not be 
discriminated against on the grounds of race, color or national origin in consideration for 
an award. 
 
 
 
 

30



 8

03 Contents of the Proposal Forms 
 
Add the following to The SUDAS Standard Specifications Section 1020 – 1.02: 
 
Plans, Specifications, and a Form of Proposal may be obtained from the City Engineer’s 
Office.  Plans, Specifications, and the Form of Proposal have been approved by the City 
Council and are now on file for public examination in the office of the City Clerk. 
 
04 Taxes 
 
Add the following to The SUDAS Standard Specifications Section 1020 – 1.08: 
 
Contractors and approved Subcontractors will be provided a Sales Tax Exemption 
Certification to purchase building materials, supplies or equipment to be used in the 
work performance of this project. Products utilized in the construction of this project will 
be exempt from sales tax as provided by the current Code of Iowa Sections 423.2 and 
423.45. 
 
05 Submission of the Proposal, Identity of Bidder and Bid Security 
 
Add the following to The SUDAS Standard Specifications Section 1020 – 1.12: 
 
The Bid Security must be in the minimum amount of 10% of the total bid amount including 
all add alternates (do not deduct the amount of deduct alternates). The Bid Security shall 
be in the form of a cashier's check or certified check drawn on a state-chartered or 
federally chartered bank, or a certified share draft drawn on a state-chartered or federally 
chartered credit union, or a bidder's bond with corporate surety satisfactory to the City. 
The Bid Bond must be submitted on the enclosed Bid Bond form, as no other Bid Bond 
forms are acceptable.  All signatures on the Bid Bond must be original signatures in ink; 
facsimile (fax) of any signature on the Bid Bond is not acceptable.  Bid Security other than 
said Bid Bond shall be made payable to City Clerk of the City of Cedar Falls.” 
 
“Miscellaneous Bank checks,” as well as “Money Orders” and “Traveler’s Checks” issued 
by persons, firms or corporations licensed under Code of Iowa Chapter 533B are not 
acceptable bid security. 
 
The bid shall be submitted on the Form of Proposal included herewith or on a computer 
printed proposal. All entries on the Form of Proposal shall be filled in ink, typed or 
computer printed. The Bidder shall not alter the quantity, unit price or the extension that 
has been provided for items that have been predetermined by the contracting authority. 
 
If the proposal is computer generated, the Bidder shall submit a form titled as “Form of 
Proposal,” followed by: the project name, project number, the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 
and the Bidder's name. The form shall then include the item numbers, item descriptions 
and units, and their quantities. The Bidder shall specify a unit price in figures of dollars 
and cents for all pay items, the extensions for the respective unit prices and quantities in 

31



 9

figures in a column provided for each purpose, and the total amount of the proposal 
obtained by adding the cost extension for every bid item. The form shall then conclude 
with the Bidder's name, the legible printed name of its representative, and the 
representative's signature.  
 
The computer generated proposal then is to be attached to the Form of Proposal 
included herewith, which has the following entries completed: bid security sum and 
form, the name of the Bidder and its official address, and the Bidder's representative's 
legible printed name, signature, and title. The “entry area for total bid” line on the 
supplied Form of Proposal shall also be completed with the entry of "see attached". 
 
The Form of Proposal shall be submitted in a sealed envelope separate from the Bid 
Security, Bidders Status Form, and Non-Collusion Affidavit. The envelope shall bear the 
return address of the Bidder and shall be addressed as follows: 
 

To: City Clerk 
City of Cedar Falls 
City Hall 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 

 
Proposal for: 2019 Permeable Alley Project          

Project No. ST-056-3149 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

32



 10

FORM OF PROPOSAL 
2019 PERMEABLE ALLEY PROJECT  

PROJECT NO. ST-056-3149 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
 

 

To the Mayor and City Council 
City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 
 
The undersigned hereby certifies that __________________________ have personally 

and carefully examined the specifications, general conditions, and form of contract 

annexed hereto. Having made such examination, the undersigned hereby proposes to 

construct the improvements for the 2019 Permeable Alley Project  in accordance with 

the plans and specifications on file in the office of the City Clerk, the published Notice to 

Bidders and the Form of Contract, herewith, complying with all the laws of the State of 

Iowa, and the Rules, Regulations, and Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, and to the 

satisfaction of the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, including the 

guaranteeing of this Project for a period of two (2 yrs.) years from the date of final 

acceptance thereof at the following prices, to-wit: 

ITEM 
NO. 

ITEM CODE DESCRIPTION UNIT 
TOTAL 

QUANTITY 
 

UNIT PRICES 
EXTENDED 

PRICES 

1 2010-1.08-A CLEARING & GRUBBING UNITS 55.0   

2 2010-1.08-D 
TOPSOIL, FURNISH & 

SPREAD 
C.Y. 77.3   

3 2010-1.08-E 
EXCAVATION, CLASS 10, 

ROADWAY WASTE 
C.Y. 711.3   

4 4040-1.08-C 
SUBDRAIN CLEANOUT, 

TYPE A-1, 6” 
EACH 6.0   

5 5020-1.08-E VALVE EXTENSION EACH 3.0   

6 6010-1.08-H REMOVE INTAKE EACH 1.0   

7 7010-1.08-A 
PAVEMENT, P.C.C., 

12’ WIDTH, 6” 
S.Y. 50.7   

33



 11

ITEM 
NO. 

ITEM CODE DESCRIPTION UNIT 
TOTAL 

QUANTITY 
 

UNIT PRICES 
EXTENDED 

PRICES 

8 7010-1.08-E 
CURB & GUTTER, 

P.C.C., 2.5’ WIDTH 
L.F. 158.5   

9 7030-1.08-A REMOVAL OF DRIVEWAY S.Y. 167.3   

10 7030-1.08-A REMOVAL OF SIDEWALK S.Y. 73.3   

11 7030-1.08-E SIDEWALK, 6” P.C.C. S.Y. 85.9   

12 7030-1.08-H DRIVEWAY, 6” P.C.C. S.Y. 173.3   

13 7030-1.08-H DRIVEWAY, GRANULAR S.Y. 35.4   

14 7040-1.08-A 
PATCH, FULL DEPTH, 

P.C.C.,  ‘M’ MIX 
S.Y. 33.0   

15 7040-1.08-I 
REMOVAL OF CURB & 

GUTTER 
L.F. 158.5   

16 7080-1.08-B ENGINEERING FABRIC S.Y. 2185.2   

17 7080-1.08-C 

UNDERDRAIN, 6” 

PLASTIC PERFORATED, 

TYPE 5 

L.F. 1087.0   

18 7080-1.08-D 
STORAGE AGGREGATE, 

8” 
S.Y. 1416.8   

19 7080-1.08-E FILTER AGGREGATE, 4” S.Y. 1416.8   

20 7080-1.08-F 

PERMEABLE 

INTERLOCKING PAVERS, 

CLAY BRICK 

S.F. 3697.9   

21 7080-1.08-G 
PCC EDGE RESTRAINT, 6” 

CONCRETE SLAB, 4’ WIDE 
S.Y. 447.1   

22 7080-1.08-G 
PCC EDGE RESTRAINT, 6” 

CONCRETE SLAB, 5’ WIDE 
S.Y. 502.5   

23 8030-1.08-A TRAFFIC CONTROL L.S. 1.0   

24 9010-1.08-B HYDRAULIC SEEDING S.F. 4170.2   

34



 12

ITEM 
NO. 

ITEM CODE DESCRIPTION UNIT 
TOTAL 

QUANTITY 
 

UNIT PRICES 
EXTENDED 

PRICES 

25 9040-1.08-F WATTLE, STRAW, 9” L.F. 300.0   

26 9040-1.08-T 
INLET PROTECTION 

DEVICE 
EACH 3.0   

27 9040-1.08-T 
INLET PROTECTION 

DEVICE MAINTENANCE 
EACH 3.0   

28 CF DETAIL INTAKE, SINGLE FLAT EACH 1.0   

  TOTAL  

 
Bidders may not independently bid on selective items of work. In this project, all items 
constitute one indivisible work that will be let to one Bidder. Bids shall be submitted for 
all of the items (Items 1-28). The successful Bidder will be determined by evaluating the 
sum of correct unit price extensions. Failure to submit a bid on any item shall be just 
cause for disqualification of the entire proposal. Unit bids must be filled in ink, typed or 
computer generated, or the bid will be rejected. The Owner reserves the right to delete 
any part or all of any item. 
 

The Owner reserves the right to reject any and all bids, including without limitation, 
nonconforming, nonresponsive, unbalanced or conditional bids. The Owner further 
reserves the right to reject the bid of any Bidder whom it finds, after reasonable inquiry 
and evaluation, to be non-responsive. The Owner may also reject the bid of any Bidder 
if the Owner believes that it would not be in the best interest of the project to make an 
award to that Bidder. The Owner also reserves the right to waive all informalities not 
involving price time or changes in the work 
 

If written notice of approval of award is mailed, telegraphed or delivered to the 
undersigned within thirty (30) calendar days after the bid opening thereof, or any time 
thereafter before this bid is withdrawn, the undersigned agrees to execute and deliver 
an agreement in the prescribed form and furnish the required Bond within ten (10) 
calendar days after the Contract is presented to Bidder for signature, and start work 
within ten (10) calendar days after the date as set forth in the written Notice to Proceed. 
 

Bid Security in the sum of _________________________________ in the form of 
__________________________________, is submitted herewith in accordance with 
the Instructions to Bidders. 
 

The Bidder is prepared to submit a financial and experience statement upon request. 
 

The Bidder has received the following Addendum or Addenda: 
 

35



 13

Addendum No.  ______________     Date _____________ 
Addendum No.  ______________     Date _____________ 
Addendum No.  ______________     Date _____________ 
 
The Bidder has filled in all blanks on this Proposal. 
 

Note: The Penalty for making false statements in offers is prescribed in 18 U.S.C.A., 
Section 1001. 
 
Name of bidder 
 
 
________________________________  _____________________________ 

   By 
________________________________  _____________________________  
Official Address   Title  

36



 14

BID BOND 
 

 
KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that we, ___________________________________________ 
__________________________, as Principal, and ___________________________________________ 
as Surety are held and firmly bound unto the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, as Obligee, hereinafter called "OBLIGEE," 
In the penal sum of______________________________________ Dollars ($______________) lawful money of 
the United States, for the payment of which sum will and truly be made, we bind ourselves, our heirs, executors, 
administrators, and successors, jointly and severally, firmly by these presents. Whereas the Principal has submitted 
the accompanying bid dated the _______ day of_______________________, 20_____, for 
______________________________________ 
____________________________________________________________________________________. 
 
NOW THEREFORE, 
 
(a) If said Bid shall be rejected, or in the alternate, 
 
(b) If said Bid shall be accepted and the Principal shall execute and deliver a contract in the form specified and 

shall furnish a bond for the faithful performance of said contract, and for the payment of all persons 
performing labor or furnishing materials in connection therewith, and shall in all other respects perform the 
agreement created by the acceptance of said Bid, 

 
Then this obligation shall be void, otherwise the same shall remain in force and effect; it being expressly 
understood and agreed that the liability of the Surety for any and all claims hereunder shall, in no event, exceed the 
penal amount of this obligation as herein stated. 
 
By virtue of statutory authority, the full amount of this bid bond shall be forfeited to the Obligee in liquidation of 
damages sustained in the event that the Principal fails to execute the contract and provide the bond as provided in 
the specifications or by law. 
 
The Surety, for value received, hereby stipulates and agrees that the obligations of said Surety and its bond shall 
be in no way impaired or affected by any extension of the time within which the Obligee may accept such Bid or 
execute such contract; and said Surety does hereby waive notice of any such extension. 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Principal and the Surety, have hereunto set their hands and seals, and such of them 
as are corporations, have caused their corporate seals to be hereto affixed and these presents to be signed by their 
proper officers this ______ day of ____________________, A.D., 20_____. 
 
 
 

_________________________________ (Seal) 
Principal 

 
 
_______________________________________ By_______________________________ (Title) 
Witness 

_________________________________ (Seal) 
Surety 

 
_______________________________________ By____________________________________ 
Witness                                  Attorney-in-fact 
 
 
 
 

37



 15

 

38



 16

39



 17

NON-COLLUSION AFFIDAVIT OF PRIME BIDDER           
PROJECT NO. ST-056-3149 

 
STATE OF _______________________  

                           ss 
COUNTY OF _____________________ 
 
 
__________________________________, being first duly sworn, deposes and says that: 
 
(1) We are _______________________________________________________ of _________________ 

         (owner, partner, officer, representative, or agent) 
 
_____________________________, the Bidder that has submitted the attached bid: 
 
(2)  We are fully informed respecting the preparation and contents of the attached bid and of all 
pertinent circumstances respecting such bid: 
 
(3)   Such bid is genuine and is not a collusive or sham bid: 
 
(4)  Neither the said Bidder nor any of its officers, partners, owners, agents, representatives, 
employees or parties in interest, including this affiant, has in any way colluded, conspired, connived or 
agreed, directly or indirectly, with any other Bidder, firm or person to submit a collusive or sham bid in 
connection with the Contract for which the attached bid has been submitted or to refrain from bidding in 
connection with such Contract, or has in any manner, directly or indirectly, sought by agreement or 
collusion or communication or conference with any other Bidder, firm or person to fix the price or prices in 
the attached bid or of any other Bidder, or, to fix any overhead, profit or cost element of the bid price of 
any other Bidder, or to secure through any collusion, conspiracy, connivance, or unlawful agreement any 
advantage against the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, or any person interested in the proposed Contract; and 
 
(5)   The price or prices quoted in the attached bid are fair and proper and are not tainted by a 
collusion, conspiracy, connivance or unlawful agreement on the part of the Bidder or any of its agents, 
representatives, owners, employees or parties in interest, including this affiant. 
 
 
 
   __________________________________________ 

Signed      
  __________________________________________ 

    Title 
 
 
Subscribed and sworn to before me 
 
this _______ day of ________________, 20_____ 
 
________________________________________ 
 
_________________________________________ 
Title 
 
My Commission expires ______________________. 

40



 18

FORM OF CONTRACT 
 

This Contract entered into in quadruplicate at Cedar Falls, Iowa, this ____ day of 

_________, 2019, by and between the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, hereinafter called the 

Owner, and _______________________________________________ of 

__________________________________________, hereinafter called the Contractor. 

WITNESSETH: 

The Contractor hereby agrees to furnish all labor, tools, materials and equipment 

and construct the public improvement consisting of: 2019 PERMEABLE ALLEY 

PROJECT, Project No. ST-056-3149 all in the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, ordered to be 

constructed by the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, by Resolution duly 

passed on the 6th day of May 2019, and shown and described in the Plans and 

Specifications therefore now on file with the City Clerk of said City. 

Said improvement shall be constructed strictly in accordance with said Plans and 

Specifications. 

The following parts of the Plans and Specifications for said Project No. ST-056-

3149 attached hereto shall be made a part of this contract as fully as though set out 

herein verbatim: 

a. Resolution ordering construction of the improvement 
b. Plans 
c. Notice of Public Hearing on Plans and Specifications 
d. Notice to Bidders 
e. Instructions to Bidders 
f. Supplemental Conditions 
g. General Conditions 
h. Project Specifications 
i. Form of Proposal 
j. Performance, Payment, and Maintenance Bond 
k. Form of Contract 
l. Non-collusion Affidavit of Prime Bidder 

 m. Bidder Status Form 

41



 19

 
 
In Witness whereof, this Contract has been executed in quadruplicate on the date first  
 
herein written.   
 

 __________________________ 
 Contractor 

 
 
    CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
 
    By____________________________ 

    James P. Brown, Mayor 
 
 
Attest: _________________________ 
 Jacqueline Danielsen, CMC 
 City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

42



 20 

Performance, Payment, and Maintenance Bond 
 

SURETY  BOND NO.           
 

 
 KNOW ALL BY THESE PRESENTS: 
  
 That we, __________________________, as Principal (hereinafter the “Contractor” or “Principal” and 
____________________________________________________ as Surety are held and firmly bound unto 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, as Obligee (hereinafter referred to as “the Owner”), and to all persons 
who may be injured by any breach of any of the conditions of this Bond in the penal sum of 
_________________________________________________________________________________ 
($_______________), lawful money of the United States, for the payment of which sum, well and truly to 
be made, we bind ourselves, our heirs, legal representatives and assigns, jointly or severally, firmly by these 
presents. 
  
 The conditions of the above obligations are such that whereas said Contractor entered into a contract with 
the Owner, bearing date the _______ day of __________, 2019, hereinafter the “Contract”) wherein said 
Contractor undertakes and agrees to construct the following described improvements: 
 

2019 Permeable Alley Project 

Paving / Pavers / Storm Sewer 

Project ST-056-3149 
 

and to faithfully perform all the terms and requirements of said Contract within the time therein specified, in 
a good and workmanlike manner, and in accordance with the Contract Documents.   
 
It is expressly understood and agreed by the Contractor and Surety in this bond that the following provisions 
are a part of this Bond and are binding upon said Contractor and Surety, to-wit: 
 
1. PERFORMANCE:  The Contractor shall well and faithfully observe, perform, fulfill, and abide by   

each and every covenant, condition, and part of said Contract and Contract Documents, by reference 
made a part hereof, for the above referenced improvements, and shall indemnify and save harmless 
the Owner from all outlay and expense incurred by the Owner by reason of the Contractor’s default 
or failure to perform as required.  The Contractor shall also be responsible for the default or failure to 
perform as required under the Contract and Contract Documents by all its subcontractors, suppliers, 
agents, or employees furnishing materials or providing labor in the performance of the Contract. 

     
 2. PAYMENT:  The Contractor and the Surety on this Bond hereby agreed to pay all just claims 

submitted by persons, firms, subcontractors, and corporations furnishing materials for or performing 
labor in the performance of the Contract on account of which this Bond is given, including but not 
limited to claims for all amounts due for labor, materials, lubricants, oil, gasoline, repairs on 
machinery, equipment, and tools, consumed or used by the Contractor or any subcontractor, wherein 
the same are not satisfied out of the portion of the contract price the Owner is required to retain until 
completion of the improvement, but the Contractor and Surety shall not be liable to said persons, 
firms, or corporations unless the claims of said claimants against said portion of the contract price 
shall have been established as provided by law.  The Contractor and Surety hereby bind themselves 
to the obligations and conditions set forth in Chapter 573 of the Iowa Code, which by this reference 
is made a part hereof as though fully set out herein. 

     
    3. MAINTENANCE:  The Contractor and the Surety on this Bond hereby agree, at their own expense: 

43



 21

 
A. To remedy any and all defects that may develop in or result from work to be performed 

under the Contract within the period of   2   year (s) from the date of acceptance 
of the work under the Contract, by reason of defects in workmanship or materials used 
in construction of said work; 

 
   B. To keep all work in continuous good repair; and 
 
   C. To pay the Owner’s reasonable costs of monitoring and inspection to assure that any 

defects are remedied, and to repay the Owner all outlay and expense incurred as a result 
of Contractor’s and Surety’s failure to remedy any defect as required by this section. 

 

Contractor’s and Surety’s agreement herein made extends to defects in workmanship or 

materials not discovered or known to the Owner at the time such work was accepted. 
 
 4. GENERAL:  Every Surety on this Bond shall be deemed and held bound, any contract to the 
contrary notwithstanding, to the following provisions: 
 
   A. To consent without notice to any extension of time to the Contractor in which to 

perform the Contract; 
 
   B.  To consent without notice to any change in the Contract or Contract Documents, which 

thereby increases the total contract price and the penal sum of this bond, provided that 
all such changes do not, in the aggregate, involve an increase of more than 20% of the 
total contract price, and that this bond shall then be released as to such excess increase; 
and  

 
    C. To consent without notice that this Bond shall remain in full force and effect until the 

Contract is completed, whether completed within the specified contract period, within 
an extension thereof, or within a period of time after the contract period has elapsed and 
the liquidated damage penalty is being charged against the Contractor. 

 
The Contractor and every Surety on the bond shall be deemed and held bound, any contract to the contrary 
notwithstanding, to the following provisions: 
 
        D. That no provision of this Bond or of any other contract shall be valid that limits to     

less than five years after the acceptance of the work under the Contract the right to sue 
on this Bond. 

     
        E. That as used herein, the phrase “all outlay and expense” is not to be limited in any way, 

but shall include the actual and reasonable costs and expenses incurred by the Owner 
including interest, benefits, and overhead where applicable.  Accordingly, “all outlay 
and expense” would include but not be limited to all contract or employee expense, all 
equipment usage or rental, materials, testing, outside experts, attorneys fees (including 
overhead expenses of the Owner’s staff attorneys), and all costs and expenses of 
litigation as they are incurred by the Owner.  It is intended the Contractor and Surety 
will defend and indemnify the Owner on all claims made against the Owner on account 
of Contractor’s failure to perform as required in the Contract and Contract Documents, 
that all agreements and promises set forth in the Contract and Contract Documents, in 
approved change orders, and in this Bond will be fulfilled, and that the Owner will be 
fully indemnified so that it will be put into the position it would have been in had the 
Contract been performed in the first instance as required. 

44



 22 

     

  In the event the Owner incurs any “outlay and expense” in defending itself against 
any claim as to which the Contractor or Surety should have provided the defense, or in the 
enforcement of the promises given by the Contractor in the Contract, Contract Documents, or 
approved change orders, or in the enforcement of the promises given by the Contractor and 
Surety in this Bond, the Contractor and Surety agree that they will make the Owner whole for 
all such outlay and expense, provided that the Surety’s obligation under this bond shall not 
exceed 125% of the penal sum of this bond. 

  
In the event that any actions or proceedings are initiated regarding this Bond, the parties agree that the venue 
thereof shall be in the Iowa District Court for Polk County, State of Iowa.  If legal action is required by the 
Owner to enforce the provisions of this Bond or to collect the monetary obligation incurring to the benefit of 
the Owner, the Contractor and the Surety agree, jointly, and severally, to pay the Owner all outlay and 
expense incurred therefor by the Owner.  All rights, powers, and remedies of the Owner hereunder shall be 
cumulative and not alternative and shall be in addition to all rights, powers, and remedies given to the 
Owner, by law.  The Owner may proceed against surety for any amount guaranteed hereunder whether 
action is brought against the Contractor or whether Contractor is joined in any such action(s) or not. 
 
NOW THEREFORE, the condition of this obligation is such that if said Principal shall faithfully perform all 
the promises of the Principal, as set forth and provided in the Contract, in the Contract Documents, and in 
this Bond, then this obligation shall be null and void, otherwise it shall remain in full force and effect. 
 
When a work, term, or phrase is used in this Bond, it shall be interpreted or construed first as defined in this 
Bond, the Contract, or the Contract Documents; second, if not defined in the Bond, Contract, or Contract 
Documents, it shall be interpreted or construed as defined in applicable provisions of the Iowa Code; third, 
if not defined in the Iowa Code, it shall be interpreted or construed according to its generally accepted 
meaning in the construction industry; and fourth, if it has no generally accepted meaning in the construction 
industry, it shall be interpreted or construed according to its common or customary usage. 
 
Failure to specify or particularize shall not exclude terms or provisions not mentioned and shall not limit 
liability hereunder.  The Contract and Contract Documents are hereby made a part of this Bond. 
 
 

45



 23 

         Project No. ST-056-3149 
 

Witness our hands, in triplicate, this _______ day of ____________, 2019. 
 
  Surety Countersigned By:                                PRINCIPAL: 
 
     ___________________________________                   _________________________________ 
      Signature of Agent                 Contractor 
  
 

 By:    _________________________________  

                                      Signature 

     ___________________________________                   _________________________________          

                  Printed Name of Agent                       Title 

 
 ___________________________________  SURETY: 
                          Company Name           
 

 ___________________________________                   _________________________________ 
                        Company Address                                       Surety Company 

 
 ___________________________________   By:    _________________________________ 
                        City, State, Zip Code                                             Signature Attorney-in-Fact Officer 
 

 ______________________________________    ____________________________________ 
                  Company Telephone Number                               Printed Name of Attorney-in-Fact Officer 
 

                                                                                            _________________________________ 
                            Company Name 
 

                                                                                         _________________________________ 
                                                Company Address 

  FORM APPROVED BY: 
                                                                                                             _________________________________ 
                     City, State, Zip Code 
 
 ________________________________________________   _____________________________________________ 

                         Attorney for Owner                                                              Company Telephone Number 
 
 

 

NOTE: 

  

 1. All signatures on this performance, payment, and maintenance bond must be original 
signatures in ink; copies, facsimile, or electronic signatures will not be accepted. 

 2.  This bond must be sealed with the Surety’s raised, embossing seal. 
 3. The Certificate or Power of Attorney accompanying this bond must be valid on its face and 

sealed with the Surety’s raised, embossing seal. 
 4. The name and signature of the Surety’s Attorney-in-Fact/Officer entered on this bond must be 

exactly as listed on the Certificate or Power of Attorney accompanying this bond. 

 
 
 
 
 

46



 24

DIVISION 2 – Special Provisions 
 

 
Special Provisions are intended to amend or supplement the General Provisions and 
Covenants of the SUDAS Standard Specifications. All sections that are not amended or 
supplemented remain in full force and effect. 
 
01 Award of Contract 
 
Add the following to The SUDAS Standard Specifications Section 1030 – 1.03: 
 
The successful Bidder shall be required to furnish a Performance, Payment, and 
Maintenance Bond in the sum equal to one hundred (100%) percent of the total bid. The 
Maintenance Bond shall guarantee the maintenance of the improvements for a period of 
two (2 yrs.) years from and after its completion and acceptance by the City of Cedar 
Falls. 
 
02 Availability of Site 
 
Add the following to The SUDAS Standard Specifications Section 1050 – 1.04: 
 
During construction of this project, the Contractor shall be required to coordinate all 
operations with the Contractors or Contacts of the following projects and/or events: 
 

1) Cedar Falls Utilities Gas Main and Water Main Replacement Projects 
2) Cedar Falls Utilities overhead to underground electric conversion. 
3) Sturgis Falls Celebration – June 20-22, 2019 
4) UNI Spring Classes End – May 3, 2019 
5) Last Day of Cedar Falls Public Schools (Tentative) – May 31, 2019 
6) UNI Fall Classes Resume – August 26, 2019 
7) Cedar Falls Public Schools Resume (Tentative)– August 26, 2019 
8) UNI Homecoming – October 12, 2019 
9) Downtown Levee Improvements Project FL-000-1975 
 

03 Protection of Line and Grade Stakes 
 
Add the following to The SUDAS Standard Specifications Section 1050 – 1.10: 
 
The Contractor shall notify the Engineer at least forty-eight hours prior to the need for 
survey stakes. The Contractor shall be responsible for preserving survey stakes and 
marks and if any survey stakes or marks are destroyed or disturbed by the Contractor, 
Contractor shall be charged for the cost of replacing them. Contractor shall pay all said 
replacement cost(s) prior to the release of the final pay estimate. 
 
04 Borrow and Waste Sites 
 
Add the following to The SUDAS Standard Specifications Section 1070 – 2.13: 

47



 25 

It shall be the Contractor's responsibility to provide waste areas or disposal sites for 
excess material which is not desirable to be incorporated in the work involved on this 
project (excavation or broken concrete). No payment for overhaul will be allowed for 
material hauled to these sites. The Engineer will review all disposal sites, prior to their 
use, to determine acceptability. Overhaul will not be measured or paid for but will be 
considered incidental to pavement removal or roadway excavation on this project. 
 
05 Subletting or Assignment of Contract 
 
Add the following to The SUDAS Standard Specifications Section 1080 – 1.01: 
 
The Contractor's own organization shall perform work amounting to not less than fifty 
(50%) percent of the total contract cost unless otherwise specified. Any item designated 
as a Specialty Item may be performed by subcontract, and the cost of any such 
Specialty Item as performed by subcontract may be deducted from the total cost before 
computing the amount of work required by the Contractor's organization. Any items that 
have been selected as a Specialty Item for the contract are listed as such in the Special 
Provisions. 
 
06 Contract Time 
 
Add the following to The SUDAS Standard Specifications Section 1080 – 1.02: 
 
The work on the Contract shall commence ten (10) calendar days after the date set 
forth in the written Notice to Proceed and shall be completed within sixty (60) working 
days. 
 
Intermediate working days for construction staging will be as follows: 

 
Division – Catherine & 9th – 10th  20 working days 
College – Olive & 4th – 5th   20 working days 
Franklin – Tremont & 16th – 17th   20 working days 

 
If a stage is not open to local traffic within the allotted working days, liquidated damages 
of $100.00 per day will be assessed.  
 
 
07 Work Progress and Schedule 
 
Add the following to The SUDAS Standard Specifications Section 1080 – 1.03: 
 
The progress of the work shall be such that at the expiration of one-fourth (1/4) of the 
working days, one-eighth (1/8) of the work shall be completed; at the expiration of one-
half (1/2) of the working days, three-eighths (3/8) of the work shall be completed; at the 
expiration of three-fourths (3/4) of the working days, the work shall be three-fourths (3/4) 
completed, and the whole work shall be completed at the expiration of the working days. 
 

48



 26 

08 Weekly Record of Working Days 
 
Add the following to The SUDAS Standard Specifications Section 1080 – 1.06: 
 
Work shall not begin before 7:00 a.m. and shall stop at sunset.  
 
09 Liquidated Damages 
 
Add the following to The SUDAS Standard Specifications Section 1080 – 1.12: 
 
Liquidated damages in the amount of two hundred and fifty ($250.00) dollars per 
working day will be assessed for each working day that the work remains uncompleted 
after the expiration of the contract time. 
 
10 Progress Payments 
 
Add the following to The SUDAS Standard Specifications Section 1090 – 1.01: 
 
Pay estimates will be submitted to the City Council for approval on the first (1st) and 
third (3rd) Mondays of each month. 
 
Payment to the Contractor will be made in cash from such cash funds of said City as 
may be legally used for said purposes, including the proceeds of the Local Option Sales 
Tax and General Obligation Bonds. Any other combination of funds may be used at the 
discretion of the City Council. 
 
Before final payment is made, the Contractor shall furnish original vouchers with original 
signatures showing that all subcontractors and all persons furnishing labor and 
materials have been fully paid for such materials and labor. The City may retain the last 
pay estimate for a period of ninety (90) calendar days following such completion and 
approval, unless satisfied that materials and labor have been fully paid for. 
 
11 Storm Water Pollution Prevention Plan 
 
1. Site Description 
 
The proposed 2019 Permeable Alley Project involves the construction of three 
permeable paver alleys. The construction shall include a combination of excavation and 
backfill in the alleys, P.C.C. installation, paver installation, new storm sewer with 
connections to new intakes, curb and gutter installation, and seeding.  
 
Upon removal of pavement in any area, underground construction begins immediately, 
and construction proceeds continuously until that work section is re-opened to traffic. All 
areas included in the project are designed with positive drainage to the existing storm 
sewer system that eventually drains into a branch of the Dry Run Creek and then to the 
Cedar River.  
 

49



 27 

The Project plan set has details that are incorporated as a part of the Storm Water 
Pollution Prevention Plan. The Project plan set shows the intended construction staging 
plan and details of the erosion control measures to be included in this project. No data 
is recorded regarding quality of runoff from the project area(s).  
 
2. Erosion and Sediment Controls 
 
Construction activities that disturb subgrade soils are shown in the construction staging 
plan as included in the Project plan set. The primary means of controlling silt movement 
during construction is by minimizing the exposure of subgrade soils by way of a 
designated staging plan. Sediment filters shall be installed on intake wells in sump 
locations and at the low point of each construction stage. Silt dams shall be installed at 
the low point of a construction stage where necessary to prevent silt from migrating off 
site. Sediment filters shall also be placed on finished intake openings until all 
designated areas are sodded or have been paved.   
 
Stabilizing of all disturbed areas shall be by sodding or seeding as shown in the Project 
plan as soon as practical after completion of the backfilling of the curbs and the 
placement of the topsoil. The Contractor shall be responsible for installation and 
maintenance of all erosion control measures as described in the Project plan. The 
Contractor may elect to delegate portions of these tasks to Subcontractors as 
Contractor chooses. 
 
All Contractors/Subcontractors operating on the site shall take efforts to prevent 
contamination of storm water runoff, groundwater and soils by hazardous material 
and/or pollutants caused by their operations or encountered in their work. All waste 
building material and supplies must be removed from the site and disposed of legally. If 
construction equipment maintenance or repair is performed on the site, provisions must 
be made to capture and remove any lubricants or other fluids and dispose of legally. 
 
The Contractor shall notify the Owner immediately upon finding a hazardous material 
contamination either existing at the site or caused by any construction activities. 
 
Each and every Contractor shall be responsible to the owner to: 

1. Execute Contractor’s/Subcontractor’s part of the Storm Water Pollution 
Prevention Plan as described. 

2. Conduct Contractor’s/Subcontractor’s activities to not damage any existing 
erosion control measure or stabilizing vegetation.  If damages occur, the 
Contractor shall make repairs at no additional expense to the Owner. 

3. Coordinate with the Owner for installation of additional erosion control 
measures that are needed during and at the conclusion of the work. 

 
3. Storm Water Management  
 
Storm water will be routed by means of permeable pavement, subdrain, and storm 
sewer. Subdrain will be used to channel water from the subdrain to the existing main 
storm sewer pipes. The storm sewer pipes will range in size from 15 inch dia. up to 30 

50



 28 

inch diameter.  Longitudinal sub-drains will be included along the centerline or off center 
of the alleys. The sub-drains will tie into the storm sewer pipes.  The aggregate storage 
layer will be hydraulically tied to the sub-drain aggregate envelope.  The storm water 
collection system is designed for the five (5 yr.) year storm event in accordance with 
local design standards. Temporary sediment basins are not incorporated because of the 
limited area exposed in each stage of construction. Sediment filters shall be 
incorporated in specific intakes to serve as sediment control structures during each 
stage. Storm water runoff volumes will not increase, and should decrease, as the final 
result of the permeable alley project. Storm water runoff shall be managed during 
construction to minimize erosion. 
 
4. Storm Water Pollution Prevention Plan Reporting and Updates 
 
The Owner or Owner’s representative shall insure compliance with the Storm Water 
Pollution Prevention Plan and will perform regular inspections. Owner designated and 
qualified personnel will inspect disturbed areas of the construction site that have not 
reached “final stabilization” at least once every seven (7) calendar days. The Owner will 
be responsible for executing the Plan towards the goal of a stabilized site. Owner will 
make determination of Contractor’s compliance with the plan and may direct additional 
measures to be taken by any Contractor. When a plan deficiency or the occurrence of a 
pollutant entering the drainage system is observed, corrective action shall be taken. The 
Storm Water Pollution Prevention Plan will be revised and modifications shall be made 
to the control facilities as needed. 
 
 

51



 29 

12 METHOD OF MEASUREMENT 
 
The Engineer will measure the items of work that have been acceptably constructed as 
specified in the contract documents for the  2019 Permeable Alley Project No. ST-056-
3149 in accordance with the 2019 edition of the SUDAS and as further amended by the 
City of Cedar Falls’ 2019 Supplemental Specifications to the 2019 edition of the 
SUDAS, except as amended or supplemented as follows: 
 
Item No. 19 – Storage Aggregate, 8” 
Storage aggregate placed as shown or directed by the Engineer will be measured by 
square yards as placed.  
 
Item No. 20 – Filter Aggregate, 4” 
Stone aggregate placed as shown or directed by the Engineer will be measured by 
square yards as placed.  
 
Item No. 21 – Permeable Interlocking Pavers, Clay Brick 
Permeable clay brick pavers shall be computed in square feet by surface 
measurements.  
 
Item No. 22 – PCC Edge Restraint, 6” Concrete Slab, 4’ Width 
PCC edge restraint shall be computed in square yards by surface measurements.  
 
Item No. 23 – PCC Edge Restraint, 6” Concrete Slab, 5’ Width 
PCC edge restraint shall be computed in square yards by surface measurements.  
 
Item No. 25 – Hydraulic Seeding (Type 1, Permanent Lawn Mixture) 
Hydraulic seeding will be measured in square feet by surface measurements. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
13 BASIS OF PAYMENT 
 
Payment for the items listed in the Method of Measurement shall be determined by 
multiplying the item quantity (as determined in the Method of Measurement) by the unit 
price as bid on the Form of Proposal in accordance with the 2019 edition of the SUDAS 
Specifications and as further amended by the City of Cedar Falls’ 2019 Supplemental 
Specifications to the 2019 edition of the SUDAS. 
 
 

 
 
 

52



 30 

 
 
 
 

DIVISION 4 

SUPPLEMENTAL PLANS AND SPECIFICATIONS 
 

All work shall be constructed as specified in the Contract documents for the 2019 
Permeable Alley Project in accordance with the 2019 Edition of the SUDAS and as 
further amended by the City of Cedar Falls’ 2018 Supplemental Specifications to the 
most current edition of the SUDAS, except as amended or supplemented as follows: 
 
Item No. 17 – Engineering Fabric 
The contractor shall install geotextile fabric in the areas as noted in the construction 
plans and specifications. This material is to be used to separate the fines in the sub-
base from the previous aggregate base. The Contractor shall use geotextiles that are in 
conformance with Iowa D.O.T. Specification 4196 using the “Subsurface Drainage 
Table”. Materials IM 496.01 shall also apply for this bid item. Approved manufacturers 
and brand names are as listed in Materials IM 496.01, 5. Appendix A. 
 

1. Contractor shall place geotextile fabric on the bottom and sides of the soil 
subgrade. Contractor shall secure the geotextile fabric in place to prevent 
wrinkling from vehicle tires and tracks on equipment. 

2. Contractor shall over-lap the geotextile fabric a minimum of twelve (12“) inches in 
the direction of drainage. 

3. Contractor shall lay the geotextile fabric over the edges of the subgrade to 
prevent fines from washing into the pervious aggregate base. 

 
Item No. 21 – Permeable Interlocking Pavers, Clay Brick 
This bid item is for the furnishing and placement of permeable clay brick pavers. The 
paver source and color sample shall be provided to the Engineer for selection and 
approval prior to use, incidental to bid item. Pavers shall meet or exceed the 
requirements of ASTM standard C 1272; heavy vehicular paving brick. See the ASTM 
standard for additional requirements. Placement of the permeable pavers shall be as 
shown in the detail(s) in the construction documents. The permeable pavers shall be 
placed in a Herringbone pattern. 
 
Contractor’s placement of the permeable clay pavers shall be as follows: 

A. Where pavers are placed against a curb and gutter or other pavement, 
installation of an edge course or soldier course is required if the pavement edge 
is not straight. Trim pavers as required to compensate for deviations in the 
adjacent pavement edge. Do not cut pavers to less than 1/3 their original size.  

B. Install PCC edge restraint.  
C. Place chalk lines on the bedding course to maintain straight joint lines.  

53



 31

D. After pavers have been installed on the bedding course, and all cut pavers have 
been inserted to provide a full and complete surface, inspect pavers for damaged 
units and irregular joint lines. Remove and replace pavers as required.  

E. After inspection and replacement of damaged pavers, fill joint openings with 
bedding stone. Sweep the surface clean.  

F. Compact pavement surface with two passes of a vibratory plate compactor 
capable of at least 5,000 pounds centrifugal compaction force. Do not operate 
plate compactor within 6 feet of an unrestrained pavement edge.  

G. Re-inspect pavers, and remove and replace all damaged units. Refill joint 
openings completely. Sweep pavers clean. Complete compaction with two 
passes of the plate compactor.  

H. Refill all paver joint openings with bedding aggregate 6 months after installation. 
 
Quality control Standards shall be as followed: 

A. Ensure horizontal alignment of the PCC edge restraint is within 1/2 inch of design 
alignment.  

B. Ensure final surface is within 3/8 inch when tested with a 10 foot straightedge.  
C. Ensure no greater than 1/8 inch difference in height between adjacent pavers.  
D. Maintain surface elevation within 1/4 inch above adjacent drainage inlets, gutters, 

and other appurtenances. 
 
Item No. 22 – PCC Edge Restraint, 6” Concrete Slab, 4’ Wide 
Coarse aggregate for P.C.C. shall be Class 3 durability. Seal all expansion joints. 
Subgrade preparation, compaction, forming, concrete placement, finishing, curing, 
jointing, and joint sealing shall be considered incidental to the bid item. Concrete 
collar(s) around pavers shall be P.C.C., 6”, Class ”C”. 
 
Item No. 23 – PCC Edge Restraint, 6” Concrete Slab, 5’ Wide 
Coarse aggregate for P.C.C. shall be Class 3 durability. Seal all expansion joints. 
Subgrade preparation, compaction, forming, concrete placement, finishing, curing, 
jointing, and joint sealing shall be considered incidental to the bid item. Concrete 
collar(s) around pavers shall be P.C.C., 6”, Class ”C”. 

 
Item No. 25 – Hydraulic Seeding (Type 1, Permanent Lawn Mixture)  
The subgrade area shall be free of debris and rocks; and raked smooth before applying 
the hydraulic mulch/seed mix. The seed type shall be Type 1, permanent lawn mixture. 
The Contractor shall follow SUDAS Specification 9010.305 for the site preparation and 
the application procedure.  

54



1 2010-1.08-A CLEARING & GRUBBING 55.0 UNITS $300.00 $16,500.00

2 2010-1.08-D TOPSOIL, FURNISH & SPREAD 77.3 C.Y. $50.00 $3,865.00

3 2010-1.08-E EXCAVATION, CLASS 10, ROADWAY WASTE 711.3 C.Y. $18.00 $12,803.40

4 4040-1.08-C SUBDRAIN CLEANOUT, TYPE A-1, 6" 6.0 EACH $250.00 $1,500.00

5 5020-1.08-E VALVE EXTENSION 3.0 EACH $260.00 $780.00

6 6010-1.08-H REMOVE INTAKE 1.0 EACH $600.00 $600.00

7 7010-1.08-A PAVEMENT, P.C.C., 12' WIDTH, 6" 50.7 S.Y. $50.00 $2,535.00

8 7010-1.08-E CURB & GUTTER, P.C.C., 2.5' WIDE 158.5 L.F. $50.00 $7,925.00

9 7030-1.08-A REMOVAL OF DRIVEWAY 167.3 S.Y. $10.00 $1,673.00

10 7030-1.08-A REMOVAL OF SIDEWALK 73.3 S.Y. $10.00 $733.00

11 7030-1.08-E SIDEWALK, 6" P.C.C. 85.9 S.Y. $50.00 $4,295.00

12 7030-1.08-H DRIVEWAY, 6" P.C.C. 173.3 S.Y. $50.00 $8,665.00

13 7030-1.08-H DRIVEWAY, GRANULAR 35.4 S.Y. $35.00 $1,239.00

14 7040-1.08-A PATCH, FULL DEPTH, P.C.C. 'M' MIX 33.0 S.Y. $300.00 $9,900.00

15 7040-1.08-I REMOVAL OF CURB & GUTTER 158.5 L.F. $10.00 $1,585.00

16 7080-1.08-B ENGINEERING FABRIC 2,185.2 S.Y. $5.00 $10,926.00

17 7080-1.08-C UNDERDRAIN, 6" PLASTIC PERFORATED, TYPE S 1,087.0 L.F. $15.00 $16,305.00

18 7080-1.08-D STORAGE AGGREGATE, 8" 1,416.8 S.Y. $17.00 $24,085.60

19 7080-1.08-E FILTER AGGREGATE, 4" 1,416.8 S.Y. $12.00 $17,001.60

20 7080-1.08-F PERMEABLE INTERLOCKING PAVERS, CLAY BRICK 3,697.9 S.F. $12.00 $44,374.80

21 7080-1.08-G PCC EDGE RESTRAINT, 6" CONCRETE SLAB, 4' WIDE 447.1 S.Y. $50.00 $22,355.00

22 7080-1.08-G PCC EDGE RESTRAINT, 6" CONCRETE SLAB, 5' WIDE 502.5 S.Y. $50.00 $25,125.00

23 8030-1.08-A TRAFFIC CONTROL 1.0 L.S. $4,500.00 $4,500.00

24 9010-1.08-B HYDRAULIC SEEDING 4,170.2 S.F. $1.50 $6,255.30

25 9040-1.08-F WATTLE, STRAW, 9" 300.0 L.F. $5.00 $1,500.00

26 9040-1.08-T INLET PROTECTION DEVICE 3.0 EACH $220.00 $660.00

27 9040-1.08-T INLET PROTECTION DEVICE, MAINTENANCE 3.0 EACH $115.00 $345.00

28 CF DETAIL INTAKE, SINGLE FLAT 1.0 EACH $3,200.00 $3,200.00

PRELIMINARY ESTIMATE OF COST TOTAL: $251,231.70

2019 PERMEABLE ALLEY PROJECT

CITY PROJECT NO. ST-056-3149

PAVERS / P.C.C. PAVING / STORM SEWER

PRELIMINARY ESTIMATE OF COST & QUANTITIES

ITEM DESCRIPTION UNITS
UNIT 

PRICE

EXTENDED 

PRICE

ESTIMATED 

QUANTITY
ITEM CODE

ITEM 

NO.

55



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Planning & Community Services Division 

  

   

 

 

 
 
 

 TO: Honorable Mayor James P. Brown and City Council 

 FROM: Karen Howard, Planning & Community Services Manager 

 DATE: March 27, 2019 

 SUBJECT: Public Hearing for Text Amendments to Section 29-160, CHN College Hill 
Neighborhood Overlay Zoning District (modified ordinance)  

 

 

REQUEST: 
Zoning Ordinance Amendments 
Section 26-181 (formerly 29-160), CHN College Hill Neighborhood Overlay 
Zoning District 

PETITIONER: Department of Community Development 

LOCATION: College Hill Neighborhood Overlay Zoning District 
 

 
PROPOSAL 
 
At the Planning and Zoning Commission meeting on January 9, 2019, the Commission voted to 
recommend certain zoning code text amendments to the College Hill Neighborhood Overlay 
Zoning District. In summary, the zoning code text amendments forwarded to City Council for 
consideration would: 

 Eliminate the confusing language about principal, accessory and secondary uses with 
regard to mixed-use buildings that made it difficult to determine which dimensional and 
parking standards applied; 

 Add a definition of a mixed-use building and distinguish it from the definition of a 
residential building; 

 Clearly state the parking requirements for the uses within a mixed-use building, as 
follows:  

o    No parking required for non-residential uses. For dwelling units within mixed-use 
buildings, one parking stall per bedroom, but not less than one stall per dwelling 
unit, except as follows. For mixed-use buildings constructed prior to January 1, 
2019, parking is not required for existing dwelling units.  In addition, for mixed-use 
and commercial buildings constructed prior to January 1, 2019, parking is not 
required for upper floor space that is converted to residential use. 

  

 Change the parking requirement for Multiple Dwellings to match the proposed parking 
requirement for residential dwelling units within a mixed-use building;  

 Establish minimum and maximum setbacks for mixed-use buildings to ensure a 
mainstreet character as envisioned for the College Hill Business District.  

56



 Establish building design standards for mixed-use buildings that address safe and 
prominent building entries, quality storefront design, and standards for high quality 
building materials and building articulation to match what is required for multiple dwellings 
within the College Hill Overlay.  

 Clarify and clean-up the language for terms used for different types of dwellings to match 
Section 26-2 (formerly 29-2), Definitions.  

 

At the Council meeting on March 4, 2019, the City Council voted to refer the proposed 
ordinance back to the Planning and Zoning Commission for modifications so that the change to 
the parking requirements would only apply in the C-3 District. To effect this change, staff has 
created two separate paragraphs, one specifying the parking requirement for dwelling units 
within Mixed-Use Buildings in the C-3 District and one for dwelling units within Mixed-Use 
Buildings in zones other than the C-3 District. It should be noted that in the College Hill 
Neighborhood Overlay District, the only zones that allow mixed-use buildings are the C-3 and R-
4 Districts.  
 
In addition, to achieve the modification requested by Council, the current parking requirement 
for multiple dwellings will not be changed to mirror the new standard for dwelling units in a 
mixed-use building, but will remain the same. Multiple dwelling buildings are allowed in the R-3 
and R-4 Zoning Districts and are discouraged in the C-3 District. With these modifications, the 
changes to the parking requirements in the College Hill Neighborhood Overlay District would 
only apply to mixed-use buildings in the C-3 District. Parking requirements for mixed-use 
buildings and for other uses in other zoning districts within the Overlay would remain the same.  
 
At their meeting on March 13, 2019, the Planning and Zoning Commission reviewed and 
recommended approval of the proposed ordinance changes including the modifications 
requested by the City Council on March 4, 2019.  
 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
 
The Community Development Department recommends approval of the ordinance amending 
Section 26-181 (formerly 29-160), College Hill Neighborhood Overlay Zoning District with 
modifications requested by the City Council and recommended by the Planning and Zoning 
Commission.  
 

57



 1 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Prepared by: Karen Howard, P&CS Manager, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 (319) 273-8600 

 
 

ORDINANCE NO. ________ 
 

AN ORDINANCE REPEALING AND REPLACING SECTION 26-181 (FORMERLY 
29-160), CHN, COLLEGE HILL NEIGHBORHOOD OVERLAY ZONING DISTRICT, 
OF DIVISION 2, SPECIFIC DISTRICTS, OF ARTICLE III, DISTRICTS AND 
DISTRICT REGULATIONS, OF CHAPTER 26 (FORMERLY 29), ZONING OF THE 
CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA (Case # TA19-
001) 

 
WHEREAS, it is the purpose of the College Hill Neighborhood Overlay Zoning District to 

regulate development and land uses within the College Hill Neighborhood and to provide 
guidance for building and site design standards, maintenance and development of the residential 
and business districts in a manner that complements the University of Northern Iowa campus, 
promotes community vitality and safety, and strengthens commercial enterprise; and 

 
WHEREAS, these amendments add a definition of “mixed-use building” and establish 

standards for said mixed-use buildings, including parking requirements and building design 
standards to encourage new development and revitalization of the College Hill business district 
and areas immediately adjacent to the University of Northern Iowa campus; and 

 
WHEREAS, these amendments delete ambiguous language from the College Hill Overlay 

Zoning District standards that have created uncertainty in the market and in the community 
regarding parking requirements for upper floor residential dwelling units within mixed-use buildings;  

 
WHEREAS, these amendments provide consistency between the parking requirements for 

mixed-use buildings in the C-3 (College Hill Business District) and multiple dwelling buildings in the 
R-3 and R-4 Zoning Districts located within the College Hill Overlay District;  

 
WHEREAS, the Planning and Zoning Commission has reviewed the proposed changes to the 

ordinance and recommends approval; and now, therefore:  
 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA: 

58



 2 

 
 

A. Section 26-181, CHN, College Hill Neighborhood Overlay Zoning District, of Division 2, Specific 
Districts, of Article III, Districts and District Regulations, of Chapter 26, Zoning is hereby repealed 
in its entirety and the following Section 26-181, is enacted in lieu thereof, as follows: 
 

Sec. 26-181.   CHN College Hill Neighborhood Overlay Zoning District. 

In the College Hill Neighborhood Overlay Zoning District, the following provisions, regulations and restrictions shall 

apply:  

(1)  Boundaries. The College Hill Neighborhood Overlay Zoning District (CHN district) boundaries are shown in 
the College Hill neighborhood master plan and legally described in attachment A. (Said attachment is not set 
out at length herein but is on file in the office of the city planner.)  

(2)  Purpose and intent.  

a.  The purpose of the College Hill Neighborhood Overlay Zoning District is to regulate development and 
land uses within the College Hill neighborhood and to provide guidance for building and site design 
standards, maintenance and development of the residential and business districts in a manner that 
complements the University of Northern Iowa campus, promotes community vitality and safety and 
strengthens commercial enterprise. New structures, including certain types of fences, certain 
modifications to existing structures and certain site improvements and site maintenance shall conform to 
this section.  

b.  The provisions of this section shall apply in addition to any other zoning district regulations and 
requirements in which the land may be classified. In the case of conflict, the most restrictive provisions 
shall govern unless otherwise expressly provided in this section.  

(3)  Definitions. The following words, terms and phrases, when used in this section, shall have the meanings 
ascribed to them in this subsection, except where the context clearly indicates a different meaning:  

Bedroom means a room unit intended for sleeping purposes containing at least 70 square feet of floor 
space for each occupant. Neither closets nor any part of a room where the ceiling height is less than five feet 
shall be considered when computing floor area.  

Change in use means and include residential uses changed from single-unit to two-unit or two-unit to 
multi-unit or to any increase in residential intensity within a structure (i.e., change from duplex to fraternity 
house). The term "change in use" shall also apply to changes in use classifications (i.e., residential to 
commercial).  

Fraternity/sorority means residential facilities provided for college students and sponsored by university 
affiliated student associations. Such facilities may contain individual or common sleeping areas and 
bathroom facilities but shall provide common kitchen, dining, and lounging areas. Such facilities may contain 
more than one unit.  

Greenway means open landscaped area maintained for floodplain protection, stormwater management 
and public access. Such area may contain pedestrian walkways or bicycle pathways but is not intended for 
regular or seasonal usage by motorized recreational vehicles.  

Landscaped area means an area not subject to vehicular traffic, which consists of living landscape 
material including grass, trees and shrubbery.  

Lot split, property transfer means not a subdivision plat where a new lot is being created; includes any 
transfer of small segments of property or premises between two abutting properties, whether commonly 
owned or owned by separate parties, where one property (the "sending property") is dedicating or deeding 
additional land to another abutting property (the "receiving property").  

59



 3 

Mixed-Use Building means a building designed for occupancy by a minimum of two different uses. Uses 
generating visitor or customer traffic (such as retail, restaurants, personal services) are typically located on 
the ground floor facing the street, whereas uses generating limited pedestrian activity (such as office or 
residential uses) are typically located on upper floors or behind street-fronting commercial uses. 

Neighborhood character. The College Hill neighborhood area is one of the city's oldest and most 
densely populated neighborhoods. As the University of Northern Iowa has grown the original single-unit 
residential neighborhood surrounding the campus area has been transformed into a mixture of single-unit, 
duplex and multiple unit dwelling units along with a few institutional uses and other university-related uses 
such as fraternities and sorority houses. These various uses are contained in a variety of underlying zoning 
districts (i.e., R-2, R-3, R-4 Residential and C-3 Commercial Districts). Architectural styles vary significantly 
among existing building structures while differing land uses and building types are permitted in different 
zoning districts. When references are made in this article to preservation of neighborhood character, 
uniformity of building scale, size, bulk and unusual or widely varying appearance are of primary concern 
regardless of the nature of the proposed building use.  

New construction, including significant improvements to existing structures, shall be of a character that 
respects and complements existing neighborhood development. The following variables or criteria shall be 
used in determining whether a newly proposed construction or building renovation is in keeping with the 
character of the neighborhood:  

1.  Overall bulk/size of the building;  

2.  Overall height of the building;  

3.  Number of proposed dwelling units in comparison to surrounding properties;  

4.  Lot density (lot area divided by number of dwelling units);  

5.  Off-street parking provision;  

6.  Architectural compatibility with surrounding buildings.  

Parking area means that portion of a parcel of land that is improved and designated or commonly used 
for the parking of one or more motor vehicles.  

Parking lot means that area improved and designated or commonly used for the parking of three or 
more vehicles.  

Parking space (also parking stall ) means an area measuring at least nine feet wide and 19 feet long for 
all commercial, institutional or manufacturing uses or eight feet wide and 18 feet long for residential uses 
only, connected to a public street or alley by a driveway not less than ten feet wide, and so arranged as to 
permit ingress and egress of motor vehicles without moving any other vehicle parked adjacent to the parking 
space.  

Premises means a lot, plot or parcel of land including all structures thereon. 

Residential Building: Any building that is designed and/or used exclusively for residential purposes, but 
not including a tent, cabin or travel trailer.   

Residential conversion means the alteration or modification of a residential structure that will result in an 
increase in the number of rooming units or dwelling units within the residential structure. The addition or 
creation of additional rooms within an existing rooming unit or dwelling unit does not constitute a residential 
conversion.  

Structural alteration means any alteration, exterior or interior that alters the exterior dimension of the 
structure. This provision shall apply to residential, commercial and institutional uses including churches or 
religious institutions.  

Substantial improvement means any new construction within the district or any renovation of an existing 
structure, including the following:  

1.  Any increase in floor area or increased external dimension of a residential or commercial structure. 
Additional bedrooms proposed in an existing duplex or multi-unit residence shall be considered a 

60



 4 

substantial improvement. Bedroom additions to single-unit residences shall not be considered to be 
a substantial improvement.  

2.  Any modification of the exterior appearance of the structure by virtue of adding or removing exterior 
windows or doors. Repair or replacement of existing windows or doors which does not result in any 
change in the size, number or location of said windows and doors shall not be considered to be a 
substantial improvement.  

3.  Any structural alteration that increases the number of bedrooms or dwelling units. Interior room 
additions, including bedroom additions, may be made to single-unit residential structures without 
requiring additional on-site parking.  

4.  All facade improvements, changes, alterations, modifications or replacement of existing facade 
materials on residential or commercial structures. Routine repair and replacement of existing siding 
materials with the same or similar siding materials on existing structures shall be exempt from 
these regulations.  

5.  Any new, modified or replacement awnings, signs or similar projections over public sidewalk areas.  

6.  Any increase or decrease in existing building height and/or alteration of existing roof pitch or 
appearance. Routine repair or replacement of existing roof materials that do not materially change 
or affect the appearance, shape or configuration of the existing roof shall not be considered a 
substantial improvement.  

7.  Any construction of a detached accessory structure measuring more than 300 square feet in base 
floor area for a residential or commercial principal use.  

8.  Any increase in area of any existing parking area or parking lot or any new construction of a 
parking area or parking lot, which existing or new parking area or parking lot contains or is 
designed to potentially accommodate a total of three or more parking stalls.  

9.  Any proposed property boundary fence, which utilizes unusual fencing materials such as stones, 
concrete blocks, logs, steel beams or similar types of atypical or unusual fence materials. Standard 
chainlink fences, wooden or vinyl privacy fences shall be exempt from these provisions.  

10.  Demolition and removal of an entire residential, commercial or institutional structure on a property 
shall not be considered a substantial improvement.  

(4)  Administrative review.  

a.  Applicability. The provisions of this section shall constitute the requirements for all premises and 
properties that lie within the boundaries of the College Hill neighborhood overlay zoning district. This 
section and the requirements stated herein shall apply to all new construction, change in use, structural 
alterations, substantial improvements or site improvements including:  

1.  Any substantial improvement to any residential, commercial or institutional structure, including 
churches.  

2.  Any new construction, change in use, residential conversion or structural alteration, as defined 
herein, for any structure.  

3.  Any new building structure including single-unit residences.  

b.  Emergency repairs. In the case of emergency repairs required as the result of unanticipated building or 
facade damages due to events such as fire, vandalism, flooding or weather-related damages, site plan 
review by the planning and zoning commission and the city council will not be required for completion of 
said emergency repairs, provided that the extent of damages and cost of said repairs are less than 50 
percent of the value of the structure. However, said emergency repairs along with cost estimates related 
to the extent of building structural damages shall be verified by the city planner in conjunction with the 
city building inspector. Said emergency repairs, to the extent possible, shall repair and re-establish the 
original appearance of the structure. In the event that said emergency repairs result in dramatic 
alteration of the exterior appearance of the structure as determined by the city planner, the owner of the 
property shall make permanent repairs or renovations that re-establish the original appearance of the 

61



 5 

structure with respect to facade features, window and door sizes, locations and appearances of said 
windows and doors within six months following completion of said emergency repairs. Said emergency 
repairs shall not alter the number, size or configuration of pre-existing rooms, bedrooms or dwelling 
units within the structure.  

c.  Submittal requirements. Applicants for any new construction, change in use, structural alteration, facade 
alteration, residential conversion, substantial improvement, parking lot construction or building 
enlargement shall submit to the city planning division an application accompanied by such additional 
information and documentation as shall be deemed appropriate by the city planner in order for the 
planning division to properly review the application. The required application for any project may include 
one or more of the following elements depending upon the nature of the application proposal. Some 
applications will require submittal of more information than other types of applications. The city planner 
will advise the applicant which of these items need to be submitted with each application with the goal of 
providing sufficient information so that decision makers can make an informed decision on each 
application.  

1.  Written description of building proposal, whether a new structure, facade improvement, parking lot 
improvement, building addition, etc. The name and address of the property owner and property 
developer (if different) must be provided;  

2.  Building floor plans;  

3.  Building materials;  

4.  Dimensions of existing and proposed exterior building "footprint";  

5.  Facade details/exterior rendering of the structure being modified, description of proposed building 
design elements including, but not limited to, building height, roof design, number and location of 
doors and windows and other typical facade details;  

6.  Property boundaries, existing and proposed building setbacks;  

7.  Parking lot location, setbacks, parking stall locations and dimensions along with parking lot 
screening details;  

8.  Lot area and lot width measurements with explanation if any portion of an adjacent lot or property is 
being transferred to the property under consideration;  

9.  Open green space areas and proposed landscaping details with schedule for planting new 
landscaping materials;  

10.  Trash dumpster/trash disposal areas;  

11.  Stormwater detention/management plans.  

Following submittal of the appropriate application materials as determined by the city planner, said 
application materials shall be reviewed by the city planning and zoning commission and the city council to 
determine if the submittal meets all chapter requirements and conforms to the standards of the 
comprehensive plan, recognized principles of civic design, land use planning and landscape architecture. 
The commission may recommend and the city council may approve the application as submitted, may deny 
the application, or may require the applicant to modify, alter, adjust or amend the application as deemed 
necessary to the end that it preserves the intent and purpose of this section to promote the public health, 
safety and general welfare.  

(5)  District requirements and criteria for review.  

a.  Minimum on-site parking requirements. The following standards shall apply in the College Hill 
Neighborhood Overlay District and shall govern if different from the requirements listed in Section 26-
220, Off-street parking spaces. 

1.  Single-unit Dwelling: Two parking stalls per dwelling.  

2. Single-unit Dwelling, renter-occupied: Two parking stalls per dwelling unit plus one additional 
parking stall for each bedroom in excess of two bedrooms. 

62



 6 

3.  Two-unit Dwelling: Two stalls per dwelling units plus one additional stall for each bedroom in each 
dwelling unit in excess of two bedrooms.  

4.  Multiple Dwelling: Two stalls per dwelling unit plus one additional stall for each bedroom in excess 
of two bedrooms. One additional stall shall be provided for every five units in excess of five units for 
visitor parking. 

5. Non-residential uses in the C-3 District: No parking required. 

6.  Dwelling units within Mixed-Use Buildings in the C-3 District: One parking stall per bedroom, but not 
less than one stall per dwelling unit, except as follows. For mixed-use buildings constructed prior to 
January 1, 2019, parking is not required for existing dwelling units.  In addition, for mixed-use and 
commercial buildings constructed prior to January 1, 2019, parking is not required for upper floor 
space that is converted to residential use.  

7. Dwelling units within Mixed-Use Buildings in zones other than the C-3 District: Two stalls per 
dwelling unit plus one additional stall for each bedroom in excess of two bedrooms. One additional 
stall shall be provided for every five units in excess of five units for visitor parking.  

8.  Boardinghouse/roominghouse: Five stalls plus one stall for every guest room in excess of four 
guest rooms.  

9.  Fraternity/sorority: Five parking stalls plus one stall for every two residents in excess of four 
residents.  

10.  Where fractional spaces result, the number required shall be the next higher whole number.  

11.  Bicycle accommodations: All new multi-unit residential facilities are encouraged to provide for the 
establishment of bicycle racks of a size appropriate for the anticipated residential occupancy of the 
facility. A general suggested bike parking standard is two bike stalls per residential unit. For 
commercial projects, if lot area is available, bike racks are encouraged to be installed in 
conjunction with the commercial project.  

b.  Parking lot standards.  

1.  All newly constructed or expanded parking lots (three or more parking stalls) shall be hard surfaced 
with concrete or asphalt, provided with a continuous curb, be set back a minimum five feet from 
adjacent property lines or public right-of-way with the exception of alleyways, in which case a three 
foot permeable setback will be required, and otherwise conform to all parking guidelines as 
specified in this section and in section 26-220. Alternative parking lot surfaces may be considered 
to the extent that such surfaces provide adequate stormwater absorption rates, subject to city 
engineering review and approval, while providing an acceptable surface material and finished 
appearance. Gravel or crushed asphalt parking lots will not be permitted. However, other types of 
ecologically sensitive parking lot designs will be encouraged and evaluated on a case-by-case 
basis.  

2.  Landscaping in parking lots shall be classified as either internal or peripheral. The following 
coverage requirements shall pertain to each classification:  

(i)  Peripheral landscaping. All parking lots containing three or more parking spaces shall provide 
peripheral landscaping. Peripheral landscaping shall consist of a landscaped strip not less 
than five feet in width, exclusive of vehicular obstruction, and shall be located between the 
parking area and the abutting property lines. One tree for each 25 lineal feet of such 
landscaping barrier or fractional part thereof shall be planted in the landscaping strip. At least 
one tree shall be planted for every parking lot (such as a three-stall parking lot) regardless of 
the lineal feet calculation. In addition to tree plantings, the perimeter of the parking lot shall be 
screened with shrubbery or similar plantings at least three-feet in height as measured from the 
finished grade of the parking lot at the time of planting for purposes of vehicular screening. 
The vegetative screen should present a continuous, effective visual screen adjacent to the 
parking lot for purposes of partially obscuring vehicles and also deflecting glare from 
headlights. If landscaped berms are utilized, the berm and vegetative screening must achieve 
at least a 3-foot tall screen at the time of installation as measured from the grade of the 

63



 7 

finished parking lot. Each such planting area shall be landscaped with grass, ground cover or 
other landscape material excluding paving, gravel, crushed asphalt or similar materials, in 
addition to the required trees, shrubbery, hedges or other planting material. Existing 
landscaping upon abutting property shall not be used to satisfy the requirements for said 
parking lot screening requirements unless the abutting land use is a parking lot.  

(ii)  Exceptions.  

A.  Peripheral landscaping shall not be required for single-unit or two-unit residential 
structures where the primary parking area is designed around a standard front entrance 
driveway and/or attached or detached residential garage. However, if an open surface 
parking lot containing three or more parking stalls is established in the rear yard of a two-
unit residential structure, the perimeter landscaping/screening requirements as specified 
herein shall apply.  

B.  Peripheral landscaping shall not be required for parking lots that are established behind 
building structures where the parking lots do not have any public street or alley frontage 
or is not adjacent to any open properties such as private yards, parks or similar open 
areas. Examples of such a parking lot would be one designed with a multiple unit 
apartment facility where the parking lot is encircled with building structures within the 
project site and where the parking lot is completely obscured from public view by building 
structures.  

C.  Underground or under-building parking lots.  

D.  Aboveground parking ramps shall provide perimeter screening as specified herein 
around the ground level perimeter of the parking structure.  

(iii)  Internal landscaping. All parking lots measuring 21 parking stalls or more shall be required to 
landscape the interior of such parking lot. At least one overstory tree shall be established for 
every 21 parking stalls. Each tree shall be provided sufficient open planting area necessary to 
sustain full growth of the tree. Not less than five percent of the proposed paved area of the 
interior of the parking lot shall be provided as open space, excluding the tree planting areas. 
These additional open space areas must be planted with bushes, grasses or similar vegetative 
materials. Each separate open green space area shall contain a minimum of 40 square feet 
and shall have a minimum width dimension of a least five feet.  

(iv)  Exceptions. Internal landscaping shall not be required for vehicular storage lots, 
trucking/warehousing lots or for automobile sales lots. However, perimeter 
landscaping/screening provisions, as specified herein, shall be required for all such parking 
areas when they are installed or enlarged in area.  

(v)  Parking garages or parking ramps. All such facilities where one or more levels are 
established for parking either below ground or above ground and where structural walls 
provide for general screening of parked vehicles, internal landscaping shall not be provided.  

(vi)  Open green space; landscape areas. It is the intent of this regulation that in parking 
development sites open green space and landscape areas should be distributed throughout 
the parking development site rather than isolated in one area or around the perimeter of the 
parking lot. Trees and shrubs planted within parking areas shall be protected by concrete 
curbs and provide adequate permeable surface area to promote growth and full maturity of 
said vegetation.  

3.  Parking stalls must provide a minimum separation of four feet from the exterior walls of any 
principal structure on the property as measured from the vehicle (including vehicular overhang) to 
the nearest wall of the structure. No vehicular parking stall shall be so oriented or positioned as to 
block or obstruct any point of egress from a structure, including doorways or egress windows.  

4.  No portion of required front or side yards in any residential (R) zoning district shall be used for the 
establishment of any parking space, parking area, or parking lot, except for those driveways 
serving a single- or two-unit residence. For all other uses, a single driveway no more than 18 feet in 

64



 8 

width may be established across the required front and side yards, provided that side yard 
driveway setbacks are observed, as an access to designated rear yard parking areas, unless said 
lot is dedicated entirely to a parking lot, in which case a wider driveway access will be allowed 
across the required yard area to access said parking lot.  

5.  When a driveway or access off a public street no longer serves its original purpose as access to a 
garage or parking lot due to redevelopment of the property or is replaced with an alternative 
parking lot or parking arrangement with an alternate route of access, the original driveway access 
shall be re-curbed by the owner at the owner's expense and the parking/ driveway area shall be 
returned to open green space with grass plantings or other similar landscaping materials.  

6.  Routine maintenance of existing parking areas and parking lots, including resurfacing of said areas 
with similar materials or with hard surfacing will be permitted without requiring review by the 
planning and zoning commission and city council, provided that no increase in area of said existing 
parking area or parking lot, or any new construction of a parking area or parking lot, which existing 
or new parking area or parking lot contains or is designed to potentially accommodate a total of 
three or more parking stalls, occurs. Any newly paved or hard surfaced parking lot, excluding those 
existing hard surface parking lots that are merely being resurfaced, must satisfy minimum required 
setbacks from the property line or alley and must provide a continuous curb around the perimeter 
of said improved parking lot. Hard surfacing of any existing unpaved parking area or parking lot will 
require an evaluation by the city engineering division regarding increased stormwater 
runoff/possible stormwater detention.  

c.  Stormwater drainage.  

1.  Stormwater detention requirements as outlined in section 24-338 and in section 26-94 shall apply 
to all newly developed parking lots and new building uses. In addition, said requirements shall 
apply to any existing parking lot that is resurfaced, reconstructed or enlarged subject to review by 
the city engineer. In those cases where no municipal storm sewer is readily available to serve a 
particular property or development site, the use of the property will be limited. The maximum 
allowable use that shall be permitted on any particular property or development site which is not 
served by a municipal storm sewer shall be limited to the following uses in Residential zoning 
districts: a parking lot; a single-unit residence; a two-unit residence; or a multi-unit residence. 
Provided, however, that the applicant shall be required to submit calculations, which shall be 
subject to review and approval by the city engineering division, that verify that the total impervious 
surface area on the particular property or development site that will exist immediately following 
completion of the proposed new development shall be no greater than the total impervious surface 
area on the particular property or development site that existed immediately prior to the proposed 
new development.  

2.  Soil erosion control. At the time of new site development, including parking lot construction, soil 
erosion control measures must be installed on the site in conformance with city engineering 
standards. Said soil erosion measures must be maintained until the site is stabilized to the 
satisfaction of the city engineering division.  

d.  Open space/landscaping requirements.  

1.  Principal permitted uses within the district shall provide minimum building setbacks as required in 
the zoning chapter. With the exception of construction periods said required front and side setback 
areas (required yards) shall be maintained with natural vegetative materials and shall not be 
obstructed with any temporary or permanent structure, on site vehicular parking including trailers or 
recreational vehicles, nor disturbed by excavations, holes, pits or established recreational areas 
that produce bare spots in the natural vegetation.  

2.  Driveways measuring no more than 18 feet in width, sidewalks and pedestrian access ways 
measuring no more than six feet in width may be established across the required front and side 
yard areas.  

3.  All newly constructed office or institutional buildings in the R-3 or R-4 districts and all newly 
constructed single unit dwelling, two-unit dwelling, or multiple dwelling in residential or commercial 

65



 9 

districts shall provide on-site landscaping within the required yard areas or in other green space 
areas of the property at the rate of 0.04 points per square foot of total lot area of the site under 
consideration for the proposed residential development or improvement. Landscaping shall consist 
of any combination of trees and shrubbery, subject to review and approval by the planning and 
zoning commission and the city council. In addition to these requirements, parking lot plantings 
and/or screening must be provided as specified herein. Plantings must be established within one 
year following issuance of a building permit. This provision shall not apply to commercial or mixed-
use buildings established in the C-3 Commercial District.  

4.  Measured compliance. The following landscaping point schedule applies to required landscaping in 
all zoning districts within the College Hill neighborhood overlay district with the exception of 
commercial uses in the C-3 Commercial District, and shall be used in determining achieved points 
for required plantings. The points are to be assigned to plant sizes at time of planting/installation.  

Overstory Trees:  

4-inch caliper or greater  100 points  

3-inch caliper to 4-inch caliper  90 points  

2-inch caliper to 3-inch caliper  80 points  

1-inch caliper to 2-inch caliper  60 points  

Understory Trees:  

2-inch caliper or greater  40 points  

1½-inch caliper to 2-inch caliper  30 points  

1-inch to 1½-inch caliper  20 points  

Shrubs:  

5-gallon or greater  10 points  

2-gallon to 5-gallon  5 points  

Conifers:  

10-foot height or greater  100 points  

8-foot to 10-foot height  90 points  

6-foot to 8-foot height  80 points  

5-foot to 6-foot height  40 points  

4-foot to 5-foot height  30 points  

3-foot to 4-foot height  20 points  

  

e.  Fences/retaining walls.  

1.  Fences shall be permitted on properties in accordance with the height and location requirements 
outlined in section 26-93. Zoning/land use permits shall be required for fences erected within the 
district.  

66



 10 

2.  Any existing fence or freestanding wall that is, in the judgment of the building inspector, structurally 
unsound and a hazard to adjoining property shall be removed upon the order of the building 
inspector.  

3.  Retaining walls may be installed on property as a measure to control soil erosion or stormwater 
drainage. However, said retaining walls shall be permitted only after review and approval by the 
city engineer.  

f.  Detached accessory structures. All newly constructed detached accessory structures or expansions of 
existing detached accessory structures exceeding 300 square feet in base floor area proposed to be 
situated on residential or commercial properties shall be subject to review and approval by the planning 
and zoning commission and city council. Maximum allowable building height, size and location 
requirements for accessory structures as specified in section 26-126 shall apply. In addition to those 
standards, proposed detached accessory structures or expanded structures larger than 300 square feet 
in area shall be designed in such a manner as to be consistent with the architectural style of the 
principal residential or commercial structure on the property. Similar building materials, colors, roof lines, 
roof pitch and roofing materials shall be established on the accessory structure to match as closely as 
possible those elements on the principal structure. In addition, vertical steel siding along with "metal 
pole barn" type construction shall not be allowed.  

g.  No existing single-unit residential structure in the R-2 district shall be converted or otherwise structurally 
altered in a manner that will result in the creation or potential establishment of a second dwelling unit 
within the structure.  

h.  No duplex (two-unit) or multiple dwelling shall add dwelling units or bedrooms to any dwelling unit 
without satisfying minimum on-site parking requirements. If additional parking spaces are required, the 
entire parking area must satisfy parking lot development standards as specified herein.  

i.  No portion of an existing parcel of land or lot or plot shall be split, subdivided or transferred to another 
abutting lot or parcel for any purpose without prior review and approval by the city planning and zoning 
commission and the city council. Land cannot be transferred or split from one lot or property to be 
transferred to another for purposes of benefiting the receiving property while diminishing the minimum 
required lot area, lot width or building or parking lot setback area of the sending property. Such lot 
transfer or split shall not create a nonconforming lot by virtue of reduction of minimum required lot area, 
lot width or reduction of minimum required building or parking lot setbacks. Said lot transfer or split shall 
not affect any existing nonconforming property by further reducing any existing nonconforming element 
of the lot or property including lot area, lot width or building or parking lot setbacks in order to benefit 
another abutting property for development purposes. This provision shall not apply to those instances 
where separate lots or properties are being assembled for purposes of new building construction where 
existing structures on the assembled lots will be removed in order to accommodate new building 
construction.  

j.  Site plan revisions/amendments. All changes, modifications, revisions and amendments made to 
development site plans that are deemed to be major or substantial by the city planner shall be 
resubmitted to the planning and zoning commission in the same manner as originally required in this 
section. Examples of major or substantial changes shall include, but are not limited to, changes in 
building location, building size, property size, parking arrangements, enlarged or modified parking lots, 
open green space or landscaping modifications, setback areas or changes in building design elements.  

k.  1.  Trash dumpster/trash disposal areas must be clearly marked and established on all site plans 
associated with new development or redevelopment projects. No required parking area or required 
parking stalls shall be encumbered by a trash disposal area.  

2.  Large commercial refuse dumpsters and recycling bins serving residential or commercial uses shall 
be located in areas of the property that are not readily visible from public streets. No such dumpster 
or bin shall be established within the public right-of-way. All dumpsters and bins shall be affixed 
with a solid lid covering and shall be screened for two purposes:  

(i)  Visual screening; and  

67



 11 

(ii)  Containing dispersal of loose trash due to over-filling. Screening materials shall match or be 
complementary to the prevailing building materials.  

(6)  Design review. Any new construction, building additions, facade renovations or structural alterations to 
commercial or residential structures, or substantial improvements to single-unit residences that, in the 
judgment of the city planner, substantially alters the exterior appearance or character of permitted structures 
shall require review and approval by the city planning and zoning commission and city council.  

a.  Criteria for review.  

1.  Applications involving building design review. Neighborhood character, as herein defined, shall be 
considered in all.  

2.  The architectural character, materials, textures of all buildings or building additions shall be 
compatible with those primary design elements on structures located on adjoining properties and 
also in consideration of said design elements commonly utilized on other nearby properties on the 
same block or within the immediate neighborhood.  

3.  Comparable scale and character in relation to adjoining properties and other nearby properties in 
the immediate neighborhood shall be maintained by reviewing features such as:  

(i)  Maintaining similar roof pitch.  

(ii)  Maintaining similar building height, building scale and building proportion.  

(iii)  Use of materials comparable and similar to other buildings on nearby properties in the 
immediate neighborhood.  

4.  Mandated second entrances or fire escapes established above grade shall not extend into the 
required front yard area.  

5.  Existing entrances and window openings on the front facades and side yard facades facing public 
streets shall be maintained in the same general location and at the same general scale as original 
openings or be consistent with neighboring properties.  

6.  Projects involving structural improvements or facade renovations to existing structures must 
provide structural detail and ornamentation that is consistent with the underlying design of the 
original building.  

7.  The primary front entrances of all residential buildings shall face toward the public street. Street 
frontage wall spaces shall provide visual relief to large blank wall areas with the use of windows or 
doorways and other architectural ornamentation.  

b.  Building entrances for multiple dwellings. Main entrances should be clearly demarcated by one of the 
following:  

1.  Covered porch or canopy.  

2.  Pilaster and pediment.  

3.  Other significant architectural treatment that emphasizes the main entrance. Simple "trim" around 
the doorway does not satisfy this requirement.  

c.  Building scale for multiple dwellings. Street facing walls that are greater than 50 feet in length shall be 
articulated with bays, projections or alternating recesses according to the following suggested 
guidelines:  

1.  Bays and projections should be at least six feet in width and at least 16 inches, but not more than 
six feet in depth. Recesses should be at least six feet in width and have a depth of at least 16 
inches.  

2.  The bays, projections and recesses should have corresponding changes in roofline or, 
alternatively, should be distinguished by a corresponding change in some architectural elements of 
the building such as roof dormers, alternating exterior wall materials, a change in window patterns, 

68



 12 

the addition of balconies, variation in the building or parapet height or variation in architectural 
details such as decorative banding, reveals or stone accents.  

d.  Building scale for commercial buildings and mixed-use buildings. The width of the front façade of new 
commercial and mixed-use buildings shall be no more than 40 feet. Buildings may exceed this limitation 
if the horizontal plane of any street-facing façade of a building is broken into modules that give the 
appearance or illusion of smaller, individual buildings. Each module should satisfy the following 
suggested guidelines that give the appearance of separate, individual buildings:  

1.  Each module should be no greater than 30 feet and no less than ten feet in width and should be 
distinguished from adjacent modules by variation in the wall plane of at least 16 inches depth. For 
buildings three or more stories in height the width module may be increased to 40 feet.  

2.  Each module should have a corresponding change in roof line for the purpose of separate 
architectural identity.  

3.  Each module should be distinguished from the adjacent module by at least one of the following 
means:  

(i)  Variation in material colors, types, textures.  

(ii)  Variation in the building and/or parapet height.  

(iii)   Variation in the architectural details such as decorative banding, reveals, stones or tile accent.  

(iv)   Variation in window pattern.  

(v)  Variation in the use of balconies and recesses.  

e.  Balconies and exterior walkways, corridors and lifts serving multi-unit residences.  

1.  Exterior stairways refer to stairways that lead to floors and dwelling units of a building above the 
first or ground level floor of a building. Exterior corridors refer to unenclosed corridors located 
above the first floor or ground level floor of a building. Balconies and exterior stairways, exterior 
corridors and exterior lifts must comply with the following:  

(i)  Materials must generally match or be complementary to the building materials utilized on that 
portion of a building where the exterior corridor or balcony is established.  

(ii)  Unpainted wooden materials are expressly prohibited.  

(iii)  Stained or painted wood materials may only be utilized if said material and coloration is 
guaranteed for long-term wear and the material is compatible with the principal building 
materials on that portion of the building where the exterior corridor is established.  

(iv) The design of any balcony, exterior stairway, exterior lift or exterior corridor must utilize 
columns, piers, supports, walls and railings that are designed and constructed of materials 
that are similar or complementary to the design and materials used on that portion of the 
building where the feature is established.  

(v)  Exterior stairways, exterior lifts, corridors and balconies must be covered with a roof similar in 
design and materials to the roof over the rest of the structure. Said roof shall be incorporated 
into the overall roof design for the structure. Alternatively, such features (stairways, lifts, 
corridors or balconies) may be recessed into the façade of the building.  

(vi)   Exterior corridors may not be located on a street-facing wall of the building.  

2.  Exterior fire egress stairways serving second floor or higher floors of multi-unit residences shall be 
allowed according to city requirements on existing buildings that otherwise are not able to 
reasonably satisfy city fire safety code requirements, provided the fire egress stairway or structure 
is not located on the front door wall of a building that faces a street. All such egress structures that 
are located on the front door wall of a building that faces a street, whether new or replacement of 
an existing egress structure, shall be subject to review by the commission and approval by the city 
council. Areas of review shall be general design, materials utilized and location of the proposed 

69



 13 

egress structure. On corner lots, if a side street-facing mandated access is necessary and other 
options are unavailable, the side-street facing wall shall be used for this egress structure. In any 
case, fire egress stairways must utilize similar materials as outlined above; i.e., no unpainted 
wooden material shall be allowed.  

f.  Building materials for multiple dwellings, commercial, and mixed-use buildings.  

1.  For multiple unit dwellings, at least 30 percent of the exterior walls of the front facade level of a 
building must be constructed with a masonry finish such as fired brick, stone or similar material, not 
to include concrete blocks and undressed poured concrete. Masonry may include stucco or similar 
material when used in combination with other masonry finishes. The following trim elements shall 
be incorporated into the exterior design and construction of the building, with the following 
recommended dimensions to be evaluated on a case-by-case basis:  

(i)  Window and door trim that is not less than three inches wide.  

(ii)  Corner boards that are not less than three inches wide unless wood clapboards are used and 
mitered at the corners.  

(iii)  Frieze boards not less than five inches wide, located below the eaves.  

2.  For commercial and mixed-use buildings, street-facing facades shall be comprised of at least 30% 
brick, stone, or terra cotta. These high quality materials should be concentrated on the base of the 
building. In the C-3 District, on street-facing facades, a minimum of 70% of the ground level floor 
between 2 and 10 feet in height above the adjacent ground level shall consist of clear and 
transparent storefront windows and doors that allow views into the interior of the store. Exceptions 
may be allowed for buildings on corner lots where window coverage should be concentrated at the 
corner, but may be reduced along the secondary street façade. The bottom of storefront windows 
shall be no more than 2 feet above the adjacent ground level, except along sloping sites, where 
this standard shall be met to the extent possible so that views into the interior of the store are 
maximized and blank walls are avoided. 

3. Any portion of a building with a side street façade must be constructed using similar materials and 
similar proportions and design as the front facade.  

4.  Exposed, unpainted or unstained lumber materials are prohibited along any facade that faces a 
street-side lot line (i.e., public street frontage).  

5.  Where an exterior wall material changes along the horizontal plane of a building, the material 
change must occur on an inside corner of the building.  

6.  For buildings where the exterior wall material on the side of the building is a different material than 
what is used on the street facing or wall front, the street facing or wall front material must wrap 
around the corners to the alternate material side of the building at least three additional feet.  

7.  Where an exterior wall material changes along the vertical plane of the building, the materials must 
be separated by a horizontal band such as a belt course, soldier course, band board or other trim 
to provide a transition from one material to another.  

(7) Commercial district. The College Hill neighborhood commercial district is defined by the boundaries of the C-3 
Commercial District. The district is made up primarily of commercial buildings and mixed-use buildings. 
However, some properties are occupied or may be occupied in the future by residential buildings Residential 
buildings are to be discouraged due to the limited area available for commercial uses. Standards for 
residential buildings are set forth below. Dwelling units are permitted on upper floor(s) of mixed-use 
buildings, as set forth below. Certain uses are considered conditional uses or prohibited uses in the College 
Hill Neighborhood commercial district, as specified below.  

a.   Residential buildings. Residential uses buildings are allowable within the district subject to planning and 
zoning commission and city council review and approval. In general, residential buildings are to be 
discouraged within the commercial district due to the limited area available for commercial 
establishments. In those cases where a residential building is permitted, it will be governed by minimum 
lot area, lot width and building setback requirements as specified in the R-4 residential zoning district. In 

70



 14 

addition, all other applicable requirements pertaining to substantial improvements or new construction of 
any residential building shall conform to the requirements of this section, including on-site parking, 
landscaping, and building setbacks, with no vehicular parking allowed in the required front and side 
yards, said required yards being those as defined within the R-4 residential district.  

b.  Residential dwelling units within Mixed Use Buildings. Residential dwelling units are allowed on upper 
floors of a mixed-use building. No residential dwelling unit may be established on the main floor or street 
level floor of a mixed-use building within the C-3 Commercial District. To provide safe access for 
residents of the building, there must be at least one main entrance on the street-facing façade of the 
building that provides pedestrian access to dwelling units within the building. Access to dwelling units 
must not be solely through a parking garage or from a rear or side entrance. 

c. Additional Standards for mixed-use and non-residential buildings. To foster active street frontages, non-
residential and mixed-use buildings must be placed to the front and corner of lots, and set back a 
minimum of 0 feet and maximum of 15 feet from street-side lot lines. The ground floor floor-to-structural 
ceiling height shall be 14 feet minimum. Entries to individual ground floor tenant spaces and entries to 
common lobbies accessing upper floor space shall open directly onto public sidewalks or publicly-
accessible outdoor plazas. Thresholds at building entries shall match the grade of the adjacent sidewalk 
or plaza area. Entries on street-facing facades shall be sheltered by awnings or canopies that project a 
minimum of four feet from the building façade and must be a minimum of 8 feet above the adjacent 
sidewalk. 

c.  Conditional uses. The following uses may be allowed as a conditional use subject to review and 
approval by the planning and zoning commission and the city council. The proposed use must conform 
to the prevailing character of the district and such use shall not necessitate the use of outdoor storage 
areas. In addition such conditional uses must not generate excessive amounts of noise, odor, 
vibrations, or fumes, or generate excessive amounts of truck traffic. Examples of uses that may be 
allowed subject to approval of a conditional use permit are:  

1.  Printing or publishing facility;  

2.   Limited manufacturing activity that is directly related to the operation of a retail business conducted 
on the premises;  

3.  Home supply business.  

d.  Prohibited uses. In all cases the following uses will not be allowed within the C-3 Commercial District 
either as permitted or conditional uses:  

1.  Lumber yards;  

2.  Used or new auto sales lots and displays;  

3.  Auto body shop;  

4.  Storage warehouse or business;  

5.  Mini-storage warehouse;  

6.  Sheet metal shop;  

7.  Outdoor storage yard;  

8.  Billboard signs.  

e.  Signage.  

1.  Typical business signage shall be permitted without mandatory review by the planning and zoning 
commission and approval by the city council unless a proposed sign projects or extends over the 
public right-of-way, or a freestanding pole sign is proposed which is out of character with the 
prevailing height or size of similar signs, in which case planning and zoning commission review and 
approval by the city council shall be required. All signage within the district shall conform to the 
general requirements of this zoning chapter, with the exception that excessively tall freestanding 
signs (i.e., 30 feet or more in height) shall not be allowed.  

71



 15 

2.  Exterior mural wall drawings, painted artwork and exterior painting of any structure within the 
commercial district shall be subject to review by the planning and zoning commission and approval 
by the city council for the purpose of considering scale, context, coloration, and appropriateness of 
the proposal in relation to nearby facades and also in relation to the prevailing character of the 
commercial district.  

 

 
 
INTRODUCED:     February 18, 2019   
PASSED 1ST CONSIDERATION:      _____ 
PASSED 2ND CONSIDERATION:       
PASSED 3RD CONSIDERATION:       
ADOPTED:          
 

____________________________ 
       James P. Brown, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
________________________________ 
Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk  

72



Sec. 26-181.   CHN College Hill Neighborhood Overlay Zoning District. 

In the College Hill Neighborhood Overlay Zoning District, the following provisions, regulations and 
restrictions shall apply:  

(1)  Boundaries. The College Hill Neighborhood Overlay Zoning District (CHN district) boundaries 
are shown in the College Hill neighborhood master plan and legally described in attachment A. 
(Said attachment is not set out at length herein but is on file in the office of the city planner.)  

(2)  Purpose and intent.  

a.  The purpose of the College Hill Neighborhood Overlay Zoning District is to regulate 
development and land uses within the College Hill neighborhood and to provide guidance 
for building and site design standards, maintenance and development of the residential 
and business districts in a manner that complements the University of Northern Iowa 
campus, promotes community vitality and safety and strengthens commercial enterprise. 
New structures, including certain types of fences, certain modifications to existing 
structures and certain site improvements and site maintenance shall conform to this 
section.  

b.  The provisions of this section shall apply in addition to any other zoning district regulations 
and requirements in which the land may be classified. In the case of conflict, the most 
restrictive provisions shall govern unless otherwise expressly provided in this section.  

(3)  Definitions. The following words, terms and phrases, when used in this section, shall have the 
meanings ascribed to them in this subsection, except where the context clearly indicates a 
different meaning:  

Bedroom means a room unit intended for sleeping purposes containing at least 70 square 
feet of floor space for each occupant. Neither closets nor any part of a room where the ceiling 
height is less than five feet shall be considered when computing floor area.  

Change in use means and include residential uses changed from single-unit to two-unit or 
two-unit to multi-unit or to any increase in residential intensity within a structure (i.e., change 
from duplex to fraternity house). The term "change in use" shall also apply to changes in use 
classifications (i.e., residential to commercial).  

Fraternity/sorority means residential facilities provided for college students and sponsored 
by university affiliated student associations. Such facilities may contain individual or common 
sleeping areas and bathroom facilities but shall provide common kitchen, dining, and lounging 
areas. Such facilities may contain more than one unit.  

Greenway means open landscaped area maintained for floodplain protection, stormwater 
management and public access. Such area may contain pedestrian walkways or bicycle 
pathways but is not intended for regular or seasonal usage by motorized recreational vehicles.  

Landscaped area means an area not subject to vehicular traffic, which consists of living 
landscape material including grass, trees and shrubbery.  

Lot split, property transfer means not a subdivision plat where a new lot is being created; 
includes any transfer of small segments of property or premises between two abutting 
properties, whether commonly owned or owned by separate parties, where one property (the 
"sending property") is dedicating or deeding additional land to another abutting property (the 
"receiving property").  

Mixed-Use Building means a building designed for occupancy by a minimum of two 
different uses. Uses generating visitor or customer traffic (such as retail, restaurants, personal 
services) are typically located on the ground floor facing the street, whereas uses generating 
limited pedestrian activity (such as office or residential uses) are typically located on upper 
floors or behind street-fronting commercial uses. 

73



Neighborhood character. The College Hill neighborhood area is one of the city's oldest and 
most densely populated neighborhoods. As the University of Northern Iowa has grown the 
original single-unit residential neighborhood surrounding the campus area has been 
transformed into a mixture of single-unit, duplex and multiple unit dwelling units along with a few 
institutional uses and other university-related uses such as fraternities and sorority houses. 
These various uses are contained in a variety of underlying zoning districts (i.e., R-2, R-3, R-4 
Residential and C-3 Commercial Districts). Architectural styles vary significantly among existing 
building structures while differing land uses and building types are permitted in different zoning 
districts. When references are made in this article to preservation of neighborhood character, 
uniformity of building scale, size, bulk and unusual or widely varying appearance are of primary 
concern regardless of the nature of the proposed building use.  

New construction, including significant improvements to existing structures, shall be of a 
character that respects and complements existing neighborhood development. The following 
variables or criteria shall be used in determining whether a newly proposed construction or 
building renovation is in keeping with the character of the neighborhood:  

1.  Overall bulk/size of the building;  

2.  Overall height of the building;  

3.  Number of proposed dwelling units in comparison to surrounding properties;  

4.  Lot density (lot area divided by number of dwelling units);  

5.  Off-street parking provision;  

6.  Architectural compatibility with surrounding buildings.  

Parking area means that portion of a parcel of land that is improved and designated or 
commonly used for the parking of one or more motor vehicles.  

Parking lot means that area improved and designated or commonly used for the parking of 
three or more vehicles.  

Parking space (also parking stall ) means an area measuring at least nine feet wide and 19 
feet long for all commercial, institutional or manufacturing uses or eight feet wide and 18 feet 
long for residential uses only, connected to a public street or alley by a driveway not less than 
ten feet wide, and so arranged as to permit ingress and egress of motor vehicles without 
moving any other vehicle parked adjacent to the parking space.  

Premises means a lot, plot or parcel of land including all structures thereon. 

Residential Building: Any building that is designed and/or used exclusively for residential 
purposes, but not including a tent, cabin or travel trailer.   

Residential conversion means the alteration or modification of a residential structure that 
will result in an increase in the number of rooming units or dwelling units within the residential 
structure. The addition or creation of additional rooms within an existing rooming unit or dwelling 
unit does not constitute a residential conversion.  

Structural alteration means any alteration, exterior or interior that alters the exterior 
dimension of the structure. This provision shall apply to residential, commercial and institutional 
uses including churches or religious institutions.  

Substantial improvement means any new construction within the district or any renovation 
of an existing structure, including the following:  

1.  Any increase in floor area or increased external dimension of a residential or 
commercial structure. Additional bedrooms proposed in an existing duplex or multi-
unit residence shall be considered a substantial improvement. Bedroom additions to 
single-unit residences shall not be considered to be a substantial improvement.  

74



2.  Any modification of the exterior appearance of the structure by virtue of adding or 
removing exterior windows or doors. Repair or replacement of existing windows or 
doors which does not result in any change in the size, number or location of said 
windows and doors shall not be considered to be a substantial improvement.  

3.  Any structural alteration that increases the number of bedrooms or dwelling units. 
Interior room additions, including bedroom additions, may be made to single-unit 
residential structures without requiring additional on-site parking.  

4.  All facade improvements, changes, alterations, modifications or replacement of 
existing facade materials on residential or commercial structures. Routine repair and 
replacement of existing siding materials with the same or similar siding materials on 
existing structures shall be exempt from these regulations.  

5.  Any new, modified or replacement awnings, signs or similar projections over public 
sidewalk areas.  

6.  Any increase or decrease in existing building height and/or alteration of existing roof 
pitch or appearance. Routine repair or replacement of existing roof materials that do 
not materially change or affect the appearance, shape or configuration of the existing 
roof shall not be considered a substantial improvement.  

7.  Any construction of a detached accessory structure measuring more than 300 square 
feet in base floor area for a residential or commercial principal use.  

8.  Any increase in area of any existing parking area or parking lot or any new 
construction of a parking area or parking lot, which existing or new parking area or 
parking lot contains or is designed to potentially accommodate a total of three or more 
parking stalls.  

9.  Any proposed property boundary fence, which utilizes unusual fencing materials such 
as stones, concrete blocks, logs, steel beams or similar types of atypical or unusual 
fence materials. Standard chainlink fences, wooden or vinyl privacy fences shall be 
exempt from these provisions.  

10.  Demolition and removal of an entire residential, commercial or institutional structure 
on a property shall not be considered a substantial improvement.  

(4)  Administrative review.  

a.  Applicability. The provisions of this section shall constitute the requirements for all 
premises and properties that lie within the boundaries of the College Hill neighborhood 
overlay zoning district. This section and the requirements stated herein shall apply to all 
new construction, change in use, structural alterations, substantial improvements or site 
improvements including:  

1.  Any substantial improvement to any residential, commercial or institutional structure, 
including churches.  

2.  Any new construction, change in use, residential conversion or structural alteration, as 
defined herein, for any structure.  

3.  Any new building structure including single-unit residences.  

b.  Emergency repairs. In the case of emergency repairs required as the result of 
unanticipated building or facade damages due to events such as fire, vandalism, flooding 
or weather-related damages, site plan review by the planning and zoning commission and 
the city council will not be required for completion of said emergency repairs, provided that 
the extent of damages and cost of said repairs are less than 50 percent of the value of the 
structure. However, said emergency repairs along with cost estimates related to the extent 
of building structural damages shall be verified by the city planner in conjunction with the 
city building inspector. Said emergency repairs, to the extent possible, shall repair and re-
establish the original appearance of the structure. In the event that said emergency repairs 

75



result in dramatic alteration of the exterior appearance of the structure as determined by 
the city planner, the owner of the property shall make permanent repairs or renovations 
that re-establish the original appearance of the structure with respect to facade features, 
window and door sizes, locations and appearances of said windows and doors within six 
months following completion of said emergency repairs. Said emergency repairs shall not 
alter the number, size or configuration of pre-existing rooms, bedrooms or dwelling units 
within the structure.  

c.  Submittal requirements. Applicants for any new construction, change in use, structural 
alteration, facade alteration, residential conversion, substantial improvement, parking lot 
construction or building enlargement shall submit to the city planning division an 
application accompanied by such additional information and documentation as shall be 
deemed appropriate by the city planner in order for the planning division to properly review 
the application. The required application for any project may include one or more of the 
following elements depending upon the nature of the application proposal. Some 
applications will require submittal of more information than other types of applications. The 
city planner will advise the applicant which of these items need to be submitted with each 
application with the goal of providing sufficient information so that decision makers can 
make an informed decision on each application.  

1.  Written description of building proposal, whether a new structure, facade 
improvement, parking lot improvement, building addition, etc. The name and address 
of the property owner and property developer (if different) must be provided;  

2.  Building floor plans;  

3.  Building materials;  

4.  Dimensions of existing and proposed exterior building "footprint";  

5.  Facade details/exterior rendering of the structure being modified, description of 
proposed building design elements including, but not limited to, building height, roof 
design, number and location of doors and windows and other typical facade details;  

6.  Property boundaries, existing and proposed building setbacks;  

7.  Parking lot location, setbacks, parking stall locations and dimensions along with 
parking lot screening details;  

8.  Lot area and lot width measurements with explanation if any portion of an adjacent lot 
or property is being transferred to the property under consideration;  

9.  Open green space areas and proposed landscaping details with schedule for planting 
new landscaping materials;  

10.  Trash dumpster/trash disposal areas;  

11.  Stormwater detention/management plans.  

Following submittal of the appropriate application materials as determined by the city planner, 
said application materials shall be reviewed by the city planning and zoning commission and the 
city council to determine if the submittal meets all chapter requirements and conforms to the 
standards of the comprehensive plan, recognized principles of civic design, land use planning 
and landscape architecture. The commission may recommend and the city council may approve 
the application as submitted, may deny the application, or may require the applicant to modify, 
alter, adjust or amend the application as deemed necessary to the end that it preserves the 
intent and purpose of this section to promote the public health, safety and general welfare.  

(5)  District requirements and criteria for review.  

a.  Minimum on-site parking requirements. The following standards shall apply in the College 
Hill Neighborhood Overlay District and shall govern if different from the requirements listed 
in Section 26-220, Off-street parking spaces. 

76



1.  Single-unit residence Dwelling: Two parking stalls per dwelling residence.  

2. Single-unit Dwelling, renter-occupied: Two parking stalls per dwelling unit plus one 
additional parking stall for each bedroom in excess of two bedrooms. 

3.  Two-unit residence Dwelling: Two stalls per dwelling units plus one additional stall for 
each bedroom in each dwelling unit in excess of two bedrooms.  

4.  Multi-unit residence Multiple Dwelling: Two stalls per dwelling unit plus one additional 
stall for each bedroom in excess of two bedrooms. One additional stall shall be 
provided for every five units in excess of five units for visitor parking. 

5. Non-residential uses in the C-3 District: No parking required. 

6.  Dwelling units within Mixed-Use Buildings in the C-3 District: One parking stall per 
bedroom, but not less than one stall per dwelling unit, except as follows. For mixed-
use buildings constructed prior to January 1, 2019, parking is not required for existing 
dwelling units.  In addition, for mixed-use and commercial buildings constructed prior 
to January 1, 2019, parking is not required for upper floor space that is converted to 
residential use.  

7. Dwelling units within Mixed-Use Buildings in zones other than the C-3 District: Two 
stalls per dwelling unit plus one additional stall for each bedroom in excess of two 
bedrooms. One additional stall shall be provided for every five units in excess of five 
units for visitor parking.  

8.  Boardinghouse/roominghouse: Five stalls plus one stall for every guest room in 
excess of four guest rooms.  

9.  Fraternity/sorority: Five parking stalls plus one stall for every two residents in excess 
of four residents.  

10.  Where fractional spaces result, the number required shall be the next higher whole 
number.  

11.  Bicycle accommodations: All new multi-unit residential facilities are encouraged to 
provide for the establishment of bicycle racks of a size appropriate for the anticipated 
residential occupancy of the facility. A general suggested bike parking standard is two 
bike stalls per residential unit. For commercial projects, if lot area is available, bike 
racks are encouraged to be installed in conjunction with the commercial project.  

b.  Parking lot standards.  

1.  All newly constructed or expanded parking lots (three or more parking stalls) shall be 
hard surfaced with concrete or asphalt, provided with a continuous curb, be set back a 
minimum five feet from adjacent property lines or public right-of-way with the 
exception of alleyways, in which case a three foot permeable setback will be required, 
and otherwise conform to all parking guidelines as specified in this section and in 
section 26-220. Alternative parking lot surfaces may be considered to the extent that 
such surfaces provide adequate stormwater absorption rates, subject to city 
engineering review and approval, while providing an acceptable surface material and 
finished appearance. Gravel or crushed asphalt parking lots will not be permitted. 
However, other types of ecologically sensitive parking lot designs will be encouraged 
and evaluated on a case-by-case basis.  

2.  Landscaping in parking lots shall be classified as either internal or peripheral. The 
following coverage requirements shall pertain to each classification:  

(i)  Peripheral landscaping. All parking lots containing three or more parking spaces 
shall provide peripheral landscaping. Peripheral landscaping shall consist of a 
landscaped strip not less than five feet in width, exclusive of vehicular 
obstruction, and shall be located between the parking area and the abutting 
property lines. One tree for each 25 lineal feet of such landscaping barrier or 

77



fractional part thereof shall be planted in the landscaping strip. At least one tree 
shall be planted for every parking lot (such as a three-stall parking lot) regardless 
of the lineal feet calculation. In addition to tree plantings, the perimeter of the 
parking lot shall be screened with shrubbery or similar plantings at least three-
feet in height as measured from the finished grade of the parking lot at the time 
of planting for purposes of vehicular screening. The vegetative screen should 
present a continuous, effective visual screen adjacent to the parking lot for 
purposes of partially obscuring vehicles and also deflecting glare from headlights. 
If landscaped berms are utilized, the berm and vegetative screening must 
achieve at least a 3-foot tall screen at the time of installation as measured from 
the grade of the finished parking lot. Each such planting area shall be 
landscaped with grass, ground cover or other landscape material excluding 
paving, gravel, crushed asphalt or similar materials, in addition to the required 
trees, shrubbery, hedges or other planting material. Existing landscaping upon 
abutting property shall not be used to satisfy the requirements for said parking lot 
screening requirements unless the abutting land use is a parking lot.  

(ii)  Exceptions.  

A.  Peripheral landscaping shall not be required for single-unit or two-unit 
residential structures where the primary parking area is designed around a 
standard front entrance driveway and/or attached or detached residential 
garage. However, if an open surface parking lot containing three or more 
parking stalls is established in the rear yard of a two-unit residential 
structure, the perimeter landscaping/screening requirements as specified 
herein shall apply.  

B.  Peripheral landscaping shall not be required for parking lots that are 
established behind building structures where the parking lots do not have 
any public street or alley frontage or is not adjacent to any open properties 
such as private yards, parks or similar open areas. Examples of such a 
parking lot would be one designed with a multiple unit apartment facility 
where the parking lot is encircled with building structures within the project 
site and where the parking lot is completely obscured from public view by 
building structures.  

C.  Underground or under-building parking lots.  

D.  Aboveground parking ramps shall provide perimeter screening as specified 
herein around the ground level perimeter of the parking structure.  

(iii)  Internal landscaping. All parking lots measuring 21 parking stalls or more shall 
be required to landscape the interior of such parking lot. At least one overstory 
tree shall be established for every 21 parking stalls. Each tree shall be provided 
sufficient open planting area necessary to sustain full growth of the tree. Not less 
than five percent of the proposed paved area of the interior of the parking lot 
shall be provided as open space, excluding the tree planting areas. These 
additional open space areas must be planted with bushes, grasses or similar 
vegetative materials. Each separate open green space area shall contain a 
minimum of 40 square feet and shall have a minimum width dimension of a least 
five feet.  

(iv)  Exceptions. Internal landscaping shall not be required for vehicular storage lots, 
trucking/warehousing lots or for automobile sales lots. However, perimeter 
landscaping/screening provisions, as specified herein, shall be required for all 
such parking areas when they are installed or enlarged in area.  

(v)  Parking garages or parking ramps. All such facilities where one or more levels 
are established for parking either below ground or above ground and where 

78



structural walls provide for general screening of parked vehicles, internal 
landscaping shall not be provided.  

(vi)  Open green space; landscape areas. It is the intent of this regulation that in 
parking development sites open green space and landscape areas should be 
distributed throughout the parking development site rather than isolated in one 
area or around the perimeter of the parking lot. Trees and shrubs planted within 
parking areas shall be protected by concrete curbs and provide adequate 
permeable surface area to promote growth and full maturity of said vegetation.  

3.  Parking stalls must provide a minimum separation of four feet from the exterior walls 
of any principal structure on the property as measured from the vehicle (including 
vehicular overhang) to the nearest wall of the structure. No vehicular parking stall 
shall be so oriented or positioned as to block or obstruct any point of egress from a 
structure, including doorways or egress windows.  

4.  No portion of required front or side yards in any residential (R) zoning district shall be 
used for the establishment of any parking space, parking area, or parking lot, except 
for those driveways serving a single- or two-unit residence. For all other uses, a single 
driveway no more than 18 feet in width may be established across the required front 
and side yards, provided that side yard driveway setbacks are observed, as an access 
to designated rear yard parking areas, unless said lot is dedicated entirely to a parking 
lot, in which case a wider driveway access will be allowed across the required yard 
area to access said parking lot.  

5.  When a driveway or access off a public street no longer serves its original purpose as 
access to a garage or parking lot due to redevelopment of the property or is replaced 
with an alternative parking lot or parking arrangement with an alternate route of 
access, the original driveway access shall be re-curbed by the owner at the owner's 
expense and the parking/ driveway area shall be returned to open green space with 
grass plantings or other similar landscaping materials.  

6.  Routine maintenance of existing parking areas and parking lots, including resurfacing 
of said areas with similar materials or with hard surfacing will be permitted without 
requiring review by the planning and zoning commission and city council, provided 
that no increase in area of said existing parking area or parking lot, or any new 
construction of a parking area or parking lot, which existing or new parking area or 
parking lot contains or is designed to potentially accommodate a total of three or more 
parking stalls, occurs. Any newly paved or hard surfaced parking lot, excluding those 
existing hard surface parking lots that are merely being resurfaced, must satisfy 
minimum required setbacks from the property line or alley and must provide a 
continuous curb around the perimeter of said improved parking lot. Hard surfacing of 
any existing unpaved parking area or parking lot will require an evaluation by the city 
engineering division regarding increased stormwater runoff/possible stormwater 
detention.  

c.  Stormwater drainage.  

1.  Stormwater detention requirements as outlined in section 24-338 and in section 26-94 
shall apply to all newly developed parking lots and new building uses. In addition, said 
requirements shall apply to any existing parking lot that is resurfaced, reconstructed or 
enlarged subject to review by the city engineer. In those cases where no municipal 
storm sewer is readily available to serve a particular property or development site, the 
use of the property will be limited. The maximum allowable use that shall be permitted 
on any particular property or development site which is not served by a municipal 
storm sewer shall be limited to the following uses in Residential zoning districts: a 
parking lot; a single-unit residence; a two-unit residence; or a multi-unit residence. 
Provided, however, that the applicant shall be required to submit calculations, which 
shall be subject to review and approval by the city engineering division, that verify that 

79



the total impervious surface area on the particular property or development site that 
will exist immediately following completion of the proposed new development shall be 
no greater than the total impervious surface area on the particular property or 
development site that existed immediately prior to the proposed new development.  

2.  Soil erosion control. At the time of new site development, including parking lot 
construction, soil erosion control measures must be installed on the site in 
conformance with city engineering standards. Said soil erosion measures must be 
maintained until the site is stabilized to the satisfaction of the city engineering division.  

d.  Open space/landscaping requirements.  

1.  Principal permitted uses within the district shall provide minimum building setbacks as 
required in the zoning chapter. With the exception of construction periods said 
required front and side setback areas (required yards) shall be maintained with natural 
vegetative materials and shall not be obstructed with any temporary or permanent 
structure, on site vehicular parking including trailers or recreational vehicles, nor 
disturbed by excavations, holes, pits or established recreational areas that produce 
bare spots in the natural vegetation.  

2.  Driveways measuring no more than 18 feet in width, sidewalks and pedestrian access 
ways measuring no more than six feet in width may be established across the 
required front and side yard areas.  

3.  All newly constructed office or institutional buildings in the R-3 or R-4 districts and all 
newly constructed single unit dwelling, two-unit dwelling, or multi-unit multiple dwelling 
residential structures in residential or commercial districts shall provide on-site 
landscaping within the required yard areas or in other green space areas of the 
property at the rate of 0.04 points per square foot of total lot area of the site under 
consideration for the proposed residential development or improvement. Landscaping 
shall consist of any combination of trees and shrubbery, subject to review and 
approval by the planning and zoning commission and the city council. In addition to 
these requirements, parking lot plantings and/or screening must be provided as 
specified herein. Plantings must be established within one year following issuance of 
a building permit. This provision shall not apply to commercial uses or commercial 
structures commercial or mixed-use buildings established in the C-3 Commercial 
District.  

4.  Measured compliance. The following landscaping point schedule applies to required 
landscaping in all zoning districts within the College Hill neighborhood overlay district 
with the exception of commercial uses in the C-3 Commercial District, and shall be 
used in determining achieved points for required plantings. The points are to be 
assigned to plant sizes at time of planting/installation.  

Overstory Trees:  

4-inch caliper or greater  100 points  

3-inch caliper to 4-inch caliper  90 points  

2-inch caliper to 3-inch caliper  80 points  

1-inch caliper to 2-inch caliper  60 points  

80



Understory Trees:  

2-inch caliper or greater  40 points  

1½-inch caliper to 2-inch caliper  30 points  

1-inch to 1½-inch caliper  20 points  

Shrubs:  

5-gallon or greater  10 points  

2-gallon to 5-gallon  5 points  

Conifers:  

10-foot height or greater  100 points  

8-foot to 10-foot height  90 points  

6-foot to 8-foot height  80 points  

5-foot to 6-foot height  40 points  

4-foot to 5-foot height  30 points  

3-foot to 4-foot height  20 points  

  

e.  Fences/retaining walls.  

1.  Fences shall be permitted on properties in accordance with the height and location 
requirements outlined in section 26-93. Zoning/land use permits shall be required for 
fences erected within the district.  

2.  Any existing fence or freestanding wall that is, in the judgment of the building 
inspector, structurally unsound and a hazard to adjoining property shall be removed 
upon the order of the building inspector.  

3.  Retaining walls may be installed on property as a measure to control soil erosion or 
stormwater drainage. However, said retaining walls shall be permitted only after 
review and approval by the city engineer.  

f.  Detached accessory structures. All newly constructed detached accessory structures or 
expansions of existing detached accessory structures exceeding 300 square feet in base 

81



floor area proposed to be situated on residential or commercial properties shall be subject 
to review and approval by the planning and zoning commission and city council. Maximum 
allowable building height, size and location requirements for accessory structures as 
specified in section 26-126 shall apply. In addition to those standards, proposed detached 
accessory structures or expanded structures larger than 300 square feet in area shall be 
designed in such a manner as to be consistent with the architectural style of the principal 
residential or commercial structure on the property. Similar building materials, colors, roof 
lines, roof pitch and roofing materials shall be established on the accessory structure to 
match as closely as possible those elements on the principal structure. In addition, vertical 
steel siding along with "metal pole barn" type construction shall not be allowed.  

g.  No existing single-unit residential structure in the R-2 district shall be converted or 
otherwise structurally altered in a manner that will result in the creation or potential 
establishment of a second dwelling unit within the structure.  

h.  No duplex (two-unit) or multi-unit multiple dwelling shall add dwelling units or bedrooms to 
any dwelling unit without satisfying minimum on-site parking requirements. If additional 
parking spaces are required, the entire parking area must satisfy parking lot development 
standards as specified herein.  

i.  No portion of an existing parcel of land or lot or plot shall be split, subdivided or transferred 
to another abutting lot or parcel for any purpose without prior review and approval by the 
city planning and zoning commission and the city council. Land cannot be transferred or 
split from one lot or property to be transferred to another for purposes of benefiting the 
receiving property while diminishing the minimum required lot area, lot width or building or 
parking lot setback area of the sending property. Such lot transfer or split shall not create a 
nonconforming lot by virtue of reduction of minimum required lot area, lot width or reduction 
of minimum required building or parking lot setbacks. Said lot transfer or split shall not 
affect any existing nonconforming property by further reducing any existing nonconforming 
element of the lot or property including lot area, lot width or building or parking lot setbacks 
in order to benefit another abutting property for development purposes. This provision shall 
not apply to those instances where separate lots or properties are being assembled for 
purposes of new building construction where existing structures on the assembled lots will 
be removed in order to accommodate new building construction.  

j.  Site plan revisions/amendments. All changes, modifications, revisions and amendments 
made to development site plans that are deemed to be major or substantial by the city 
planner shall be resubmitted to the planning and zoning commission in the same manner 
as originally required in this section. Examples of major or substantial changes shall 
include, but are not limited to, changes in building location, building size, property size, 
parking arrangements, enlarged or modified parking lots, open green space or landscaping 
modifications, setback areas or changes in building design elements.  

k.  1.  Trash dumpster/trash disposal areas must be clearly marked and established on all 
site plans associated with new development or redevelopment projects. No required 
parking area or required parking stalls shall be encumbered by a trash disposal area.  

2.  Large commercial refuse dumpsters and recycling bins serving residential or 
commercial uses shall be located in areas of the property that are not readily visible 
from public streets. No such dumpster or bin shall be established within the public 
right-of-way. All dumpsters and bins shall be affixed with a solid lid covering and shall 
be screened for two purposes:  

(i)  Visual screening; and  

(ii)  Containing dispersal of loose trash due to over-filling. Screening materials shall 
match or be complementary to the prevailing building materials.  

(6)  Design review. Any new construction, building additions, facade renovations or structural 
alterations to commercial or residential structures, or substantial improvements to single-unit 

82



residences that, in the judgment of the city planner, substantially alters the exterior appearance 
or character of permitted structures shall require review and approval by the city planning and 
zoning commission and city council.  

a.  Criteria for review.  

1.  Applications involving building design review. Neighborhood character, as herein 
defined, shall be considered in all.  

2.  The architectural character, materials, textures of all buildings or building additions 
shall be compatible with those primary design elements on structures located on 
adjoining properties and also in consideration of said design elements commonly 
utilized on other nearby properties on the same block or within the immediate 
neighborhood.  

3.  Comparable scale and character in relation to adjoining properties and other nearby 
properties in the immediate neighborhood shall be maintained by reviewing features 
such as:  

(i)  Maintaining similar roof pitch.  

(ii)  Maintaining similar building height, building scale and building proportion.  

(iii)  Use of materials comparable and similar to other buildings on nearby properties 
in the immediate neighborhood.  

4.  Mandated second entrances or fire escapes established above grade shall not extend 
into the required front yard area.  

5.  Existing entrances and window openings on the front facades and side yard facades 
facing public streets shall be maintained in the same general location and at the same 
general scale as original openings or be consistent with neighboring properties.  

6.  Projects involving structural improvements or facade renovations to existing structures 
must provide structural detail and ornamentation that is consistent with the underlying 
design of the original building.  

7.  The primary front entrances of all residential buildings shall face toward the public 
street. Street frontage wall spaces shall provide visual relief to large blank wall areas 
with the use of windows or doorways and other architectural ornamentation.  

b.  Building entrances for multi-unit residential multiple dwellings. Main entrances should be 
clearly demarcated by one of the following:  

1.  Covered porch or canopy.  

2.  Pilaster and pediment.  

3.  Other significant architectural treatment that emphasizes the main entrance. Simple 
"trim" around the doorway does not satisfy this requirement.  

c.  Building scale for multi-unit residential multiple dwellings. Street facing walls that are 
greater than 50 feet in length shall be articulated with bays, projections or alternating 
recesses according to the following suggested guidelines:  

1.  Bays and projections should be at least six feet in width and at least 16 inches, but not 
more than six feet in depth. Recesses should be at least six feet in width and have a 
depth of at least 16 inches.  

2.  The bays, projections and recesses should have corresponding changes in roofline or, 
alternatively, should be distinguished by a corresponding change in some 
architectural elements of the building such as roof dormers, alternating exterior wall 
materials, a change in window patterns, the addition of balconies, variation in the 

83



building or parapet height or variation in architectural details such as decorative 
banding, reveals or stone accents.  

d.  Building scale for commercial buildings and mixed-use buildings. The width of the front 
façade of new commercial and mixed-use buildings shall be no more than 40 feet. 
Buildings may exceed this limitation if the horizontal plane of any street-facing façade of a 
building is broken into modules that give the appearance or illusion of smaller, individual 
buildings. Each module should satisfy the following suggested guidelines that give the 
appearance of separate, individual buildings:  

1.  Each module should be no greater than 30 feet and no less than ten feet in width and 
should be distinguished from adjacent modules by variation in the wall plane of at 
least 16 inches depth. For buildings three or more stories in height the width module 
may be increased to 40 feet.  

2.  Each module should have a corresponding change in roof line for the purpose of 
separate architectural identity.  

3.  Each module should be distinguished from the adjacent module by at least one of the 
following means:  

(i)  Variation in material colors, types, textures.  

(ii)  Variation in the building and/or parapet height.  

(iii)  Variation in the architectural details such as decorative banding, reveals, stones 
or tile accent.  

(iv)  Variation in window pattern.  

(v)  Variation in the use of balconies and recesses.  

e.  Balconies and exterior walkways, corridors and lifts serving multi-unit residences.  

1.  Exterior stairways refer to stairways that lead to floors and dwelling units of a building 
above the first or ground level floor of a building. Exterior corridors refer to unenclosed 
corridors located above the first floor or ground level floor of a building. Balconies and 
exterior stairways, exterior corridors and exterior lifts must comply with the following:  

(i)  Materials must generally match or be complementary to the building materials 
utilized on that portion of a building where the exterior corridor or balcony is 
established.  

(ii)  Unpainted wooden materials are expressly prohibited.  

(iii)  Stained or painted wood materials may only be utilized if said material and 
coloration is guaranteed for long-term wear and the material is compatible with 
the principal building materials on that portion of the building where the exterior 
corridor is established.  

(iv)  The design of any balcony, exterior stairway, exterior lift or exterior corridor 
must utilize columns, piers, supports, walls and railings that are designed and 
constructed of materials that are similar or complementary to the design and 
materials used on that portion of the building where the feature is established.  

(v)  Exterior stairways, exterior lifts, corridors and balconies must be covered with a 
roof similar in design and materials to the roof over the rest of the structure. Said 
roof shall be incorporated into the overall roof design for the structure. 
Alternatively, such features (stairways, lifts, corridors or balconies) may be 
recessed into the façade of the building.  

(vi)  Exterior corridors may not be located on a street-facing wall of the building.  

84



2.  Exterior fire egress stairways serving second floor or higher floors of multi-unit 
residences shall be allowed according to city requirements on existing buildings that 
otherwise are not able to reasonably satisfy city fire safety code requirements, 
provided the fire egress stairway or structure is not located on the front door wall of a 
building that faces a street. All such egress structures that are located on the front 
door wall of a building that faces a street, whether new or replacement of an existing 
egress structure, shall be subject to review by the commission and approval by the 
city council. Areas of review shall be general design, materials utilized and location of 
the proposed egress structure. On corner lots, if a side street-facing mandated access 
is necessary and other options are unavailable, the side-street facing wall shall be 
used for this egress structure. In any case, fire egress stairways must utilize similar 
materials as outlined above; i.e., no unpainted wooden material shall be allowed.  

f.  Building materials for multi-unit residential multiple dwellings, commercial, and mixed-use 
buildings.  

1.  For multiple unit dwellings, at least 30 percent of the exterior walls of the front facade 
level of a building must be constructed with a masonry finish such as fired brick, stone 
or similar material, not to include concrete blocks and undressed poured concrete. 
Masonry may include stucco or similar material when used in combination with other 
masonry finishes. The following trim elements shall be incorporated into the exterior 
design and construction of the building, with the following recommended dimensions 
to be evaluated on a case-by-case basis:  

(i)  Window and door trim that is not less than three inches wide.  

(ii)  Corner boards that are not less than three inches wide unless wood clapboards 
are used and mitered at the corners.  

(iii)  Frieze boards not less than five inches wide, located below the eaves.  

2.  For commercial and mixed-use buildings, street-facing facades shall be comprised of 
at least 30% brick, stone, or terra cotta. These high quality materials should be 
concentrated on the base of the building. In the C-3 District, on street-facing facades, 
a minimum of 70% of the ground level floor between 2 and 10 feet in height above the 
adjacent ground level shall consist of clear and transparent storefront windows and 
doors that allow views into the interior of the store. Exceptions may be allowed for 
buildings on corner lots where window coverage should be concentrated at the corner, 
but may be reduced along the secondary street façade. The bottom of storefront 
windows shall be no more than 2 feet above the adjacent ground level, except along 
sloping sites, where this standard shall be met to the extent possible so that views into 
the interior of the store are maximized and blank walls are avoided. 

3. Any portion of a building with a side street façade must be constructed using similar 
materials and similar proportions and design as the front facade.  

3.  In those cases where the developer of the property chooses not to utilize at least 30 
percent masonry finish as specified above, the developer shall be required to 
incorporate building scale specifications outlined in this subsection (6)(f)3, pertaining 
to articulation of bays, projections and recesses.  

4.  Exposed, unpainted or unstained lumber materials are prohibited along any facade 
that faces a street-side lot line (i.e., public street frontage).  

5.  Where an exterior wall material changes along the horizontal plane of a building, the 
material change must occur on an inside corner of the building.  

6.  For buildings where the exterior wall material on the side of the building is a different 
material than what is used on the street facing or wall front, the street facing or wall 
front material must wrap around the corners to the alternate material side of the 
building at least three additional feet.  

85



7.  Where an exterior wall material changes along the vertical plane of the building, the 
materials must be separated by a horizontal band such as a belt course, soldier 
course, band board or other trim to provide a transition from one material to another.  

(7) Commercial district. The College Hill neighborhood commercial district is defined by the 
boundaries of the C-3 Commercial District. The district is made up primarily of commercial 
buildings and mixed-use buildings.uses as the principal uses on individual properties. However, 
some properties are occupied or may be occupied in the future by residential uses buildings that 
serve as the principal permitted use on individual properties. Residential buildings uses 
established on individual properties as the principal use are to be discouraged due to the limited 
area available for commercial uses. Standards for residential buildings are set forth below. 
Dwelling units are permitted on upper floor(s) of mixed-use buildings, as set forth below. Certain 
uses are considered conditional uses or prohibited uses in the College Hill Neighborhood 
commercial district, as specified below. In some cases residential uses may be contained within 
principal commercial uses and in such cases the residential uses are considered to be 
secondary or accessory uses to the principal commercial use on the property.  

a.   Principal permitted Residential buildings uses. Principal permitted Residential uses buildings 
are allowable within the district subject only to planning and zoning commission and city 
council review and approval. In general, principal permitted residential uses residential 
buildings are to be discouraged from being established within the commercial district due 
to the limited area available for commercial establishments. In those cases where a 
residential use building is permitted and said use serves as the principal use on an 
individual property, that residential use it will be governed by minimum lot area, lot width 
and building setback requirements as specified in the R-4 residential zoning district. In 
addition, all other applicable requirements pertaining to substantial improvements or new 
construction of any principal permitted residential use building shall conform to the 
requirements of this section, including on-site parking, landscaping, and building setbacks, 
with no vehicular parking allowed in the required front and side yards, said required yards 
being those as defined within the R-4 residential district.  

b.  Residential dwelling units within Mixed Use Buildings. Secondary or accessory residential 
uses. Secondary or accessory residential uses to be established on the upper floors of 
principal permitted commercial uses are allowed. On-site parking will not be required for 
secondary, accessory residential uses. Residential dwelling units are allowed on upper 
floors of a mixed-use building. No accessory or secondary residential use dwelling unit 
may be established on the main floor or street level floor of a mixed-use building of any 
storefront or commercial shop front of a principal permitted commercial building structure 
within the C-3 Commercial District. Planning and zoning commission and city council 
review relating to the establishment of secondary or accessory residential uses shall not be 
required unless the property owner proposes to utilize any portion of the ground floor area 
of a commercial use on a property for residential purposes. To provide safe access for 
residents of the building, there must be at least one main entrance on the street-facing 
façade of the building that provides pedestrian access to dwelling units within the building. 
Access to dwelling units must not be solely through a parking garage or from a rear or side 
entrance. 

c. Additional Standards for mixed-use and non-residential buildings. To foster active street 
frontages, non-residential and mixed-use buildings must be placed to the front and corner 
of lots, and set back a minimum of 0 feet and maximum of 15 feet from street-side lot lines. 
The ground floor floor-to-structural ceiling height shall be 14 feet minimum. Entries to 
individual ground floor tenant spaces and entries to common lobbies accessing upper floor 
space shall open directly onto public sidewalks or publicly-accessible outdoor plazas. 
Thresholds at building entries shall match the grade of the adjacent sidewalk or plaza area. 
Entries on street-facing facades shall be sheltered by awnings or canopies that project a 
minimum of four feet from the building façade and must be a minimum of 8 feet above the 
adjacent sidewalk. 

86



c.  Conditional uses. The following uses may be allowed as a conditional use subject to review 
and approval by the planning and zoning commission and the city council. The proposed 
use must conform to the prevailing character of the district and such use shall not 
necessitate the use of outdoor storage areas. In addition such conditional uses must not 
generate excessive amounts of noise, odor, vibrations, or fumes, or generate excessive 
amounts of truck traffic. Examples of uses that may be allowed subject to approval of a 
conditional use permit are:  

1.  Printing or publishing facility;  

2.   Limited manufacturing activity that is directly related to the operation of a retail 
business conducted on the premises;  

3.  Home supply business.  

d.  Prohibited uses. In all cases the following uses will not be allowed within the C-3 
Commercial District either as permitted or conditional uses:  

1.  Lumber yards;  

2.  Used or new auto sales lots and displays;  

3.  Auto body shop;  

4.  Storage warehouse or business;  

5.  Mini-storage warehouse;  

6.  Sheet metal shop;  

7.  Outdoor storage yard;  

8.  Billboard signs.  

e.  Signage.  

1.  Typical business signage shall be permitted without mandatory review by the planning 
and zoning commission and approval by the city council unless a proposed sign 
projects or extends over the public right-of-way, or a freestanding pole sign is 
proposed which is out of character with the prevailing height or size of similar signs, in 
which case planning and zoning commission review and approval by the city council 
shall be required. All signage within the district shall conform to the general 
requirements of this zoning chapter, with the exception that excessively tall 
freestanding signs (i.e., 30 feet or more in height) shall not be allowed.  

2.  Exterior mural wall drawings, painted artwork and exterior painting of any structure 
within the commercial district shall be subject to review by the planning and zoning 
commission and approval by the city council for the purpose of considering scale, 
context, coloration, and appropriateness of the proposal in relation to nearby facades 
and also in relation to the prevailing character of the commercial district.  

(Ord. No. 2922, § 1(29-160), 5-7-2018)  

 

87



 

 
 

College Hill Partnership 

2304 College Street 

Po Box 974 

Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 

 

Phone: 319-273-6882 

collegehillpartnership@gmail.com 

www.collegehillpartnership.org 

 

ㅡ 

2018-2019 

Board of Directors 

Kamyar Enshayan, President 

Dave Deibler, Vice President 

Becky Hawbaker, Secretary 

Doug Johnson, Treasurer 

Brent Dahlstrom 

Andrea Geary 

Andrew Stensland 

Andy Fuchtman 

Barb Schilf 

Chris Martin 

Chris Wernimont 

 

 

 

11 March 2018 

Members of the Planning and Zoning Commission 

220 Clay Street 

Cedar Falls, IA 50613 

 

 
Dear Members of the Planning and Zoning Commission, 

First off we would like to thank you for all the time and due diligence you have taken 

with these code amendments.  The proposed Zoning Code Amendments are a great way 

to clarify the ambiguous language in the current code for the College Hill Overlay 

District. These code amendments provide clear guidance to City officials, the public, 

and developers alike.    

We would encourage you to take these three points into consideration: 

1. We urge you to support the additional amendments put forth to you by members of 

the City Council.  We would like to see approval of these amendments to continue the 

vision of the City of Cedar Falls 2020 Plan and the College Hill Partnership vision to 

promote and revitalize the College Hill Business District into a thriving, walkable, 

commercial hub where neighbors, visitors, students, and citizens can enjoy our diverse 

district.   

2. We request you do not hold up these code changes for the public parking study to be 

completed.  It is important to remember this parking study is reviewing how public 

parking is currently being used and enforced.  It will make suggestions regarding our 

public parking on the Hill.  It is our understanding there will not be recommendations 

given by the experts on how city code for private developments should be written going 

forward.   

3.  Review current enforcement of the public parking on the Hill.  It is our belief any 

concerns that have been voiced about the public parking on the Hill could be remedied 

or at least improved if the current enforcement of these lots was consistent.   

Thank you for your dedication to issues such of this and for your time spent to support 

and serve the City of Cedar Falls.   

 

Kamyar Enshayan, President         Kathryn Sogard, Executive Director 

 

 

88



1 

 

   DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE AND BUSINESS OPERATIONS 

 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

220 CLAY STREET 

CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 

PHONE 319-273-8600 

FAX 319-268-5126 
 

    M E M O R A N D U M 
Legal Services Division 

  

 

  

 

 

 

 TO: Mayor Brown, City Council 

    

        FROM:       Kevin Rogers, City Attorney  

 

 DATE: March 26, 2019 
 

 SUBJECT: Recodification Ordinance 
 
 
On the agenda for the April 1, 2019 regular Council meeting are alternatives regarding the 
second reading of the of the ordinance approving the changes to the Cedar Falls Code of 
Ordinances through the process of recodification.  One alternative is simply the second reading 
of the recodification ordinance.  The second alternative is to suspend Council rules requiring that 
ordinances be considered at three separate council meetings followed by second and third 
readings of the recodification ordinance during the same meeting. 
 
You will recall that Council members were provided with a Memorandum explaining the changes 
to the Code of Ordinances a few weeks prior to the first reading of the recodification ordinance 
and the recodification ordinance was passed unanimously by Council upon its first consideration 
on March 18, 2019. 
 
I am requesting that Council rules be suspended and that the recodification ordinance be 
considered for final passage during the April 1, 2019 regular Council meeting for a number of 
reasons.  First, many contracts entered into by the City cite to the Code of Ordinances, which is 
a challenge during this period of adoption.  These contracts are developed over a period of time 
and some are time sensitive, so which version of the Code of Ordinances is to be cited in these 
contracts is problematic.  Also, there are ordinance changes not specifically related to 
recodification that also cite to the Code of Ordinances, which makes adoption of these other 
ordinance changes problematic. If the wrong code version is cited, depending upon the timing of 
adoption of these other ordinances and final passage of recodification, the process for adoption 
of these other ordinances would need to start over.  We are also working on reorganization 
ordinance changes and the sooner the new Code is adopted, the better for that project, which 
we hope to have in place by the end of this fiscal year. 
 
Any motion to suspend Council’s rules for passage of an ordinance must pass by a three-fourths 
vote of all Council members (i.e. 6 aye votes).  If a motion to suspend is passed then the vote on 
the recodification ordinance would proceed with a simple majority required for passage. 
 
Thank you for your consideration. 
  
 

89



ORDINANCE NO. 2937 

 

AN ORDINANCE ADOPTING AND ENACTING A NEW CODE FOR THE CITY OF 

CEDAR FALLS, IOWA; PROVIDING FOR THE REPEAL OF CERTAIN 

ORDINANCES NOT INCLUDED THEREIN; PROVIDING A PENALTY FOR THE 

VIOLATION THEREOF; PROVIDING FOR THE MANNER OF AMENDING SUCH 

CODE; AND PROVIDING WHEN SUCH CODE AND THIS ORDINANCE SHALL 

BECOME EFFECTIVE. 

 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA: 
 
Section 1. The Code entitled "Code of Ordinances, City of Cedar Falls, Iowa," published by 
Municipal Code Corporation, consisting of chapters 1 through 26, each inclusive, is adopted. 
 
Section 2.  All ordinances of a general and permanent nature enacted on or before June 18, 2018, 
and not included in the Code or recognized and continued in force by reference therein, are 
repealed. 
 
Section 3. The repeal provided for in section 2 hereof shall not be construed to revive any ordinance 
or part thereof that has been repealed by a subsequent ordinance that is repealed by this ordinance. 
 
Section 4. Unless another penalty is expressly provided, every person convicted of a violation of any 
provision of the Code or any ordinance, rule or regulation adopted or issued in pursuance thereof 
shall be punished by a fine of not less than $65.00, but not in excess of $625.00, or imprisonment 
for not in excess of 30 days, or both such a fine and such imprisonment. The penalty provided by 
this section, unless another penalty is expressly provided, shall apply to the amendment of any 
Code section, whether or not such penalty is reenacted in the amendatory ordinance. In addition to 
the penalty prescribed above, the city may pursue other remedies such as abatement of nuisances, 
injunctive relief and revocation of licenses or permits.  
 
Section 5.  Additions or amendments to the Code when passed in such form as to indicate the 
intention of the city to make the same a part of the Code shall be deemed to be incorporated in the 
Code, so that reference to the Code includes the additions and amendments. 
 
Section 6. Ordinances adopted after June 18, 2018 that amend or refer to ordinances that have 
been codified in the Code shall be construed as if they amend or refer to like provisions of the Code. 
 
INTRODUCED:     March 18, 2019    

PASSED 1ST CONSIDERATION:   March 18, 2019    

PASSED 2ND CONSIDERATION:       

PASSED 3RD CONSIDERATION:       

ADOPTED:          

 
 

_____________________________ 
                                                                          James P. Brown, Mayor 

ATTEST: 
 
____________________________________ 
Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 

90



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Prepared by: David Sturch, Planner III, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, IA 50613 (319) 273-8600 

 

 

ORDINANCE NO. 2938 

 

AN ORDINANCE REPEALING SECTION 29-107,  

DISTRICT BOUNDARIES OF DIVISION I GENERALLY  

OF ARTICLE III DISTRICT AND DISTRICT  

REGULATIONS OF CHAPTER TWENTY-NINE (29) 

ZONING, OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES, OF THE 

COTY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, AND RE-ENACTING 

SAID SECTION 29-107 OF SAID ORDINANCE, AS 

AMENDED, SO AS TO APPLY AND INCLUDE TO THE  

CHANGE IN THE ZONING MAP OF THE CITY OF  

CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, AS PROVIDED BY THIS ORDINANCE 

 

 WHEREAS, the City Planning and Zoning Commission of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, 

finds that the rezoning is consistent with the adopted Comprehensive Plan of the City of Cedar Falls 

and therefore has recommended to the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, that all that area 

described as follows shall be removed from the A-1 Agricultural Zoning District and placed in the 

RP Planned Residence Zoning District, as follows: 

 

A PARCEL IN LOT 2 OF ROBINSON'S MINOR PLAT OF PART OF THE NORTHWEST 

QUARTER OF SECTION 15, TOWNSHIP 89 NORTH, RANGE 14 WEST OF THE 5TH P.M., 

BLACK HAWK COUNTY, IOWA, AND MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: 

  

COMMENCING AT THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF SAID SECTION; 

 

THENCE NORTH 89°49'32" EAST (ASSUMED BEARING), 75.00 FEET ALONG THE NORTH 

LINE OF SAID SECTION TO THE NORTHERLY EXTENSION OF THE WEST LINE OF LOT 2 

OF ROBINSON'S MINOR PLAT OF PART OF THE NORTHWEST QUARTER OF SAID 

SECTION; THENCE SOUTH 00°00'06" EAST, 33.00 FEET ALONG SAID WEST EXTENSION 

LINE TO THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF SAID LOT 2 AND THE POINT OF BEGINNING; 

THENCE NORTH 89°49'32" EAST, 795.34 FEET ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF SAID LOT 2 

TO THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF LOT 1 IN SAID MINOR PLAT; THENCE SOUTH 

00°09'12" EAST, 275.63 FEET; THENCE NORTH 89°48'38" EAST, 223.37 FEET; THENCE 

SOUTH 00°10'46" EAST, 307.88 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 35°48'01" EAST, 410.89 FEET; 

THENCE NORTH 89°49'48" EAST, 813.81 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 00°02'24" EAST, 898.69 

91



FEET, ALL ALONG THE EASTERLY LINE OF SAID LOT 2; THENCE NORTH 50°48'28" 

WEST, 1,057.40 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 01°16'33" WEST, 145.20 FEET TO THE 

NORTHWEST CORNER OF THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER OF THE NORTHWEST QUARTER 

OF SAID SECTION AS SHOWN ON SAID MINOR PLAT; THENCE SOUTH 89°47'16" WEST, 

1,252.41 FEET ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF THE NORTHWEST QUARTER OF THE 

NORTHWEST QUARTER OF SAID SECTION AS SHOWN ON SAID MINOR PLAT TO THE 

WEST LINE OF SAID LOT 2; THENCE NORTH 00°00'06" WEST, 1,291.49 FEET TO THE 

POINT OF BEGINNING;      

 

CONTAINING 42.345 ACRES, SUBJECT TO EASEMENTS OF RECORD. 

 

And 

 

 WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, deems it to the best interests 

of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, that said proposal be made and approved; and 

 

  WHEREAS, the said Section 29-107, District Boundaries of Division I, Generally, of Article 

III, Districts and District Regulations, of Chapter Twenty-nine (29), Zoning, of the Code of 

Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, provides that the zoning map of the City of Cedar Falls, 

Iowa, attached thereto, is incorporated into and made a part of said Ordinance; 

 

 WHEREAS, notice of public hearing has been published, as provided by law, and such 

hearing held on the proposed amendment; now, therefore, 

 

 BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA: 

 

 Section 1.  That the following described real estate: 

 

A PARCEL IN LOT 2 OF ROBINSON'S MINOR PLAT OF PART OF THE NORTHWEST 

QUARTER OF SECTION 15, TOWNSHIP 89 NORTH, RANGE 14 WEST OF THE 5TH P.M., 

BLACK HAWK COUNTY, IOWA, AND MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: 

  

COMMENCING AT THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF SAID SECTION; 

 

THENCE NORTH 89°49'32" EAST (ASSUMED BEARING), 75.00 FEET ALONG THE NORTH 

LINE OF SAID SECTION TO THE NORTHERLY EXTENSION OF THE WEST LINE OF LOT 2 

OF ROBINSON'S MINOR PLAT OF PART OF THE NORTHWEST QUARTER OF SAID 

SECTION; THENCE SOUTH 00°00'06" EAST, 33.00 FEET ALONG SAID WEST EXTENSION 

LINE TO THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF SAID LOT 2 AND THE POINT OF BEGINNING; 

THENCE NORTH 89°49'32" EAST, 795.34 FEET ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF SAID LOT 2 

TO THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF LOT 1 IN SAID MINOR PLAT; THENCE SOUTH 

00°09'12" EAST, 275.63 FEET; THENCE NORTH 89°48'38" EAST, 223.37 FEET; THENCE 

SOUTH 00°10'46" EAST, 307.88 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 35°48'01" EAST, 410.89 FEET; 

THENCE NORTH 89°49'48" EAST, 813.81 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 00°02'24" EAST, 898.69 

FEET, ALL ALONG THE EASTERLY LINE OF SAID LOT 2; THENCE NORTH 50°48'28" 

WEST, 1,057.40 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 01°16'33" WEST, 145.20 FEET TO THE 

NORTHWEST CORNER OF THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER OF THE NORTHWEST QUARTER 

OF SAID SECTION AS SHOWN ON SAID MINOR PLAT; THENCE SOUTH 89°47'16" WEST, 

1,252.41 FEET ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF THE NORTHWEST QUARTER OF THE 

92



NORTHWEST QUARTER OF SAID SECTION AS SHOWN ON SAID MINOR PLAT TO THE 

WEST LINE OF SAID LOT 2; THENCE NORTH 00°00'06" WEST, 1,291.49 FEET TO THE 

POINT OF BEGINNING;      

 

CONTAINING 42.345 ACRES, SUBJECT TO EASEMENTS OF RECORD. 

 

Be and the same is hereby removed from the A-1 Agricultural District and added to the RP Planned 

Residence District. 

 

Section 2. That the zoning map of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, be and the same is hereby 

amended to show the property described in Section 1, above, as now being in the RP Planned 

Residence District, and the amended map is hereby ordained to be the zoning map of the City of 

Cedar Falls, Iowa, as amended. 

 

 Section 3. That said Section 29-107, District Boundaries of Division I, Generally, of Article 

III, Districts and District Regulations, of Chapter Twenty-nine (29), Zoning, of the Code of 

Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, be and the same is hereby repealed and hereby re-

enacted in the identical language as the same now is, in order that the same shall apply to and include 

the change hereby made in the zoning map of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa. 

 

 

INTRODUCED:     March 18, 2019   

PASSED 1ST CONSIDERATION:   March 18, 2019   

PASSED 2ND CONSIDERATION:       

PASSED 3RD CONSIDERATION:       

ADOPTED:          

 

____________________________ 

       James P. Brown, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

 

________________________________ 

Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk  

93



On Thu, Mar 28, 2019 at 1:03 PM Jayme Neiman Renfro wrote: 

 

Good afternoon,  

 

I am sincerely sorry for my absence recently. I have had a series of issues taking up my time and 

attention. The Arts and Culture Board deserves someone who can be more present. As much as I 

have loved being part of the organization, I regretfully submit this letter in resignation. 

 

Thank you for your understanding. 

 

Jayme 

 

94



COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE 
City Hall – Council Chambers  

March 18, 2019 
 

The Committee of the Whole met in the Council Chambers at 5:55 p.m. on March 18, 2019, 
with the following Committee persons in attendance:  Mayor Jim Brown, Tom Blanford, Frank 
Darrah, Susan deBuhr, Daryl Kruse, Mark Miller, and David Wieland.  Rob Green was absent.  
Staff members attended from all City Departments. Tom Nelson with the Waterloo Courier also 
attended.  

Mayor Brown called the meeting to order and introduced the first item on the agenda, 
Pavement Management.  Chase Schrage Principal Engineer reviewed the Pavement 
Management Program.  He stated these projects will be funded from Local Option Sales Tax.  
He explained there are some streets which will have full-depth reconstruction, some will be 
restored and others will have an overlay/seal coat process done.  Mr. Schrage explained 
engineering staff reviews the entire city and visually evaluates the roadways.  They have 
completed this each year since 1991.  He explained during the review they look at the 
complete streets and pedestrian/bike plan.  He reviewed the streets which will be completed in 
2020.  Matt Tolan Civil Engineer II, reviewed the outlook for 2021 – 2023.  He stated this is the 
tentative plan for now, and these roadways will be reviewed each year and could move up or 
down in the schedule as needed.  Mayor Brown opened it up for discussion.  Brian Heath 
Public Works Parks Manager stated due to the freeze thaw cycle, pot holes are prevalent.  He 
explained they were out this past weekend to repair a few major ones and will complete more 
permanent repairs with a hot mix when the weather permits.   Daryl Kruse motioned to approve 
the 2020-2023 Pavement Management Plan, seconded by Tom Blanford.  The motion carried 
unanimously.  Daryl Kruse motioned to proceed to final design on the 2020 projects, seconded 
by Susan deBuhr.  The motion carried unanimously.   

Mayor Brown introduced the final item on the agenda, bills and payroll. Daryl Kruse moved to 
approve the bills as presented, David Wieland seconded the motion.  The motion carried 
unanimously.  

There being no further discussion, Mayor Brown adjourned the meeting at 6:29 p.m. The 
motion carried unanimously.     

Minutes by Lisa Roeding, Controller/City Treasurer 

95



96



97



98



99



100



101



102



103



104



105



106



107



108



109



110



111



112



113



114



115



116



117



118



119



120



121



122



123



124



125



126



127



128



129



130



131



132



133



134



135



136



137



138



139



140



141



142



143



144



145



146



147



148



149



150



151



152



153



154



155



156



157



158



159



160



161



162



163



164



165



166



   DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE & BUSINESS OPERATIONS 

 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

220 CLAY STREET 

CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 

319-273-8600 

FAX 319-268-5126 
     M E M O R A N D U M 

 

 TO: Mayor Brown and City Council Members 

 FROM: Jennifer Rodenbeck, Director of Finance & Business Operations 

 DATE: March 20, 2019 

 SUBJECT: Berg and Ray Bequest Financial Management Policies 

 
You may recall that upon receiving bequests from the Robert & Shirley Berg and Kathryn 
Ray estates for the Hearst Center, the Rec facilities and the Library, financial management 
policies were established and coordinated with the Cedar Falls Community Foundation.  As 
part of those policies, the Art & Culture Board, the Park & Rec Commission and the Library 
Board are to submit to the Cedar Falls Community Foundation each year a summary of 
short and long-term program and project priorities to guide the Community Foundation on 
how to invest and manage the funds in terms of cash flow requirements.   
 
Therefore, attached is the recommendation that was approved by the Library Board, the 
Art & Culture Board, and the Park & Rec Commission.  These recommendations will then 
be submitted to the Cedar Falls Community Foundation for consideration.   
 
If you have any questions, please feel free to contact me.  
 

167



168



169



       

MEMORANDUM 

 

Date: March 11, 2019 

To: Jennifer Rodenbeck, Director, Finance and Business Operations 

From: Cedar Falls Art and Culture Board and Heather Skeens, Supervisor 

Subject: Financial Plan of the James and Meryl Hearst Center for the Arts Regarding the Robert & Shirley 
Berg Fund at the Cedar Falls Community Foundation 

Executive Summary 
As required in the distribution policy for the Robert & Shirley Berg Fund established in 2008, the Cedar Falls Art 
and Culture Board is hereby submitting our annual financial plan in regards to the Berg Funds. 

Portfolio Performance 
The Cedar Falls Community Foundation has the full confidence of the Cedar Falls Art and Culture Board.  The 
Art and Culture Board continues to approve of its investment and portfolio decisions. 

Fund Growth 
The Cedar Falls Art and Culture Board is satisfied with the historical fund growth. As there are no immediate 
short-term plans to use the bulk of these funds, we leave it to the professional management of the Cedar Falls 
Community Foundation to continue current growth strategies. 

Anticipated Withdrawals 
As noted in the Robert and Shirley Berg Fund overview, the Cedar Falls Art and Culture Board plans to utilize 
the bulk of these funds for a future capital project that benefits the James and Meryl Hearst Center for the 
Arts. This was the original intention of the bequest and we intend to honor the donors’ wishes. 

It is anticipated that the bulk of the Berg Fund will be utilized in a future building expansion or new building 
plan that is currently being revised as part of our strategic planning process. The Cedar Falls Art and Culture 
Board plans to make recommendation to the Cedar Falls City Council later in 2019 regarding future capital 
projects at the James and Meryl Hearst Center for the Arts. 

The Cedar Falls Art and Culture Board requests a minor withdrawal of $5,000.00  to be used to directly fund 
public programs and exhibitions at James and Meryl Hearst Center for the Arts. Hearst staff will appropriately 
recognize the Robert & Shirley Berg Fund in printed materials and press releases for programs and projects 
where Berg funds are utilized. Bringing attention to the Berg Fund and the role legacy funds play in 
augmenting opportunities for community engagement in the arts will hopefully encourage others to consider 
donating in a similar way. 

Sincerely,  
Kate Brennan Hall 
President, Cedar Falls Art and Culture Board 

170



 

 

 DEPARTMENT OF MUNICIPAL OPERATIONS & PROGRAMS 

RECREATION & COMMUNITY PROGRAMS DIVISION 
110 EAST 13th STREET 

CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 

319-273-8636 

FAX 319-273-8656 

www.cedarfalls.com 

 

 

 

 

 
TO: Park and Recreation Commission  
 
FROM:   Bruce Verink, Recreation & Community Programs Manager 
 
DATE:   March 1, 2019 
 
RE:   KATHRYN RAY FUND 
 
 In 2009 the City Council adopted your recommended Financial Management Policy for 
the Kathryn Ray Fund.   
 
 To assist the Cedar Falls Civic Foundation in managing the fund, we are to provide short 
and long term projections on possible needs/usage of funds.  This will assist the CFCF in 
managing and investing the resources. 
 
 Staff has reviewed needs and projected projects from our adopted Capital Improvement 
Plan.  At this time, we have not identified the need to use any of these funds for at least the next 
eighteen months.  I anticipate these funds would be saved and used for an addition to the Rec 
Center should it be determined it is needed in the future.  This could be two to four years in the 
future, depending on a number of variables.   
 
 Staff recommends that the Commission support staff’s projected usage of these funds.  
Further, we recommend that this information be submitted to the City’s Financial Services for 
review of investments prior to Council approval. 
 
 Once Financial Services provides input, the City Council will review recommendations 
prior to submission to the Cedar Falls Civic Foundation for approval.    
 
 This management process provides an opportunity for control and formal management 
of the funds and will be reviewed annually per the financial policy. 
 
 
Thank you.  
 
 
 
 
   
 

171



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT

City of Cedar Falls
220 Clay Street
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613
Phone: 319-273-8600
Fax: 319-273-8610
www.cedarfalls.com MEMORANDUM

Planning & Community Services Division

TO: Honorable Mayor James P. Brown and City Council

FROM: David Sturch, Planner III

DATE: March 25, 2019

SUBJECT: Make a Wish: Walk for Wishes
2019 Walk/Run

This office received the attached request from Make-A-Wish Iowa to place portable sign
on the north side of W. 1st Street for a Walk/Run event at Gateway Park. Gateway Park
will be the location of the start and finish line for the race. The event is on Saturday,
April 27, 2019.

The sign will be a large bull with a typical changeable-letter sign on wheels. The sign
will advertise the Walk/Run event. If approved, the sign will be located between the
Rapp Gas Station and the Little Red School house north of the recreational trail on W.
1st Street. The sign will be displayed on Wednesday, April 24th and be removed on
Saturday, April 27th, the day of the race. The sign will be placed in a location that will not
obstruct the vision of motorists.

The Planning and Community Services Division recommends approval to display a
portable sign on April 24, 2019 through April 27, 2019 for the Walk for Wishes Event.

If you have any questions or need additional information, please feel free to contact this
office.

172



From: Melanie Tournier
Sent: Monday, March 25, 2019 4:18 PM
To: David Sturch
Subject: Make-A-Wish Walk Run Event

Mayor and City Council

The Make-A-Wish Walk/Run Family Fun Day will be held at Gateway Park in Cedar
Falls on Saturday, April 27th.

The Cow with the signage on it from Randall’s will be placed on first street behind the
sidewalk between the Rapp Gas Station and the Little Red School House from
Wednesday, April 24th- Saturday, April 27th to help promote the event.

Brian Heath from the City’s Municipal Operations and Programs Department has given
us permission to place the cow on the city park property.

Thank you again for all your continued support over the years in helping make wishes
come true through Make-A-Wish!

Melanie Tournier
319-939-3344

173



I wish to go
to Hawaii 

Grace, 13
cystic fibrosis  

Register Today for the Walk for Wishes 
Superhero 5k and Family Fun Day! 

Be a hero for Cedar Valley wish kiddos by running or 
walking at the Walk for Wishes Superhero 5k and 
Family Fun Day on April 27. 

Registration $30 - includes one Dri-Fit Walk for Wishes 
t-shirt. Register and donate by April 12 to guarantee 
t-shirt size.

Registration 8:30 AM 
Event Start Time 9:30 AM 

iowa.wish.org
800.797.WISH

1. Register. Sign up today and invite 
friends, family and colleagues to join 
your team.

2. Fundraise. Tell people why you are 
supporting Make-A-Wish and ask for 
their support. Make it personal to make 
it powerful.

3. Walk. See the Make-A-Wish mission 
come to life and celebrate your 
fundraising success on Walk Day.

We believe a single 
wish transforms 
lives.

Walk for Wishes®

Gateway Park, Cedar Falls- April 27, 2019

174



YES, we will support Make-A-Wish® Iowa 
at the 2019 Walk for Wishes®:

Company Name_____________________________________

Contact Name_________________________________

Address ___________________________________

City, State, Zip_____________________________ 

Phone_______________ Fax _________________

Email______________________________________

  Share the Power of a Wish® 
 Presenting Sponsor - $1,500

   Route Sponsor - $1,000

   Water Station Sponsor - $500

   Shooting Star Sponsor - $250

The Make-A-Wish Foundation® of Iowa is exempt under Section 
501(c) (3) of the Internal Revenue Code, 

making this gift tax deductible.

Acknowledged by:

__________________________________________________ 
Sponsor Representative                 Date

__________________________________________________ 
Make-A-Wish® Representative        Date

Share the Power of a Wish® 

Presenting Sponsor -$1,500

• Designated as “Presenting Sponsor” on 
event materials including website and social 
media

• Company may set-up promotional tent/
table at the event.

• Banner – provided by company at 
registration and/or along route.

• Company name/logo featured as 
“Presenting Sponsor” on all t-shirts.

Route Sponsor - $1,000

• Company name/logo designated as “Route 
Sponsor” on event materials including 
website and social media. 

• Logo on second tier on event t-shirts.

Water Station Sponsor- $500

• Company name/logo designated as “Water 
Sponsor” on event materials including 
website and social media. 

• Logo on event t-shirts

Shooting Star Sponsor- $250

• Logo on event t-shirts

SPONSORSHIP OPTIONS

3009 100th Street, Urbandale, Iowa 50322  I  515.334.2636  I  iowa.wish.org 
Together, we create life-changing wishes for children with critical illnesses. 

Walk for Wishes®

Gateway Park, Cedar Falls- April 27, 2019

175



   DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC SAFETY SERVICES 

  POLICE OPERATIONS 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS 

  220 CLAY STREET 
  CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
 

  319-273-8612 
 

MEMORANDUM 

To:  Mayor Brown and City Councilmembers 

From:  Jeff Olson, Public Safety Services Director/Chief of Police 

Date:  March 22, 2019 

Re:  Special Event Related Requests 

Police Operations has received the following special event related requests and 
recommends approval:  

a) Street closures, Downtown Show and Shine, May 5, 2019. 

176



177



178



179



   DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC SAFETY SERVICES 

  POLICE OPERATIONS 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS 

  220 CLAY STREET 
  CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
 

  319-273-8612 
 

MEMORANDUM 

To:  Mayor Brown and City Councilmembers 

From:  Jeff Olson, Public Safety Services Director/Chief of Police 

Date:  March 28, 2019 

Re:  Beer/Liquor License Applications 

Police Operations has received applications for liquor licenses and/ or wine or beer 
permits. We find no records that would prohibit these license and permits and 
recommend approval. 

Name of Applicants:  

a) Lark Brewing, Deringer’s Public Parlor & The Stuffed Olive, 314 Main Street, Class 
C liquor & outdoor service - sidewalk café. 

b) Luxe Nail Bar, 5907 University Avenue, Class C liquor - new. 

180



181



182



183



184



185



186



187



   DEPARTMENT OF MUNICIPAL OPERATIONS & PROGRAMS 

 

PUBLIC WORKS/PARKS DIVISION 
2200 TECHNOLOGY PARKWAY 

CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 

319-273-8629 
FAX 319-273-8632 

     M E M O R A N D U M

 TO: Mayor James P. Brown and Cedar Falls City Council 

 FROM: Mark Ripplinger, Director, Municipal Operations & Programs 

 DATE: March 27, 2019 

 SUBJECT: Gold Star Family Monument Request – Veteran’s Memorial Park 

 
 On October 1, 2018, the Cedar Falls City Council approved placing a Gold Star 
Family Memorial Monument (GSFMM) at Veteran’s Memorial Park subject to 
appropriate location and fundraising. 
 The purpose of the memorial monument is to honor Gold Star Families, preserve 
the memory of the fallen, and stand as a stark reminder that Freedom is not free. The 
black granite monument features two sides. One side bears the words: Gold Star 
Families Memorial Monument, a tribute to Gold Star Families and Relatives who have 
sacrificed a Loved One for our Freedom. The other side tells a story through the four 
granite panels: Homeland, Family, Patriot, and Sacrifice. The scenes on each panel are 
a reflection of each community’s Gold Star Families and their fallen Heroes. At the 
center of this tribute is the most distinct feature of the monument, the cut out which 
represents the loved one who paid the ultimate sacrifice in the name of Freedom. 
 At their March 14, 2019 Park and Recreation Commission meeting, the 
commission reviewed a site concept plan and cost a preliminary cost estimate for the 
project. Following all questions, the commission approved proceeding with the 
fundraising portion of the project based on the concept provided by Matthias 
Landscaping.  Part of the recommendation from the commission included that no 
construction would proceed on the site until the funding for the monument portion of the 
project ($40,000) was received. 

The Department of Municipal Operations and Programs recommends that the 
Gold Star Family Memorial Monument concept plans and preliminary cost estimate be 
approved as recommended by the Park & Recreation Commission. Feel free to contact 
me if you have questions or comments. 

188



Page 1 of 3 

 

CEDAR FALLS PARK & RECREATION COMMISSION

    110 E. 13th Street     Cedar Falls, IA  50613 
 

 

 

 

 

    PARK AND RECREATION COMMISSION 

Minutes 
March 7, 2019 

                                                                                                                                            
I. Meeting was called to order at 4:30 pm 
 
II. Roll Call: 

 
Present: Blanchard, Bowman, Nixon, Mattfeld, Struck 
Absent: Lilly, Stalnaker 
Staff:  Ripplinger, Verink, Frost 

 
III. Introduction of Guests 

• Mike Butler – Gold Star Family Memorial Monument project. 
 

IV. Minutes of February 11, 2019 
• Motion by Mattfeld 2nd by Blanchard.  Approved 5-0.   
 

V. Correspondence 
• None  
 

VI. Agenda Revisions and Public Forum 
• None 

 
VII. Commission Feedback – Questions, Comments  

• Struck commented on the Courier article about the Historical Society exhibit:  Cedar Falls 
Parks & Recreation history. 

• Nixon had a question from a citizen regarding pre-purchased cemetery plots and who to 
contact regarding burial and headstone placement permission.  Ripplinger responded that 
the family members have to sign off that it is okay for this person to have a headstone 
placed on the grave.  Once a plot is purchased it becomes property of the purchaser and 
the City will not buy it back. 

• Mattfeld questioned burial plots that have been deeded to the AMVETS and to be used for 
indigent veterans. 

• Mattfeld questioned stand-alone indoor pool facility.  Verink answered that it has been 
looked at and preliminary estimates were in the 30 million dollar range. 

• Mattfeld curious how IBL is doing.  Ripplinger and Verink answered that the number are 
decreasing. 
 

VIII. Unfinished Business 
 

A. Rec Center RFP Update 

 

189



Page 2 of 3 

• Verink reported that three companies responded to the RFP that is asking for consulting 
information to find the operation and facility future needs of the Recreation Center.  The 
deadline was Tuesday so they have not had a chance to really dig into the information in 
the RFP proposals that have been received.  A committee will sort through the details and 
find which RFP may fit our needs.   

 
B. Gold Star Family Memorial Monument 
• The Commission had chosen Alternate B as the site they preferred.  At least $40,000 in 

fundraising must be met before plans move forward on construction.  Mr. Butler was in 
attendance to answer any questions.   

• Mattfeld was concerned about possible vandalism or tipping of monument.  Butler 
reported that the monument will be approximately 15,000 pounds and hopefully that will 
make it harder to tip.  Butler added that intentions are to put a light and camera near the 
monument as they did with the Freedom Rock to help with protection. 

• Bowman was concerned about Black Maples that will need to be removed.  Ripplinger 
responded that if possible they will be moved to another location. 

• Ripplinger also reported that they are looking at moving and refurbishing the eternal flame 
from City Hall when a statue of former Mayor Crews is installed. 

• Mattfeld commented that he hopes it gets to a point that is enough as not to make the 
area look too full. 

• Motion by Bowman 2nd by Mattfeld to endorse the conceptual plan for the Gold Star 
Family Memorial Monument.  Approved 5-0. 

 
 

C. Peter Melendy Update 
• Construction in the park has required it be refurbished after the levee project is complete  

The family of the original Eagle Scout project would like to see the park returned to the 
former landscaping.  Matthias landscaping is working on a plan to refurbish the park.  If 
brick is installed could match what is being considered for the update on the parkade 
pavers. Benches will be installed and the walkway will be elevated so people can look 
over the flood wall to the river.   Staff will meet with Community Main Street about options 
to continue to use the area for the seasonal Christmas tree. 
 

IX. New Business 
 
A.  Katheryn Ray Fund 
 
• The Community Foundation holds and invests money that has been donated for City 

improvement.  The Katheryn Ray fund is for improvements for recreation and art.  Each 
year staff looks to see if any of those funds are needed and that helps the Foundation 
decide how to invest those monies and remember what they are being held for.  Verink 
submitted a memo stating that those funds are not needed at least for the next eighteen 
months. 

• Motion by Blanchard 2nd by Bowman to keep the funds in investment.  Approved 5-0. 
 

X. Reports 
 
A. Recreation  
• Thank you to Brian Heath and staff for clearing the Rec parking lot of snow 
• Summer applications still coming in 
• Pool has 100 apps for 70 positions at this time 

B. Gold Star Family Memorial Monument 
 The Commission had chosen Alternate B as the site they preferred.  At least $40,000 in • The Commission had chosen Alternate B as the site 

fundraising must be met before plans move forward on construction.  Mr. Butler was in 
attendance to answer any questions.   

 Mattfeld was concerned about possible vandalism or tipping of monument.  Butler • Mattfeld was concerned about possible vandalism or
reported that the monument will be approximately 15,000 pounds and hopefully that will 
make it harder to tip.  Butler added that intentions are to put a light and camera near the 
monument as they did with the Freedom Rock to help with protection. 

 Bowman was concerned about Black Maples that will need to be removed.  Ripplinger • Bowman was concerned about Black Maples that will 
responded that if possible they will be moved to another location. 

 Ripplinger also reported that they are looking at moving and refurbishing the eternal flame • Ripplinger also reported that they are looking at 
from City Hall when a statue of former Mayor Crews is installed. 

 Mattfeld commented that he hopes it gets to a point that is enough as not to make the • Mattfeld commented that he hopes it gets to a poin
area look too full. 

 Motion by Bowman 2nd by Mattfeld to endorse the conceptual plan for the Gold Star • Motion by Bowman 2nd by Mattfeld to endorse the co
Family Memorial Monument.  Approved 5-0. 

190



Page 3 of 3 

 

• Interviews for Rec and Pool positions begin next week 
• Weather has been an issue for programs that we hold 
• Spring Swim Lessons ongoing 
• Adult Softball registration ongoing 
• New Friday Adult Softball leagues being offered 
• Questions regarding resetting program start dates for summer programs 
• Wrecking Crew has double the numbers from last year 
• Indoor Park going well 
• Lifeguard training & recertification end of month 
• Schools want an impact statement regarding effects of closing Peet pool 

 
B. Park/Director  
• 2019 Work Plan was endorsed by City Council 
• City Council also endorsed the E-Bikes on trails and approved Class I, II and III. The 

current ordinance will be modified to accommodate allowing e-bikes on the recreation trail. 
• Evaluations are ready to give to staff 
• EAB removal has gotten behind because of the snow removal 
• Steve Ravn retiring from Public Works after 46+ years 
• Pettersen Plaza fundraising has started 
• Ripplinger’s position will be advertised soon with hopes of having someone on board 

around July. After reorganization, the Recreation & Community Programs Division will be 
under Community Development and the Public Works & Parks Division under the new 
Public Works Department 

 
XI. Agenda Items - Next Meeting 

• TBD 
 

XII. Next Meeting 
• April 11, 2019, 4:30 p.m. 

 
XIII. Meeting was adjourned at 5:35 pm. 

191



Location Map
GSFMM

Alte
rn

ate
“B

”

Alte
rnate

“A”

192



Alternate “B” Location

193



194



195



Gold Star Family Memorial Monument 3/27/2019

Preliminary Cost Estimate

Item Cost Responsibility

Monument $40,000 Contractor

Excavation $5,000 Contractor or City

Concrete for Monument $10,000 Contractor

Concrete for City Sidewalk $7,500 Contractor or City

Concrete for Parking area $7,500 Contractor or City

Rough Grade $3,000 Contractor or City

Retaining Wall $13,000 Contractor

Limestone Seating $1,000 Contractor or City

Plants and Labor $6,650 Contractor

Lighting $5,000 Contractor

Seeding $3,200 Contractor

Plans and specs $1,200 Contractor

Project Total $103,050

196



197



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 

MEMORANDUM 
Planning & Community Services Division 

  

   

 

 

 
 
 

TO:  Honorable Mayor James P. Brown and City Council 
FROM:  Lisa Ahern, Planner I 
DATE:  March 25, 2019   
SUBJECT:  Amendment to Bylaws 
 
              
 
INTRODUCTION 
The Cedar Falls Housing Commission provides assistance to the City Council concerning the housing 
needs of low-income, elderly and disabled households and makes recommendations for addressing 
these needs.  This Board is governed by a set of Bylaws which were adopted in July 1994.   
 
ANALYSIS  
Bylaws of the Housing Commission have not been updated since they were originally adopted.  The 
Housing Commission met on February 12, 2019 to review the current bylaws and propose changes. 
 

 Officer Positions: Executive officer positions currently include a Chairman, Vice Chairman, 
and Secretary. City staff currently perform all secretary duties of the Commission.  
Commission members felt the officer position was no longer needed. It was, therefore, 
proposed to strike references to the Secretary position found in Article II, Section 2 and from 
Article III, Section 2.(c).  

 

 Budget: The Bylaws set forth a requirement for the Commission to submit an annual budget 
for its own operation and for the operation of housing programs.  The Housing Commission 
has no operating expenses and does not submit budgets for housing programs. It was, 
therefore, recommended to strike Article III, Section 4.  

 

 Appeal Hearings:  The Bylaws allow for the Housing Commission to hear appeals from a 
client against the action of staff.  It was recommended that this section be removed, because 
other appeal processes are in place for citizens, including the Civil Rights Commission. 
Therefore, the Commission recommended striking Article III, Section 5. 

 
RECOMMENDATION 
The Commission voted to adopt the attached bylaws. It was unanimously approved by all present and 
voting.   
 
Attachments: 
Bylaws – Redline Version  
 
xc: Stephanie Sheetz, Community Development Director 
 Karen Howard, Community Services Manager 

198



BY-LAWS 
CEDAR FALLS HOUSING COMMISSION 

 
 
 
Article I. General Matters 
 
Section 1. The name of this Commission is: The Housing Commission of Cedar  
  Falls. 
 
Section 2. The purposes of this Commission are: 
   
  a. To provide assistance to the City Council concerning the housing 

needs of low-income families and handicapped and elderly persons 
in the City. 

 
  b. To undertake special projects for meeting the housing needs of 

low-income, handicapped and elderly persons. 
 
  c. To initiate, examine and receive proposals for the improvement of 

housing conditions in the City and, when necessary, make specific 
recommendations regarding such to the City Council. 

 
Section 3. All Commissioners serve without compensation. 
 
 
Article II. Organization 
 
Section 1. Membership. The Commission shall consist of seven members appointed 

by the Mayor and approved by the City Council for two year terms. 
Minimum qualifications for membership on the Commission shall be: 

 
  a. At least 18 years of age. 
 
  b. A full-time resident within the Corporate limits of the City of Cedar 

Falls. 
 
Section 2. Officers. The officers of the Commission shall consist of a Chairman and, 

Vice-Chairman and a Secretary. The term of office shall be one (1) year. 
 
Section 3. Meetings. There shall be a regular meeting once a month and special 

meetings may be called at other times. 
 
Section 4. Vacancies. Vacancies in the Commission are to be filled through 

appointment by the Mayor, with the approval of the City Council. 
 

199



Article III. Operations 
 
Section 1. Election of Officers. Nominations are to be made at the January 

meeting, the election to occur at the February meeting, terms to start 
immediately after the election. 

 
Section 2. Duties of Officers. 
 
  a. The Chairman shall be the executive officer of the Commission and 

shall preside at all meetings, appoint committee members (with 
approval of the Commission), act as ex-officio at all committee 
meetings, call special meetings, etc. 

 
  b. The Vice-Chairman shall act in place of the Chairman in the event 

the latter is absent or incapacitated.  
 
  c. The Secretary is responsible for recording the minutes in the event 

that the staff person who does this is not present and for acting 
Chairman, if both Chairman and Vice-Chairman are absent or 
incapacitated. 

 
Section 3. Meetings. 
 
  a. If it becomes impossible for any reason to hold a regular meeting at 

the regular time, the meeting shall be reset at another time the 
same month, provided that reasonable notice is given. 

 
  b. Special meetings may be called by the Chairman or by any three 

Commissioners, whose names shall be on the call. Commissioners 
shall have a reasonable notice of a special meeting. 

 
  c. A quorum consists of a total of four members present. 
 
  d. If there is no elected person to perform the duties of an office at a 

particular meeting, the Commissioners present shall select a 
member to perform that office for that meeting. 

 
 
Section 4. Budget. The Commissioner shall submit each year, before the January 

meeting, its estimate of fiscal needs: 
 
  a. To the office of the Mayor, for its own operation. 
 
  b. To the City Council for housing rehabilitation and other housing 

 programs.  
 

200



Section 5. Appeal Hearings. An appeal by a client against an action of the staff shall 
be heard before at least one member of the Commission at a special 
meeting called for that purpose. Further appeal against the decision of the 
Commission after an Appeal Hearing may be made to the City Council. 

 
Section 46. Rules of Order. The Commission shall adopt such rules for the conduct of 

its business as it sees fit, including the selection of a published guide, if it 
so desires. 

 
 
Article IV. Amendment 
 
Section 1. These By-Laws may be recommended for amendment at any regular 

meeting, provided that such amendment was included in the call for the 
meeting. A simple majority of the total membership is necessary for 
adoption of such recommendation to the City Council. 

 
ADOPTED this 11th day of July, 1994. 
 
 
 

201



 
 
 
 

RESOLUTION NO. ______ 
 

RESOLUTION APPROVING AND ADOPTING REVISIONS TO THE HOUSING 
COMMISSION BYLAWS 

 

 WHEREAS, the Cedar Falls Housing Commission provides assistance to the 
City Council concerning the housing needs of low-income, elderly and disabled 
households and makes recommendations for addressing these needs.   
 

WHEREAS, this Housing Commission is governed by a set of Bylaws which 
were originally adopted in July 1994 and have not been updated since this time. 

 
 WHEREAS, the Housing Commission reviewed the current bylaws during its 
February 12, 2019 meeting and proposed changes to better reflect the officer positions 
and scope of duties performed. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 
OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, that the revised Bylaws of the Cedar Falls Housing 
Commission are hereby approved and adopted.    

 
 
 ADOPTED this 1st day of April, 2019. 

 
             
       James P. Brown, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
      
Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC,  
City Clerk 

202



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 

 
City of Cedar Falls  
220 Clay Street  
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613   
www.cedarfalls.com  

 
Administration Division  Planning & Community Services Division 

Phone: 319-273-8600  Fax: 319-273-8610 
 

Engineering Division  Inspection Services Division 
Phone: 319-268-5161  Fax: 319-268-5197 

 
Water Reclamation Division 

Phone: 319-273-8633  Fax: 319-268-5566 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

  

 

 TO: Honorable Mayor James P. Brown and City Council 

 FROM: Terra Ray, Engineer Tech II 

 DATE: March 27, 2019 

 SUBJECT: W. 1
st
 Street Reconstruction Project - Property Acquisitions 

  Project # RC-000-3118 
  State Project # STP-57-2(28)-2C-07 
 
The City of Cedar Falls is working with the Iowa Department of Transportation on the 
reconstruction to W. 1

st
 Street from Hudson Road to the Center/Franklin Street intersection. The 

project is in the final design phase, acquisitions of the necessary right of way needs are 
underway to meet the DOT and City’s funding years for construction. The utilities and other 
infrastructure work will be started early next year. The road construction will take place in 2019-
2020. This project includes a total reconstruction of the roadway from a four lane to a five lane 
facility. The project identifies the need for total acquisitions from three (3) properties and partial 
acquisitions from 68 properties. 
 
Appraisals and offers are gradually being sent to the properties affected by this corridor 
reconstruction project. The owners of the following properties have accepted our offer. 
 
 
Parcel # Owner Address Acquisition Type 

72 PJ Iowa, LC 1322 W. 1
st
 Street Relocation 

Reimbursement 

 
 
The City will use federal funds for the design and right of way portion of this project. Per an 
agreement with the DOT approved on August 7, 2017, the city will be the lead in property 
acquisition and design. All eligible project costs will be split 50% City and 50% DOT which 
includes engineering, right of way, construction and construction administration. The city signed 
as agreement with Snyder and Associates on September 5, 2017 for these services. Funds for 
this project are identified in the Cedar Falls Capital Improvements Program in FY18 and FY20 
under item number 91. If approved, the City Attorney will prepare the necessary closing 
documents and staff will complete the acquisition process for these parcels. 
 
Staff recommends that the City Council state their support in the form of a resolution approving 

203



the acquisitions and authorize the Mayor to execute the agreements for the W. 1
st
 Street 

reconstruction project. 
 
If you have any questions or need additional information, please feel free to contact me. 
 
xc: Stephanie Sheetz, Director 
 Chase Schrage, Principal Engineer 
 David Sturch, Planner III 
  

204



205



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
 
 
 TO: Honorable Mayor James P. Brown and City Council 
 
 FROM: Matthew Tolan, EI, Civil Engineer II 
 
 DATE: March 27, 2019 
 
 SUBJECT: Levee/Floodwall System Improvements Project 
  Project No. FL – 000 – 1975 
  Temporary Easement Agreement 
 
 
 
 
The Engineering Division is currently in construction of the Levee/Floodwall System 
Improvements Project. This project involves raising the level of flood protection along 
the length of the levee by approximately two (2) feet. The improvements to the system 
will involve both new structural walls as well as increased earthen sections.  
 
This project requires an updated temporary easement from one property in order to 
complete the repairs to the Levee/Floodwall System for the 2019 construction season. 
The Temporary Easement Agreement is attached for review. This easement is part of 
River Place Third Addition, Lot 3 in the City of Cedar Falls, Black Hawk County, Iowa. 
 
The Engineering Division recommends that the Temporary Easement Agreement with 
River Place Properties, LC. be accepted by the City Council and recorded at the Black 
Hawk County Recorder’s Office.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Xc:  Stephanie Houk Sheetz, Director of Community Development 
 Chase Schrage, Principal Engineer 
 

206



207



208



E
X

H
IB

IT
 "A

"

209



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
 
 

 

 

 
 TO: Honorable Mayor James P. Brown and City Council 
 
 FROM: Matthew Tolan, EI, Civil Engineer II 
 
 DATE: March 28, 2019 
 
 SUBJECT: Fiber Optic License Agreement 
   Aureon Network Services 
   Greenhill Road 
 
 
Enclosed is a proposed License Agreement between the City of Cedar Falls and Aureon 
Network Services to install an additional long distance telecommunications system 
consisting of fiber optic cable within the public right-of way of the City, in order to extend 
services owned by Aureon Network Services along Greenhill Road.  
 
The City of Cedar Falls has entered into previous license agreements with Iowa 
Network Services, now Aureon Network Services. The proposed License Agreement 
follows the terms and conditions set forth in the earlier agreements and is intended to 
protect the City of Cedar Falls right-of way and manage and regulate in a manner 
consistent with federal and state law. 
 
The Engineering Division recommends your approval of this proposed License 
Agreement. 
 
 
 
 
 
xc:   Stephanie Houk Sheetz, Director of Community Development 
  Chase Schrage, Principal Engineer 
 

210



211



212



213



214



215



216



217



218



219



220



221



222



EXHIBIT "A" 

 

Description of Route of Aureon (INS) System 

The facility shall consist of one (1) two (2") inch diameter High-Density Polyethylene (HDPE) duct with 96 
count fiber cable installed at minimum depths of: sixty (60”) inches below public roadways, forty-eight (48”) 
inches below private driveways, twenty-four (24”) inches below public storm sewers and public culverts, and 
forty-eight (48”) inches “plan depths” in grassed areas. The service being provided is a Long-Distance 
Telecommunication System to connect to Ethernet with service owned by Fareway. The route of the facility 
shall be as follows: 

In general terms, within the west right-of-way of Hudson Road, south right-of-way of West Greenhill Road 
(and crossing “jointly held” right-of-way of Hwy 58 with the south right-of-way of West Greenhill Road), west 
right-of-way of South Main Street Road, and north right-of-way of Bluebell Road and more particularly as 
follows: 

1. The facility shall begin at the Licensee's existing hand-hole located in the west right-of- way of Hudson 
Road at a point being fifty-five (55’) feet westerly of the centerline of Hudson Road at Sta. 1141+10 and 
being approximately sixty-five (65’) feet southerly of the centerline of the West Greenhill Road as measured 
along the centerline of Hudson Road as shown on sheet "2 of 13", Project No. 1811604", Exhibit B, a copy 
of which is attached to this Exhibit A. 

2. Thence east one hundred twenty-five (125’) to Sta. 50+50, 69’ Rt. @ 60” min. depth, below top of curbs, as 
shown on sheet “2 of 13” of said Exhibit B.   

3. Thence east twenty (20’) feet to Sta. 50+70, 70’ Rt., transitioning from a 60” min. depth to a 48” min. plan 
depth as shown on sheet “2 of 13” of said Exhibit B. 

4. Thence east one hundred fifty five (155’) feet to Sta. 52+25, 80’ Rt.,@ 48” min. plan depth as shown on 
sheet “2 of 13” of said Exhibit B. 

5. Thence east five hundred (500’) feet to Sta. 57+25, 80’ Rt. @ 48” min. plan depth as shown on sheets “2 of 
13 & 3 of 13” of said Exhibit B. 

6. Thence east three hundred seventy five (375’) feet to Sta. 61+00, 80’ Rt. @ 48” min. plan depth as shown 
on sheet “3 of 13” of said Exhibit B. 

7. Thence east twenty (20’) feet to Sta. 61+20, 80’ Rt. transitioning from 48” min. plan depth to a 60” min. 
depth below the top of the west curb of Algonquin Drive as shown on sheet “3 of 13” of said Exhibit B. 

8. Thence east forty one (41’) feet to Sta. 61+61, 80’ Rt., crossing Algonquin Drive, @ 60” min. depth below 
the tops of curbs as shown on sheet “3 of 13” of said Exhibit B. 

9. Thence east twenty (20’) feet to Sta. 61+81, 80’ Rt. transitioning from 60” min. depth to 48” min. plan depth 
as shown on sheet “3 of 13” of said Exhibit B. 

10. Thence east twenty-one (21’) feet to Sta. 62+02, 80’ Rt., to a proposed hand-hole at the southeast corner of 
West Greenhill Road and Algonquin Drive, @ 48” min. plan depth as shown on sheet “3 of 13” of said 
Exhibit B. 

11. Thence continuing east, from said proposed hand-hole, five hundred (500’) feet to Sta. 67+25, 80’ Rt. @ 
48” min. plan depth as shown on sheet “4 of 13” of said Exhibit B.  

12. Thence east three hundred seventy (370’) feet to Sta. 70+95, 80’ Rt. @ 48” min. plan depth as shown on 
sheet “4 of 13” of said Exhibit B. 

13. Thence east twenty (20’) feet to Sta. 71+15, 80’ Rt. transitioning from 48” min. plan depth to 60” min. depth 
at the west back of curb of Ashworth Drive as shown on sheet “4 of 13” of said Exhibit B. 

223



14. Thence east forty one (41’) feet to Sta. 71+56, 80’ Rt., crossing Ashworth Drive, @ 60” min. depth below 
the tops of curbs as shown on sheet “4 of 13” of said Exhibit B. 

15. Thence east twenty (20’) feet to Sta. 71+76, 80’ Rt. transitioning from 60” min. depth to 48” min. plan depth 
as shown on sheets “4 of 13 and 5 of 13” of said Exhibit B. 

16. Thence east four hundred seven (407’) feet to Sta. 76+32, 80’ Rt., to a proposed receiving pit, while 
anticipating and maintaining all @ 48” min. plan depth as shown on sheet “5 of 13” of said Exhibit B. 
Thence southeasterly from said receiving pit, sixty-three (63') feet to a bore pit at Sta. 76+93 being ninety-
eight (98’) feet south of centerline of West Greenhill Road @ 48” min. plan depth as shown on sheet “5 of 
13” of said Exhibit B. 

17. Thence southeasterly from said bore pit, three hundred five (305') feet to a receiving pit at Sta. 79+93 being 
one hundred and fifty-five (155’) feet south of centerline of West Greenhill Road @ 24” min. depth under 
public waterway and @ 48” min. plan depth as shown on sheets “5 of 13 and 6 of 13” of said Exhibit B. 

18. Thence easterly from said receiving pit, ninety-nine (99') feet to a bore pit at Sta. 80+92 being one hundred 
and sixty (160’) feet south of centerline of West Greenhill Road @ 48” min. plan depth as shown on sheet 
“6 of 13” of said Exhibit B. 

19. Thence northeasterly from said bore pit, one hundred eighty-two (182') feet to a receiving pit at Sta. 82+73 
being one hundred and thirty-six (136’) feet south of centerline of West Greenhill Road and ninety-seven 
(97’) feet west of centerline of Highway 58 and beginning of Iowa DOT right of way @ 48” min. plan depth 
as shown on sheet “6 of 13” of said Exhibit B. 
 

20. Thence easterly from said receiving pit, two hundred forty-three (243') feet, crossing Highway 58 to a bore 
pit at Sta. 85+16 being one hundred and thirty-nine (139’) feet south of centerline of West Greenhill Road 
and one hundred and forty-five (145’) feet east of centerline of Highway 58 in DOT right of way @ a 
“straight line” bore from 48” min. depth in receiving pit to, opposite side, 48” min. depth in bore pit; depth @ 
Hwy centerline shall be approximately ten (10’) feet as shown on sheet “6 of 13” of said Exhibit B. 
 

21. Thence east from said bore pit, two hundred ninety-five (295') feet, in Highway 58 DOT right of way to a 
receiving pit at Sta. 88+11 being one hundred and forty-three (143’) feet south of centerline of West 
Greenhill Road and four hundred and eighty-one (481’) feet east of centerline of Highway 58 @ 48” min. 
plan depth as shown on sheet “6 of 13 & 7 of 13” of said Exhibit B. 
 

22. Thence northeasterly from said receiving pit, forty (40') feet, in Highway 58 DOT right of way to a bore pit at 
Sta. 88+26 being one hundred six (106’) feet south of centerline of West Greenhill Road and four hundred 
and eighty-four (454’) feet east of centerline of Highway 58 @ 48” min. plan depth as shown on sheet “7 of 
13” of said Exhibit B. 
 

23. Thence east from said bore pit, six (6') feet, to Sta. 88+32, a proposed hand-hole one hundred six (106’) 
feet south of centerline of West Greenhill Road @ 48” min. plan depth as shown on sheet “7 of 13” of said 
Exhibit B. 
 

24. Thence east from said handhole, and exiting Iowa DOT right of way, three hundred forty-one (341') feet, to 
a receiving pit at Sta. 91+73, being one hundred three (103’) feet south of centerline of West Greenhill 
Road @ 48” min. depth as shown on sheet “7 of 13” of said Exhibit B. 
 

25. Thence southeasterly from said receiving pit, twenty (20') feet, to a bore pit at Sta. 91+91, being one 
hundred ten (110’) feet south of centerline of West Greenhill Road @ 48” min. plan depth as shown on 
sheet “7 of 13” of said Exhibit B. 
 

26. Thence east from said bore pit, to a receiving pit, five hundred (500’) feet to Sta. 96+91, 106’ Rt. @ 48” min. 
plan depth as shown on sheets “7 of 13 and 8 of 13” of said Exhibit B. 
 

27. Thence east, from said receiving pit, four hundred thirteen (413') feet, to a bore pit at Sta. 101+53, being 
sixty-two (62’) feet south of centerline of West Greenhill Road @ 48” min. plan depth as shown on sheet “8 
of 13” of said Exhibit B. 
 

224



28. Thence southeasterly from said bore pit, sixty-seven (67') feet, to Sta. 102+20, a proposed hand-hole sixty-
three (63’) feet south of centerline of West Greenhill Road and Sta. 52+40 fifty-eight (58’) west of centerline 
of South Main Street Road, @ 48” min. plan depth as shown on sheet “8 of 13” of said Exhibit B. 
 

29. Thence southeasterly from said hand-hole, twenty-five (25') feet, to a bore pit at Sta. 52+15, being fifty-two 
(52’) west of centerline of South Main Street Road @ 48” min. plan depth as shown on sheet “8 of 13” of 
said Exhibit B. 
 

30. Thence south from said bore pit, sixty-six (66’) feet to Sta. 51+29, being fifty-two (52’) feet west of and 
parallel with the centerline of South Main Street Road @ 42” min. depth as shown on sheet “8 of 13” of said 
Exhibit B. 
 

31. Thence south twenty (20’) feet to Sta. 51+19, 52’ Lt. @ transition from 48” minimum plan depth to 60” min. 
depth below the north top of curb of Balboa Avenue as shown on sheet “8 of 13” of said Exhibit B. 
 

32. Thence south thirty one (31’) feet, crossing Balboa Avenue, to Sta. 50+88, 52’ Lt. @ 60” min. depth below 
back of curbs of Balboa Avenue as shown on sheets “8 of 13 and 9 of 13” on said Exhibit B. 
 

33. Thence south thirty (30’) feet to Sta. 50+58, 52’ Lt. @ transition from 60” min. depth to 42” min. depth as 
shown on sheet “9 of 13” of said Exhibit B. 
 

34. Thence south two hundred twenty-two (222’) feet to Sta. 48+36, 52’ Lt. to a proposed new hand-hole, @ 
42” min. depth as shown on sheet “9 of 13” of said Exhibit B. 
 

35. Thence east from said hand-hole, thirty six (36’) feet to Sta. 48+36, 16’ Lt. @ transition from 42” min. depth 
to 60” min. depth as shown on sheet “9 of 13” of said Exhibit B. 
 

36. Thence east thirty-two (32’) feet to Sta. 324+96, 36’ Lt. (Bluebell alignment), crossing South Main Street 
Road @ 60” min. depth below the tops of curbs as shown on sheet “9 of 13” of said Exhibit B. 
 

37. Thence east twenty (20’) feet to Sta. 325+16, 36’ Lt. transitioning from 60” min. depth to 48” min. plan depth 
as shown on sheet “9 of 13” of said Exhibit B. 
 

38. Thence easterly one hundred eighty-four (184’) feet, to Sta. 327+00, a bore pit, running thirty-six (36’) feet 
north of and parallel with the centerline Bluebell Road @ 48” min. depth as shown on sheet “9 of 13” of said 
Exhibit B. 

39. Thence east from said bore pit, one hundred thirty-two (132') feet, beginning on a curve concave 
southwesterly with a radius of seven hundred twenty-five (725') feet and running concentric with the 
centerline of Bluebell Road to Sta. 328+27, to a proposed hand-hole, being thirty-six (36’) feet north of 
centerline of Bluebell Road @ 48” plan min. depth as shown on sheet “9 of 13” of said Exhibit B.  

40. Thence northerly four (4’) feet and exiting the public utility easement. The total facility horizontal length in 
City right-of-way is six thousand one hundred and forty-four (6144’) feet and six thousand one hundred and 
fifty-four (6154’) when reflecting estimated vertical and or curved alignment section lengths. 

 

225



226



227



228



229



230



231



232



233



234



235



236



237



238



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com  

 

INTEROFFICE MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 TO: Honorable Mayor James P. Brown and City Council 

 FROM: Chase Schrage, Principal Engineer 

 DATE: March 27, 2019 

 SUBJECT: Professional Services Agreement 
  Robinson Engineering Company 
  Ace Place Assessment Project 
  City Project No. ST-000-3191 
 
Attached is the Professional Services Agreement for the Ace Place Watershed 
Assessment Project between the City of Cedar Falls and Robinson Engineering 
Company. Robinson Engineering Company was selected by the City of Cedar Falls 
Engineering Division for the Ace Place Watershed Assessment Project.   
 
The City is required by our Iowa Department of Natural Resources NPDES General 
Permit to implement a watershed assessment program for all watersheds within the 
corporate limits of Cedar Falls. The enclosed agreement provides for the assessment 
services needed to perform the Ace Place Watershed Assessment Project.  
 
The cost of this agreement is $56,360 and paid for out of the stormwater fund. This is 
one of the last two watersheds or partial watersheds needing assessment over the next 
few years. These assessments have been funded in the five year City of Cedar Falls’ 
Capital Improvements Program. 
 
The Department of Community Development requests your consideration and approval 
of the Professional Services Agreement with Robinson Engineering Company for the 
Ace Place Watershed Assessment Project. 
 
If you have any questions, please contact me. 
 
 
xc: Stephanie Houk Sheetz, Director of Community Development 
  
  
 

239



240



241



242



243



244



245



246



247



248



249



250



251



252



253



254



255



256



257



258



259



260



261



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
 
 

 
 TO: Honorable Mayor James P. Brown and City Council 
 
 FROM: Chase Schrage, Principal Engineer 
 
 DATE: March 28, 2019 
 
 SUBJECT: Professional Services Agreement 
  Terracon Consultants, Inc. 
   2019 Construction Testing Services 
   EN-000-3190 
 
Please find attached the Professional Services Agreement with Terracon Consultants 
Inc, that outlines the scope of services and costs for 2019 Construction Testing 
Services. Terracon Consultants Inc was the consulting firm selected by the City of 
Cedar Falls to perform various construction testing services on local projects.  
 
The enclosed agreement provides for construction testing services for ongoing 
construction projects and allows for other professional testing services which may be 
required on an “as needed” basis.  
 
The Department of Community Development requests your consideration and approval 
of this Professional Services Agreement with Terracon for “on-call” testing services. 
 
If you have any questions or comments feel free to contact me.  
 
xc:  Stephanie Houk Sheetz, Director of Community Development 

262



263



264



265



266



267



268



269



270



271



272



273



274



275



276



277



278



279



280



281



282



283



284



285



286



287



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 

MEMORANDUM 
Planning & Community Services Division 

  

   

 

 

 
 
 

 TO: Honorable Mayor James P. Brown and City Council  

 FROM: Iris Lehmann, Planner II 

 DATE: March 28, 2019 

 SUBJECT: Rental to Single Family Owner Conversion Incentive Program: 925 W 15th 
Street 

 
The Rental to Single Family Owner Conversion Incentive Program was adopted by City 
Council on December 21, 2015.  The program offers a Forgivable Loan of up to $10,000 for 
exterior improvements to a residential rental property being purchased and converted to a 
single family owner occupied residence.  The goal is to improve and positively impact 
neighborhood character and encourage private improvements to rental properties converting to 
owner occupied. The concept of the Rental to Single Family Owner Conversion Incentive 
Program was developed initially through the City established Rental Task Force. 
 
Josh Nelson is in the process of purchasing 925 W 15th Street. The pending owner has 
submitted an application, attached, to be considered for the Rental to Single Family Owner 
Conversion Incentive Program. The property meets the requirements for the program: has 
been a rental for at least the past three years (since 2014), is located in the R-1 zoning district, 
falls within the program’s geographical boundaries, and is in a block with less than 75% 
rentals.  
 
Josh Nelson is proposing to reside the property and install three new windows. Based on the 
submitted bids by Seamless Exterior, Inc the actual cost of the improvement listed is $10,005.  
 
The Community Development Department recommends adopting a resolution approving this 
property for a forgivable loan of up to $10,000 with the placement of a lien on the property for 
which 20% will be forgiven each year for five years with prorated payback if sold prior to the 
end of five years. Half of the forgivable loan will be paid upon City Council approval with the 
balance paid upon completion of the improvements, inspections by the City of the 
improvements, and verification of the actual costs of the improvements. This approval is 
subject to the property passing a major system evaluation (city inspection) and closing 
documents being provided to staff. 
 
If you have any questions, please contact the Community Development Department. 
 
Xc:  Stephanie Sheetz, Community Development Director 
       Karen Howard, Planning & Community Services Manager 

288



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
This instrument was drafted by:  Iris Lehmann, Community Development Department, 
City of Cedar Falls, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, IA  50613, Phone:  319-268-5185. 

 
 

LIEN NOTICE AND SPECIAL PROMISSORY NOTE 
 

 
Account No. 101-2245-44-89.79 Amount  $  10,000 

 
Date:    

 
RE: Property located at: 925 W 15th Street  

and legally described as A J NORRIS SECOND ADDITION W 70 FT E 306 FT S 132  

FT OF THAT PART LOT 20 LYING N OF N LINE 15TH ST 

 
(hereinafter the “Rehabilitated Property”). 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, has advanced certain sums to the following owner or 
owners: Josh Nelson (hereinafter referred to as “Owner”), under the a Rental to Owner 
Conversion Program, which Program requires that an encumbrance be placed upon the above-
described Property, upon the terms and conditions set forth below.  
 
IT IS AGREED by the Owner as follows: 
 
FOR VALUE RECEIVED, the undersigned Owner, jointly and severally promises to pay to the 
order of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, or its successors or assigns (hereinafter the “City”), the 
sum of ten thousand and 00/100 Dollars ($10,000.00) (hereinafter the “Loan”), as follows: 
 

A. If the Property is sold or transferred within twelve (12) months of the date of this 
agreement, one hundred (100) percent of the Loan shall become due and 
payable to the City; 

 
B. If the Rehabilitated Property is sold or transferred any time between the 13th and 

24th month from the date of this agreement, eighty (80) percent of the Loan shall 
become due and payable to the City; 

 
C. If the Rehabilitated Property is sold or transferred any time between the 25th and 

36th month from the date of this agreement, sixty (60) percent of the Loan shall 
become due and payable to the City: 

 
D. If the Rehabilitated Property is sold or transferred any time between the 37th and 

48th month from the date of this agreement, forty (40) percent of the Loan shall 
become due and payable to the City: 

 
 

289



E. If the Rehabilitated Property is sold or transferred any time between the 49th and 
60th month from the date of this agreement, twenty (20) percent of the Loan shall 
become due and payable to the City: 

 
F. After the sixtieth (60) month from the date of this instrument, the entire amount of 

the Loan is forgiven and no money will be due and payable to the City; 
 
G. Owner shall own and occupy the Property as the Owner’s principal residence at 

all times during the sixty (60) month period described herein. In the event the 
Owner fails to occupy the Rehabilitated Property as the Owner’s principal 
residence for any period of two (2) consecutive months, for any reason, or sells, 
transfers, rents, abandons, vacates or otherwise in any manner fails to occupy 
the Property, whether voluntarily or involuntarily, prior to the termination of the 
sixty (60) month period described herein, Owner shall immediately notify the City 
thereof. If during said sixty (60) month period, Owner shall violate the foregoing 
requirements, Owner shall immediately pay to the City the percentage of the 
unforgiven principal amount of the Loan, based upon the foregoing schedule, for 
the period between the date of this agreement and the date Owner fails to meet 
the foregoing requirements. 

 
H. Notwithstanding the provisions of paragraph G. above, if the failure of Owner to 

comply with the requirements of paragraph G. is due to medical circumstances 
beyond the reasonable control of Owner as defined in this paragraph, the entire 
amount of the Loan shall be forgiven, and no money will be due and payable to 
the City. For purposes of this agreement, “medical circumstances beyond the 
reasonable control of the Owner” shall include, without limitation, the death of the 
Owner, and the relocation of the Owner if prescribed by a medical doctor for 
health or disability reasons, with said relocation being to another climate, to a 
nursing or other care facility, or to an apartment or other facility, if deemed by 
Owner’s medical doctor as more suitable for the health and care of the Owner. 

 
 
   

   
Josh Nelson   

OWNER  OWNER 
   

 
 
STATE OF IOWA  ) 
    ) ss: 
COUNTY OF BLACK HAWK ) 
 
This instrument was acknowledged before me on the ___ day of ________, 2019, by Josh 
Nelson. 
 
 
      _________________________________________ 
      Notary Public in and for the State of Iowa 

290



291



292



293



 

294



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 

MEMORANDUM 
Planning & Community Services Division 

  

   

 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 TO: Honorable Mayor James P. Brown and City Council 

 FROM: Iris Lehmann, Planner II 

 DATE: March 28, 2019 

 SUBJECT: MPC Development Procedures Agreement Amendment - 2910 McClain Drive, 2920 
McClain Drive, and 5609 University Avenue 

 
PROJECT:      RZ19-003 
 

 
REQUEST: 
 

Request to approve an Amended Development Procedures Agreement  

PETITIONER: 
 

James Benda 

LOCATION: 
 

2910 McClain Drive, 2920 McClain Drive, and 5609 University Avenue 

 

 
PROPOSAL 
The applicant is requesting to amend a Development Procedures Agreement with the City of 
Cedar Falls for the properties at 2910 McClain Drive, 2920 McClain Drive, and 5609 University 
Avenue. The original development procedures agreement stated that these three homes could 
only be demolished and redeveloped as a new restaurant. The proposed amendment would 
maintain the existing residential buildings, but would allow them to be wholly or partially 
converted into commercial businesses or offices that are permitted within the MPC district. 
 
BACKGROUND 
Per the City’s Zoning Code, an application to rezone 
any property to MPC zoning requires the submittal and 
approval of a detailed development site plan. On 
January 16, 2017, 2910 McClain Drive, 2920 McClain 
Drive, and 5609 University Avenue were rezoned from 
R-1 Residential to MPC Major Thoroughfare Planned 
Commercial. The rezoning of this property was 
accompanied by a development site plan and a 
Development Procedures Agreement. The site plan 
and development procedures agreement stated that 
these three homes could only be redeveloped as a 
restaurant. See approved site plan to the right. The 

295



applicant is requesting to amend the approved site plan and development procedures 
agreement associated with this approved 2017 MPC zoning district.  
 
Note: A mailing was sent to neighboring properties within 300 feet of this location on Tuesday, 
March 5th 2019 to inform them of this proposal. 
 
ANALYSIS 
These three properties are located within an MPC, Major Thoroughfare Planned Commercial, 
zoning district. The intent of the MPC district is to permit the development of a mixture of 
residential, institutional, professional office and commercial-oriented land uses in a manner 
that will result in minimal negative impacts upon adjacent low density residential zoning 
districts or residential uses. The site plans and development agreements that are approved 
with a rezoning to MPC are intended to provide clear direction regarding how the land will be 
developed to be compatible and complementary to adjacent residential neighborhoods. Any 
subsequent amendment to a site plan or development agreement approved with the rezoning 
to MPC requires review through the Planning & Zoning Commission and City Council.  
 
The area in question is located at the edge of the 
S-1, shopping center district, with an R-1, 
residence district, directly to the south. 
Properties at 5601 and 5529 University Avenue, 
directly to the east, are also zoned MPC. Both of 
these properties were rezoned from R-1 to MPC 
separately with their own developmental site 
plans.  See an excerpt of the City’s zoning map 
to the right; the three properties under 
consideration are outlined in yellow.  
 
The proposed development procedures 
agreement would allow the three residential 
buildings to continue as single unit residences or 
would allow these buildings to be wholly or 
partially be converted into commercial 
businesses or offices that are permitted within 
the MPC district. The proposed amendment 
would follow the development pattern of existing 
MPC zoning along this stretch of University Avenue. The other two MPC properties to the east, 
5601 and 5529 University Avenue, were both developed in the same fashion, with the existing 
residential buildings converted to commercial use as a hair salon and a chiropractor office, 
respectively. By maintaining the existing residential structures, but allowing them to be re-
purposed for small commercial uses, the proposed plan would provide a good transition 
between the residential neighborhood to the south and University Avenue, a major thoroughfare. 
It will also provide opportunities for small neighborhood-serving businesses that will not 
generate as much traffic, noise or congestion as would more intensive commercial uses. For 
these reasons, staff finds that the proposed change to the development site plan for these 
properties is consistent with the intent of the MPC District.  
 
It is anticipated that when specific proposals are submitted for re-use of a building, that some 
additional parking, landscaping, etc. will be required according to the minimum site requirements 
of the MPC District. These will be reviewed on a case-by-case basis depending on the specific 

296



uses proposed for the building. In addition to the development site plan a developmental 
procedures agreement must be approved that lists the specific requirements and restrictions 
that apply to this particular MPC area.  The proposed requirements and restrictions for the 
agreement are listed under the technical comments, below.   

 
TECHNICAL COMMENTS 
City technical staff, including Cedar Falls Utilities (CFU) personnel, has reviewed the proposal. 
The proposed Development Procedures Agreement, see attached, includes the stipulations 
outlined below.  
 

a) The three existing residential buildings on the Property may continue as single unit 
residences or may be wholly or partially converted into any professional office, 
professional service activity, any local retail business, or service establishment 
permitted within the MPC district. 

b) No new access points to University Avenue will be permitted.  
c) Site changes necessary for the single unit residences to be wholly or partially 

converted into commercial uses, such as widening curbs, providing cross-access 
easements, adding parking and landscaping, will not be considered major site plan 
changes and may be approved administratively according to the minimum site 
plan requirements in the MPC Zoning District and all Ordinances of the City. No 
review by the Planning and Zoning Commission will be required.  

d) If there is a proposal to redevelop the Property beyond what is described herein, a 
new development agreement will be required as well as site plan reviews by both 
the Planning and Zoning Commission and City Council.  

e) At the time that any lot within the Property is wholly or partially converted into 
commercial use, the Owner will be responsible for installing missing public 
sidewalk connections along said lot. 

f) Redevelopment shall be generally consistent with the conceptual plan shown on 
Exhibit “A”.  

g) Owner shall comply with all Ordinances of the City applicable to any 
redevelopment. 
 

The submitted development site plan, Exhibit “A” depicts the three existing residential properties 
as is, except for the property at 5609 University Avenue.  The applicant has depicted a 
proposed new parking lot for this site that would serve a new commercial tenant. The proposed 
parking lot layout meets the setbacks required for the district and shows an example of what 
type of changes could occur to the properties within this MPC District. Per the proposed 
development agreement, once approved, a detailed site plan including dimensions of the 
parking lot and landscaping will be submitted to staff for final review and approval. 
 

PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION 
Introduction 
3/13/2019 

Acting Chair Leeper introduced the item and Ms. Howard provided background 
information. She stated that the proposed plan would allow three residential 
buildings, 2910 and 2920 McClain Drive and 5609 University Avenue, to 
continue as single-unit dwellings or be wholly or partially converted into 
commercial businesses or offices. Ms. Howard  reviewed the proposed terms in 
the development agreement. 
 
Staff views the change to the MPC master site plan as positive, since re-using 

297



the existing residential buildings will ensure that the area remains in scale with 
the surrounding residential neighborhoods and will provide opportunities for 
small businesses. Staff recommends review and discussion of the amendment 
by the Planning and Zoning Commission and the public and to continue 
discussion to the next meeting for final review. 
 
Mr. Wingert asked what the allowable uses are in the MPC. Ms. Howard stated 
that it is a variety of commercial and institutional uses, such as office uses, 
professional office, small retail and service businesses, and similar. The item will 
be continued at the March 27, 2019 meeting. 
 

Vote 
3/27/2019 

Chair Holst introduced the item. Ms. Lehmann provided background information 
and reviewed the terms in the proposed development procedures agreement. 
There were no questions or comments from the public or the Commission. The 
Commission unanimously approved the recommendation for City Council to 
approve the amended Development Procedures Agreement with the City of 
Cedar Falls for the properties at 2910 McClain Drive, 2920 McClain Drive, and 
5609 University Avenue.   

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
The Planning and Zoning Commission and City Staff recommend approving the amended 
Development Procedures Agreement with the City of Cedar Falls for the properties at 2910 
McClain Drive, 2920 McClain Drive, and 5609 University Avenue. 
 
Attachments: Amended Development Agreement 
  Proposed Development Site Plan (Exhibit A)  
   
   

298



 

Page 1 of 3 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Prepared by: Iris Lehmann, AICP, Planner II, City of Cedar Falls 

220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls IA, 50613, Phone: 319-273-8600 

 

AMENDED AND RESTATED DEVELOPMENTAL PROCEDURES AGREEMENT 

 

This Amended and Restated Developmental Procedures Agreement (hereinafter called the 

“Amended Agreement”) is made and entered into this ________ day in _________, 2019, by and 

between the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, an Iowa municipality (hereinafter called “City”), and 

James Benda, who owns certain property in the City (hereinafter called “Owner”). 

 

         WHEREAS, the City and Owner entered into that certain Developmental Procedures 

Agreement on January 16th, 2017, and filed for record as File number 2017-00013570 on 

January 27, 2017, in the Office of the Black Hawk County Recorder (hereinafter called the 

“Agreement”); and 

 

          WHEREAS, the property owned by Owner which is the subject of the Agreement is 

legally described in the attached Exhibit “A” (hereinafter the “Property”); and 

 

         WHEREAS, the Agreement was required and is associated with the rezoning of the 

Property from R-1 Residential Zoning to MPC Major Thoroughfare Planned Commercial 

Zoning, which rezoning is contained in Cedar Falls Ordinance No. 2892 adopted on January 16, 

2017, and filed for record as File number 2017-00013569 on January 27, 2017, in the Office of 

the Black Hawk County Recorder; and 

 

          WHEREAS, it is the desire of the Owner to redevelop the Property for uses allowed as 

part of the “MPC” Major Thoroughfare Planned Commercial District, and not be restricted in the 

redevelopment of the property to only a “restaurant” as provided in the Agreement; and 

 

          WHEREAS, the City has determined that redevelopment of the Property for all uses as 

allowed in the “MPC” zoning district but only under the following terms and conditions will not 

materially adversely affect the Property and its surroundings, and that good cause exists to 

amend and restate the Agreement. 

   

           NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration for the mutual covenants hereinafter contained the 

City and the Owner agree as follows: 

 

299



 

Page 2 of 3 
 

1. The Agreement is hereby amended by striking it in its entirety and substituting the 

following provisions in lieu thereof, so as to restate the Agreement, as follows: 

 

2. Owner may redevelop the Property for all uses allowed as part of the “MPC” 

Major Thoroughfare Planned Commercial District on the following conditions: 

 

a.  The three existing residential buildings on the Property may continue as single 

unit residences or may be wholly or partially converted into any professional 

office, professional service activity,  any local retail business, or service 

establishment permitted within the MPC district. 

                        b.  No new access points to University Avenue will be permitted.  

      c.  Site changes necessary for the single unit residences to be wholly or partially 

converted into commercial uses, such as widening curbs, providing cross-

access easements, adding parking and landscaping, will not be considered 

major site plan changes and may be approved administratively according to the 

minimum site plan requirements in the MPC Zoning District and all 

Ordinances of the City. No review by the Planning and Zoning Commission 

will be required.  

      d.  If there is a proposal to redevelop the Property  beyond what is described 

herein, a new development agreement will be required as well as site plan 

reviews by both the Planning and Zoning Commission and City Council.  

 

                        e.  At the time that any lot within the Property is wholly or partially converted 

into commercial use, the Owner will be responsible for installing missing 

public sidewalk connections along said lot. 

 

                        f.  Redevelopment shall be generally consistent with the conceptual plan shown 

on Exhibit “A”.  

 

                        g.  Owner shall comply with all Ordinances of the City applicable to any 

redevelopment. 

 

3.  This agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be binding upon the Owner and 

Owner’s successors or assigns.  

 

Owner 

 

By: ____________________________ 

James Benda 

300



 

Page 3 of 3 
 

City  

 

By: ____________________________ 

James P. Brown 

 

ATTEST: 

 

By: ____________________________ 

Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 

301



302



 

 

DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com  

 

INTEROFFICE MEMORANDUM 

Administration Division 

  

  

 

 

  

 
 TO: Honorable Mayor James P. Brown and City Council  

 FROM: Karen Howard, Planning and Community Services Manager 

 DATE: March 28, 2019 

 SUBJECT: CDBG – Rehabilitation Projects – Bid Opening 
  2923 Valley High Dr – Project No. 1-19-671 
  1509 Main Street – Project No. 1-19-672 
   
 
Cedar Falls is a recipient of Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) and HOME 
funds that supports several programs, including housing rehabilitations or housing 
repairs for income-qualifying residents. 
 
In February 2019, bids were let for rehabilitation projects at 2923 Valley High Drive and 
1509 Main Street. The owners of these properties all meet the program’s income 
requirements. These projects are intended to contribute to the livability of the homes. On 
Monday, March 11, 2019 at 9:00 AM, bids were received and opened for the two 
rehabilitation projects. Bid results are shown in the table below:  
 

2923 Valley High Drive 
Bid Total Hard Costs 

Lead Hazard 
Reduction 
Costs 

Brothers Construction $15,583 $14,883 $700 

Connerley Construction $15,545 $14,745 $800 

 

1509 Main Street 

(determined historic) Bid Total Hard Costs 
Lead Hazard 
Reduction Costs 

Connerley 

Construction 
$16,993 $16,133 $800 

 
The Building Official's estimates were $16,590 and $11,100 for 2923 Valley High Drive 
and 1509 Main Street, respectively. These estimates included both rehabilitation hard 
costs (no more than $20,000 per home) and lead hazard reduction costs. Connerley 
Construction submitted the low bids in the amounts of $15,545 and $16,993, 
respectively. 

303



 

 

 
As a result of the competitive bids, the Housing Commission and City Staff recommends 
acceptance of the low bid(s) and entering into contracts, attached, with Connerley 
Construction in the amounts of $15,545 and $16,993, respectively.  
 
Please contact me with any questions.  Thank you. 
 
XC: Stephanie Houk Sheetz, Director 
  
 

304



Page 1 

 

REHABILITATION CONTRACT 

 

This Contract made the day hereinafter set forth by and between Angela S. White, hereinafter referred to 

as the "Owner" and _______________ hereinafter referred to as the "Contractor."   

  

WITNESSETH THAT: 

 WHEREAS, the Owner desires to engage the Contractor to perform certain work on the premises 

commonly known as 2923 Valley High Drive, Cedar Falls, Iowa: and  

 WHEREAS, the said premises are located in the area designated as Project No. 1-19-672 of the 

Community Development Block Grant Program; and 

WHEREAS, the Owner desires to utilize all services provided by the City in connection with the 

said project; and 

WHEREAS, insofar as this Contract is concerned, the term "City" shall mean the City of Cedar 

Falls, Iowa acting through its Community Development Department, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa 

50613. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, the parties hereto do mutually agree as follows: 
 
Section 1.  Employment of Contractor: The Owner hereby engages the Contractor with the 

approval of the City to perform the services and supply the materials hereinafter set forth. 
 
 

Section 2.  Scope of Services: The Contractor shall perform all of the services and furnish all the 
material necessary to make the improvements described in the Contract for the aforesaid premises. 
 
 
Section 3.  Improvements: The improvements to be made and/or constructed by the Contractor are 
identified in in the Housing Rehabilitation Project Write Up referred to in Exhibit "A," attached hereto, 
made a part hereof and incorporated as a part of this Agreement.  Contractor will also follow the City’s 
Standard Specifications for Housing Rehabilitations adopted in September 2015 and available on the 
City’s website or upon request. 
 
 

Section 4.  Subcontracting: The Contractor shall not be required to employ any subcontractor 
against whom he has a reasonable objection. 
 

The Contractor agrees that he is as fully responsible to the City for the acts and omissions of his 
subcontractors and of persons either directly or indirectly employed by them, as he is for the acts and 

305



REHABILITATION CONTRACT 
Project # 1-19-672 

2/14/19 
 

 
Page 2 

 

omissions of persons directly employed by him. 
 
Nothing contained in the contract documents shall create any contractual relation between any 

subcontractor and the Owner. 
 
 

Section 5.  Equal Employment Opportunity: (Contracts subject to Executive Order 11246 and 
11375).  During the performance of this contract, the Contractor agrees as follows: 
 

(a) The Contractor will not discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment 
because of race, creed, color, sex, or national origin. The Contractor will take affirmative 
action to ensure that applicants employed, and that employees are treated during employment, 
without regard to their race, creed, color, sex, or national origin. Such action shall include, but 
not be limited to the following: employment, upgrading, demotion, or transfer; recruitment or 
recruitment advertising; layoff or termination; rates of pay or other forms of compensation; 
and selection of training, including apprenticeship. The Contractor agrees to post in 
conspicuous places, available to employees and applicants for employment, notices setting 
forth the provisions of this nondiscrimination clause. 

 
(b) The Contractor will, in all solicitations or advertisements for employees placed by or on behalf 

of the Contractor, state that all qualified applicants will receive consideration for employment 
without regard to race, creed, color, sex, or national origin. 

 
(c) The Contractor will send to each labor union or representative of workers with which he has a 

collective bargaining agreement or other contract or understanding, a notice, advising the labor 
union or workers' representative of the Contractor's commitments under Section 202 of 
Executive Orders 11246 and 11375, and shall post copies of the notice in conspicuous places 
available to employees and applicants for employment. 

 
(d) The Contractor will comply with all provisions of Executive Orders 11246 and 11375, and of 

the rules, regulations, and relevant orders of the Secretary of Labor. 
 

(e) The Contractor will furnish all information and reports required by Executive Orders 11246 
and 11375, and by the rules, regulations, and orders of the Secretary of Labor of the Secretary 
of Housing and Urban Development pursuant thereto, and will permit access to his books, 
records, and accounts by the property owner, the Secretary of Housing and Urban 
Development, and the Secretary of Labor for purposes of investigation to ascertain compliance 
with such rules, regulations, and orders. 

 
(f) In the event of the Contractor's noncompliance with the nondiscrimination clauses of this 

contract or with any of such rules, regulations, or orders, this contract may be canceled, 
terminated, or suspended in whole or in part and the Contractor may be declared ineligible for 
further Government contracts in accordance with procedures authorized in Executive Orders 
11246 and 11375, and such sanctions may be imposed and remedies invoked as provided in 
Executive Orders 11246 and 11375, or by rules, regulations or order of the Secretary of Labor, 
or as otherwise provided by law. 

 
(g) The Contractor will include the provisions of paragraphs (a) through (g) in every subcontract 

or purchase order unless exempted by rules, regulations, or orders of the Secretary of Labor 
issued pursuant to Section 204 of Executive Orders 11246 and 11375 so that such provisions 
will be binding upon each subcontractor or vendor. The Contractor will take such action with 

306



REHABILITATION CONTRACT 
Project # 1-19-672 

2/14/19 
 

 
Page 3 

 

respect to any subcontractor or purchase order as the property owner may direct as a means of 
enforcing such provisions, including sanctions for noncompliance: 

 
Provided, however, that, in the event the Contractor becomes involved in, or is threatened 
with, litigation with a subcontractor or vendor as a result of such direction by the property 
owner, the Contractor may request the United States to enter into such litigation to protect 
the interests of the United States. 
 

(h) In the event that this contract exceeds $10,000, the contractor then agrees to comply with all 
the requirements of Section 6002 of the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (RCRA), as 
amended (42 U.S.C. 6962), including but not limited to the regulatory provisions of 40 CFR 
Part 247, and Executive Order 12873, as they apply to the procurement of the items designated 
in Subpart B of 40 CFR Part 247. 

 
 

Section 6.  Economic Opportunities for Section 3 Residents/Business Concerns:  (Contracts 
subject to Section 3 Clause of the Housing and Urban Development Act of 1968, as amended by the 
Housing and Community Development Act of 1992). During the performance of this contract, the 
Contractor agrees as follows: 
 

(a) The work to be performed under this contract is subject to the requirements of Section 3 of the 
Housing and Urban Development Act of 1968, as amended, 12 U.S.C. 170lu (Section 3). The 
purpose of Section 3 is to ensure that employment and other economic opportunities generated 
by HUD assistance or HUD-assisted projects covered by Section 3, shall, to the greatest extent 
feasible, be directed to low- and very low-income persons, particularly persons who are 
recipients of HUD assistance for housing. 
 

(b) The parties to this contract agree to comply with HUD's regulations in 24 CFR Part 135, which 
implement Section 3. As evidenced by their execution of this contract, the parties to this contract 
certify that they are under no contractual or other impediment that would prevent them from 
complying with the Part 135 regulations. 
 

(c) The contractor agrees to send to each labor organization or representative of workers with which 
the contractor has a collective bargaining agreement or other understanding, if any, a notice 
advising the labor organization or workers' representative of the contractor's commitments under 
this Section 3 clause, and will post copies of the notice in conspicuous places at the work site 
where both employees and applicants for training and employment positions can see the notice. 
The notice shall describe the Section 3 preference, shall set forth minimum number and job titles 
subject to hire, availability of apprenticeship and training positions, the qualifications for each; 
and the name and location of the person(s) taking applications for each of the positions; and the 
anticipated date the work shall begin. 
 

(d) The contractor agrees to include this Section 3 clause in every subcontract subject to compliance 
with regulations in 24 CFR Part 135, and agrees to take appropriate action, as provided in an 
applicable provision of the subcontract or in this Section 3 clause, upon a finding that the 
subcontractor is in violation of the regulations in 24 CFR Part 135. The contractor will not 
subcontract with any subcontractor where the contractor has notice or knowledge that the 
subcontractor has been found in violation of the regulations in 24 CFR Part 135. 
 

(e) The contractor will certify that any vacant employment positions, including training positions, 
that are filled (1) after the contractor is selected but before the contract is executed, and (2) with 

307



REHABILITATION CONTRACT 
Project # 1-19-672 

2/14/19 
 

 
Page 4 

 

persons other than those to whom the regulations of 24 CFR Part 135 require employment 
opportunities to be directed, were not filled to circumvent the contractor's obligations under 24 
CFR Part 135. 
 

(f) Noncompliance with HUD's regulations in 24 CFR Part 135 may result in sanctions, termination 
of this contract for default, and debarment or suspension from future HUD-assisted contracts. 
 

(g) With respect to work performed in connection with Section 3 covered Indian housing assistance, 
Section 7(b) of the Indian Self-Determination and Education Assistance Act (25 U.S.C. 450e) 
also applies to the work to be performed under this contract.  Section 7(b) requires that to the 
greatest extent feasible (i) preference and opportunities for training and employment shall be 
given to Indians, and (ii) preference in the award of contracts and subcontracts shall be given to 
Indian organizations and Indian-owned Economic Enterprises. Parties to this contract that are 
subject to the provisions of Section 3 and Section 7)b) agree to comply with Section 3 to the 
maximum extent feasible, but not in derogation of compliance with Section 7(b). 
 

(h) The contractor agrees to comply with Executive Order 11063, as amended by Executive Order 
11375, as related to discrimination in housing. 

 
 

Section 7.  Time for Performance: The Contractor shall, upon acceptance of this Bid and 
submission of evidence of satisfactory insurance coverage, begin work within 14 days after a Notice to 
Proceed is delivered to the Contractor and shall be satisfactorily completed within 90 calendar days 
thereafter. Notwithstanding the aforesaid, the Contractor is excused from performance or delay if at any 
time in the progress of the work by any act of neglect of the Owner or the City or any employee of 
either, or by any separate Contractor employed by the Owner, or by changes ordered in the work, or by 
strikes, lockouts, fire, unusual delay in transportation, unavoidable casualties or any causes beyond the 
Contractor's control, or by delay authorized by the City, or by any cause which the City shall decide to 
justify the delay, then the time of completion shall be extended for such reasonable time as the City may 
decide. When the work has been fully completed, approved by the City, and all waivers and releases of 
liens required by the City are submitted, final payment shall be made to the Contractor by the City. 
 
 

Section 8.  Insurance: The Contractor shall maintain such insurance as will protect him from 
claims under Workmen's Compensation Acts and other employee benefits acts, from claims for damages 
to property which may arise both out of and during operations under this contract, whether such 
operations be by himself or by any subcontractor or anyone directly or indirectly employed by either of 
them. Commercial general liability insurance coverage shall be written on an “occurrence” basis.  The 
CGL policy shall have a minimum coverage of $1,000,000 million per occurrence and $2,000,000 
million aggregate.. The Contractor shall save the Owner harmless from damages arising out of the work 
set forth therein. Before commencing work, Contractor shall furnish the City with certificates showing 
that the above insurance is in force.  If any such insurance is due to expire during the construction 
period, the Contractor shall not permit the coverage to lapse and new certificates shall be furnished to 
the City. 
 
 

Section 9.  Changes in the Work: No modification of this Contract shall be made except in written 
change order signed by the Contractor and Owner, and approved by the City. 
 
 

Section 10.  Releases of Liens: The Contractor shall submit to the City a release of all mechanics 

308



REHABILITATION CONTRACT 
Project # 1-19-672 

2/14/19 
 

 
Page 5 

 

and material liens prior to final payment of the consideration set forth hereafter. 
 
 

 Section 11.  Compensation: The City agrees to compensate the Contractor $__________ for the 
services and the materials to be provided herein. 
 
 

Section 12.  Payment for Completed Work or Materials Ordered: The Contractor will be paid all 
but ten percent (10%) of the contract price after the work is satisfactorily completed. This 10% of 
contract price will be held for thirty (30) days after the date of the final certification of completion. 
Upon request of the Contractor and with approval of the City, progress payments may be made. Progress 
payments shall not exceed 90% of the value of the work satisfactorily completed. Payments due the 
Contractor will be paid within 30 days after the City receives the Contractor's invoice and satisfactory 
release of liens of claims for liens by subcontractors, laborers, and material suppliers for completed 
work or installed materials.  The City may reimburse the Contractor for materials included on Exhibit A 
that are ordered and paid for by the Contractor, at any time after this Contract is approved by the City 
upon providing an invoice. 
 
 

Section 13.  Provision for the Owner: Owner will permit the Contractor to use at no cost existing 
utilities such as light, heat, power, and water necessary to the carrying out and completion of the work. 
Further, Owner will cooperate with the Contractor to facilitate the performance of the work, including 
the removal and replacement of rugs, covering and furniture as necessary.  The Owner is prohibited 
from doing any work or hiring any person to do any work to the Owner’s home or property at any time 
prior to the date of final inspection for this project that will interfere with or adversely impact the 
Contractor’s scope of work, with the exception of emergency repairs.  The Owner shall notify the City 
and Contractor in advance regarding any emergency work or repairs that are to be done, and no such 
emergency work or repairs shall be done without the approval of the City and the Contractor. 
 
 

Section 14.  Occupancy Provision: The premises are to be occupied (unless otherwise notified by 
the City) during the course of the construction work. 
 
 

Section 15.  Condition of Premises: Contractor agrees to keep the premises clean and orderly 
during the course of the work and remove all debris at the completion of the work. Materials and 
equipment that have been removed and replaced as part of the work shall belong to the Contractor unless 
stated otherwise. 

 
 
Section 16.  Interest of Housing Commission and Local Public Officials. No members of the 

Housing Commission of the City who exercises any functions or responsibilities, and no member of the 
City Council of the City of Cedar Falls shall have any interest, direct or indirect, in this contract. 

 
 
Section 17.  Disputes: Disputes or claims pertaining to the Project Specifications, Drawings (if 

applicable), Standard Specifications for Housing Rehabilitations adopted in September 2015, or 
workmanship will be mediated by the City, and a written determination of finding will be provided to 
the Owner and Contractor. If any interested party desires to contest such finding, a written request for an 
appeal hearing shall be submitted to the City representative, who shall set a date for such hearing with 

309



REHABILITATION CONTRACT 
Project # 1-19-672 

2/14/19 
 

 
Page 6 

 

the Housing Commission.  The Commission will then hold an appeal hearing and make a determination 
of resolution in writing to both parties.  Should either party contest the decision, a request to appeal may 
be made to the Mayor.  The Mayor will then ask the City Council to make the determination of 
resolution.  The decision of the City Council shall be final and binding on all interested parties. 

  
      Any binding provisions between the Owner and Contractor shall be set forth in this Contract; 

the City shall not become involved in a dispute between the Owner and the Contractor arising from 
work performed outside this Contract. 
 
 

Section 18.  Workmanship: The work provided hereunder by the Contractor shall be executed as 
directed by the City’s Standard Specifications for Housing Rehabilitations adopted in September 2015 
(available on the City’s website or upon request) and in the most sound, workmanlike and substantial 
manner, and all materials used in the construction, rehabilitation, renovating, remodeling, and improving 
shall be new unless otherwise expressly set forth in the specifications. 

 
 
Section 19.  Engineering Surveys, Permits, Fees, and Licensing: The Contractor shall furnish all 

engineering surveys as required unless otherwise specified. The Contractor shall furnish all permits and 
licenses for the authorization to execute said work and pay all fees incidental to acquiring same.  The 
contractor shall meet all local licensing requirements. 
 
 

Section 20.  Inspection of Work: The City shall at all times have access to the work. If the 
specifications, plans, instructions, laws, ordinances, City Standards, or any public authority requires any 
work to be specifically inspected, tested or approved, the Contractor shall give the City timely notice of 
its readiness for inspection. Inspections by the City shall be promptly made. If any work should be 
covered up without approval or consent of the City, it must, if required by the City, be uncovered for 
examination at the Contractor's expense. If such work should be found not in accordance with this 
contract, including incorporated plans and specifications, the Contractor shall pay such costs; provided, 
however, if the Contractor can show that the defect was not caused by him or his subcontractors, then in 
that event, the Owner shall pay the cost of remedying such work. 
 
 

Section 21.  Defects after Completion: Any defects that appear within one (1) year from the 
completion of the work and arise out of the defective or improper materials or workmanship will upon 
the direction of the City be corrected and made good by the Contractor at his own expense. 
 
 

Section 22.  Approval by City: This Agreement must be approved by the City before it becomes 
effective. 
 
 

Section 23.  Nonliability of the City and Indemnification: The parties hereto agree to hold the City 
harmless and to indemnify the City for any damages concerning the undertaking and carrying out of this 
Contract. 
 
 

Section 24.  Default: In the case of default by the Contractor, the City may procure the articles of 
services from other sources and hold the Contractor responsible for any excess cost occasioned thereby. 

310



REHABILITATION CONTRACT 
Project # 1-19-672 

2/14/19 
 

 
Page 7 

 

Section 25.  Termination: In case the Contractor fails to furnish materials or execute work in 
accordance with the provisions of this Contract, or fails to proceed with or complete the work within the 
time limit specified in this Contract, or if the provisions of the Contract are otherwise violated by the 
Contractor, then in any case, upon ten (10) days' written notice to the contractor, the City shall have the 
right to declare the Contractor in default in the performance of these obligations under the Contract. Said 
notice shall contain the reason for the City's intent to declare Contractor at fault and unless within ten 
(10) days after service of said notice, the violation shall cease or satisfactory arrangements shall be made 
for its correction, the Contractor, by written notice from the City may be declared in default and his right 
to proceed under the Contract terminated. In the event the Contractor is thus declared to be in default, 
the City will proceed to have the work completed, shall apply the cost of having the work completed any 
money due the Contractor under the contract, and Contractor shall be responsible for any damages 
resulting to Owner by reason of default. 
 

Section 26.  Notices: Notices to be given by Owner or City to Contractor shall be considered 
given for the purpose of this Agreement when provided via electronic mail or when deposited in regular 
mail to the Contractor at the address listed below. 
 

Section 27.  Condition for Validity of Agreement: This Contract is contingent upon the receipt by 
the Owner of a Grant or Loan in an amount sufficient to cover the cost of the rehabilitation work 
described herein. If the Grant or Loan is not approved, this Contract is null and void. 
 

Section 28.  Prohibition Against "Kick-Backs": The Contractor agrees that he has not and will not 
give up any part of the compensation to which he is entitled under this contract for the purpose of being 
awarded the contract; further, the Contractor agrees that he will not induce any person employed by him 
to give the Contractor any part of any compensation owed the employee for work done pursuant to this 
contract. 
 
Section 29.  Other Federal Requirements: 
 

(a) Access and Maintenance of Records. For projects utilizing CDBG funds, the contractor must 
maintain all required records for five years after final payments are made and all other pending 
matters are closed. At any time during normal business hours and as frequently as is deemed 
necessary, the contractor shall make available to the Department of Housing and Urban 
Development, for their examination, all of its records pertaining to all matters covered by this 
contract and permit these agencies to audit, examine, make excerpts or transcripts from such 
records, contract, invoices, payrolls, personnel records, conditions of employment, and all other 
matters covered by this contract. 

 
(b) Civil Rights. For all CDBG-funded projects, the Contractor must comply with the following laws 

and regulations: 
• Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (P.L. 88-352). States that no person may be 
excluded from participation in, denied the benefits of, or subjected to discrimination under 
any program or activity receiving Federal financial assistance on the basis of race, color, or 
national origin. 
• Title VIII of the Civil Rights Act of 1968 (Fair Housing Act), as amended. 
• Iowa Civil Rights Act of 1965. This Act mirrors the Federal Civil Rights Act. 
• Section 109 of Title I of the Housing and Community Development Act of 1974, as 
amended (42 U.S.C. 5309). Provides that no person shall be excluded from participation in, 
denied the benefits of, or subjected to discrimination on the basis of race, color, national 

311



REHABILITATION CONTRACT 
Project # 1-19-672 

2/14/19 
 

 
Page 8 

 

origin, sex, age, or handicap under any program or activity funded in part or in whole under 
Title I of the Act. 
• The Age Discrimination Act of 1975, as amended (42 U.S.C. 1601 et seq.) Provides that 
no person on the basis of age, be excluded from participation in, be denied the benefits of or 
be subjected to discrimination under any program or activity receiving Federal financial 
assistance. 
• Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, as amended (P.L. 93-112, 29 U.S.C. 794). 
Provides that no otherwise qualified individual shall solely by reason of his/her handicap be 
excluded from participation in, be denied the benefits of, or be discriminated against under 
any program or activity receiving Federal financial assistance. 
• Americans with Disabilities Act (P.L. 101-336, 42 U.S.C. 12101-12213). Provides 
comprehensive civil rights to individuals with disabilities in the areas of employment, 
public accommodations, state and local government services, and telecommunications. 

 
(c) All contracts utilizing CDBG funds must contain the following certification concerning 

restriction of lobbying: 
 

"The Recipient certifies, to the best of his or her knowledge and belief, that: 
 
i. No Federal appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid, by or on behalf of the 
Recipient, to any person for influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of 
any agency, a Member of Congress, an officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of 
a Member of Congress in connection with the awarding of any Federal contract, the making 
of any Federal grant, the making of any Federal loan, the entering into of any cooperative 
agreement, and the extension, continuation, renewal, amendment, or modification of any 
Federal contract, grant, loan, or cooperative agreement. 
 
ii. If any funds other than Federal appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid to any 
person for influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of any agency, a 
Member of Congress, an officer or employee, or an employee of a Member of congress in 
connection with this Federal contract, grant, loan, or cooperative agreement, the Recipient 
shall complete and submit Standard Form-LLL, "Disclosure Form to Report Federal 
Lobbying" in accordance with its instruction. 
 
iii. The Recipient shall require that the language of this certification be included in the 
award documents for all subawards at all tiers (including subcontracts, subgrants, and 
contracts under grants, loans, and cooperative agreements) and that all subrecipients shall 
certify and disclose accordingly. 
 
This certification is a material representation of fact upon which reliance was placed when 
this transaction was made or entered into. Submission of this certification is a prerequisite 
for making or entering into this transaction imposed by section 1352, title 31, U.S. Code. 
Any person who fails to file the required certification shall be subject to a civil penalty of 
not less than $10,000 and not more than $100,000 for each such failure." 

 
  

312



REHABILITATION CONTRACT 
Project # 1-19-672 

2/14/19 
 

 
Page 9 

 

CONTRACTOR ACCEPTANCE BY OWNER(S) 
 
  Angela S. White 
Contractor Firm Name  Owner(s) Name 

  2923 Valley High Drive 

Contractor’s Address  Owner’s Address 

  Cedar Falls, IA 50613 

City, State, Zip  City, State, Zip 
   

Contractor’s E-mail  Owner’s E-mail 
 
   

Signature of Contractor  Owner’s Signature 
   
Date of Acceptance  Date of Acceptance 
 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
 
       By: _________________________________ 
               James P. Brown, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
By: _________________________ 
 Jacqueline Danielsen, CMC, City Clerk 
 
STATE OF IOWA      ) 
      )  SS  
COUNTY OF BLACK HAWK   ) 
 
 On this _____ day of _______________, 2018, before me a Notary Public in and for said 
County, personally appeared James P. Brown and Jacqueline Danielsen to me personally known, who 
being duly sworn, did say that they are the Mayor and City Clerk, respectively, of the City of Cedar 
Falls, Iowa, a Municipal Corporation, created and existing under the laws of the State of Iowa, and that 
the seal affixed to the foregoing instrument is the seal of said Municipal Corporation, and that said 
instrument was signed and sealed on behalf of said Municipal Corporation by authority and resolution of 
its City Council and said Mayor and City Clerk acknowledged said instrument to be the free act and 
deed of said Municipal Corporation by it voluntarily executed. 
 
      _____________________________________ 

Notary Public in and for Black Hawk County, Iowa 

313



REHABILITATION CONTRACT 
Project # 1-19-672 

2/14/19 
 

 
Page 10 

 

 

Exhibit A 
Housing Rehabilitation Project Write Up 

 
2923 Valley High Drive, Cedar Falls, IA 50613 

  

314



315



REHABILITATION CONTRACT 
Project # 1-19-672 

2/14/19 
 

 
Page 11 

 

 
Exhibit B 

FEDERAL REGULATIONS PROHIBITING USE OF 
LEAD-BASED PAINT AND ELIMINATION OF 

LEAD-BASED PAINT HAZARD 
 
 
 Part I: Prohibition of Lead-Based Paint Usage 
 

A. Definition: 
 

"Lead-based paint" means any paint containing more than one percent (1%) lead by weight 
(calculated as lead metal) in the total nonvolatile content of liquid paints or in the dried film 
of paint already applied. 

 
B. Applicable Surfaces: 

 
Applicable surfaces means all interior surfaces and those exterior surfaces, such as stairs, 
decks, porches, railings, windows, and doors which are readily accessible to children under 
seven (7) years of age. 

 
Part II: Elimination of Lead-Based Paint Hazard 
 

A. Procedure: 
 

All defective paint conditions shall be assumed to involve lead-based paint and thus to 
constitute health hazards that must be corrected unless testing shows that lead is not present 
in the paint at a level above 1.0 percent. 

 
B. Treatment: 

Particular care shall be taken to correct conditions of cracking, scaling, peeling and loose 
paint on walls, ceilings, doors, windows, trim, stairs, railings, cabinets and piping.  All such 
surfaces shall be thoroughly washed, scraped or wire brushed so as to remove all cracking, 
scaling, peeling and loose paint before repainting.  As a minimum, these surfaces must 
receive two (2) coats of a suitable nonlead-based paint.  Where it is infeasible to control or 
correct the cracking, scaling, peeling or loosening of the lead-based paint and the film 
integrity of the treated surfaces cannot be maintained, the paint on these surfaces shall be 
removed or covered with material such as hardboard, plywood, drywall, plaster, or other 
suitable material. 

 
Part III: The Contractor will comply with all applicable regulations in 24 C.F.R. Part 35 pertaining to
 requirements for notification, evaluation and reduction of lead-based paint hazards in
 federally owned residential properties and housing receiving federal assistance. 

316



Page 1 

 

REHABILITATION CONTRACT 

 

This Contract made the day hereinafter set forth by and between Sue Kotz, hereinafter referred to as the 

"Owner" and _______________ hereinafter referred to as the "Contractor."   

  

WITNESSETH THAT: 

 WHEREAS, the Owner desires to engage the Contractor to perform certain work on the premises 

commonly known as 1509 Main Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa: and  

 WHEREAS, the said premises are located in the area designated as Project No. 1-19-671 of the 

Community Development Block Grant Program; and 

WHEREAS, the Owner desires to utilize all services provided by the City in connection with the 

said project; and 

WHEREAS, insofar as this Contract is concerned, the term "City" shall mean the City of Cedar 

Falls, Iowa acting through its Community Development Department, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa 

50613. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, the parties hereto do mutually agree as follows: 
 
Section 1.  Employment of Contractor: The Owner hereby engages the Contractor with the 

approval of the City to perform the services and supply the materials hereinafter set forth. 
 
 

Section 2.  Scope of Services: The Contractor shall perform all of the services and furnish all the 
material necessary to make the improvements described in the Contract for the aforesaid premises. 
 
 
Section 3.  Improvements: The improvements to be made and/or constructed by the Contractor are 
identified in in the Housing Rehabilitation Project Write Up referred to in Exhibit "A," attached hereto, 
made a part hereof and incorporated as a part of this Agreement.  Contractor will also follow the City’s 
Standard Specifications for Housing Rehabilitations adopted in September 2015 and available on the 
City’s website or upon request. 
 
 

Section 4.  Subcontracting: The Contractor shall not be required to employ any subcontractor 
against whom he has a reasonable objection. 
 

The Contractor agrees that he is as fully responsible to the City for the acts and omissions of his 
subcontractors and of persons either directly or indirectly employed by them, as he is for the acts and 

317



REHABILITATION CONTRACT 
Project # 1-19-671 

2/14/19 
 

 
Page 2 

 

omissions of persons directly employed by him. 
 
Nothing contained in the contract documents shall create any contractual relation between any 

subcontractor and the Owner. 
 
 

Section 5.  Equal Employment Opportunity: (Contracts subject to Executive Order 11246 and 
11375).  During the performance of this contract, the Contractor agrees as follows: 
 

(a) The Contractor will not discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment 
because of race, creed, color, sex, or national origin. The Contractor will take affirmative 
action to ensure that applicants employed, and that employees are treated during employment, 
without regard to their race, creed, color, sex, or national origin. Such action shall include, but 
not be limited to the following: employment, upgrading, demotion, or transfer; recruitment or 
recruitment advertising; layoff or termination; rates of pay or other forms of compensation; 
and selection of training, including apprenticeship. The Contractor agrees to post in 
conspicuous places, available to employees and applicants for employment, notices setting 
forth the provisions of this nondiscrimination clause. 

 
(b) The Contractor will, in all solicitations or advertisements for employees placed by or on behalf 

of the Contractor, state that all qualified applicants will receive consideration for employment 
without regard to race, creed, color, sex, or national origin. 

 
(c) The Contractor will send to each labor union or representative of workers with which he has a 

collective bargaining agreement or other contract or understanding, a notice, advising the labor 
union or workers' representative of the Contractor's commitments under Section 202 of 
Executive Orders 11246 and 11375, and shall post copies of the notice in conspicuous places 
available to employees and applicants for employment. 

 
(d) The Contractor will comply with all provisions of Executive Orders 11246 and 11375, and of 

the rules, regulations, and relevant orders of the Secretary of Labor. 
 

(e) The Contractor will furnish all information and reports required by Executive Orders 11246 
and 11375, and by the rules, regulations, and orders of the Secretary of Labor of the Secretary 
of Housing and Urban Development pursuant thereto, and will permit access to his books, 
records, and accounts by the property owner, the Secretary of Housing and Urban 
Development, and the Secretary of Labor for purposes of investigation to ascertain compliance 
with such rules, regulations, and orders. 

 
(f) In the event of the Contractor's noncompliance with the nondiscrimination clauses of this 

contract or with any of such rules, regulations, or orders, this contract may be canceled, 
terminated, or suspended in whole or in part and the Contractor may be declared ineligible for 
further Government contracts in accordance with procedures authorized in Executive Orders 
11246 and 11375, and such sanctions may be imposed and remedies invoked as provided in 
Executive Orders 11246 and 11375, or by rules, regulations or order of the Secretary of Labor, 
or as otherwise provided by law. 

 
(g) The Contractor will include the provisions of paragraphs (a) through (g) in every subcontract 

or purchase order unless exempted by rules, regulations, or orders of the Secretary of Labor 
issued pursuant to Section 204 of Executive Orders 11246 and 11375 so that such provisions 
will be binding upon each subcontractor or vendor. The Contractor will take such action with 

318



REHABILITATION CONTRACT 
Project # 1-19-671 

2/14/19 
 

 
Page 3 

 

respect to any subcontractor or purchase order as the property owner may direct as a means of 
enforcing such provisions, including sanctions for noncompliance: 

 
Provided, however, that, in the event the Contractor becomes involved in, or is threatened 
with, litigation with a subcontractor or vendor as a result of such direction by the property 
owner, the Contractor may request the United States to enter into such litigation to protect 
the interests of the United States. 
 

(h) In the event that this contract exceeds $10,000, the contractor then agrees to comply with all 
the requirements of Section 6002 of the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (RCRA), as 
amended (42 U.S.C. 6962), including but not limited to the regulatory provisions of 40 CFR 
Part 247, and Executive Order 12873, as they apply to the procurement of the items designated 
in Subpart B of 40 CFR Part 247. 

 
 

Section 6.  Economic Opportunities for Section 3 Residents/Business Concerns:  (Contracts 
subject to Section 3 Clause of the Housing and Urban Development Act of 1968, as amended by the 
Housing and Community Development Act of 1992). During the performance of this contract, the 
Contractor agrees as follows: 
 

(a) The work to be performed under this contract is subject to the requirements of Section 3 of the 
Housing and Urban Development Act of 1968, as amended, 12 U.S.C. 170lu (Section 3). The 
purpose of Section 3 is to ensure that employment and other economic opportunities generated 
by HUD assistance or HUD-assisted projects covered by Section 3, shall, to the greatest extent 
feasible, be directed to low- and very low-income persons, particularly persons who are 
recipients of HUD assistance for housing. 
 

(b) The parties to this contract agree to comply with HUD's regulations in 24 CFR Part 135, which 
implement Section 3. As evidenced by their execution of this contract, the parties to this contract 
certify that they are under no contractual or other impediment that would prevent them from 
complying with the Part 135 regulations. 
 

(c) The contractor agrees to send to each labor organization or representative of workers with which 
the contractor has a collective bargaining agreement or other understanding, if any, a notice 
advising the labor organization or workers' representative of the contractor's commitments under 
this Section 3 clause, and will post copies of the notice in conspicuous places at the work site 
where both employees and applicants for training and employment positions can see the notice. 
The notice shall describe the Section 3 preference, shall set forth minimum number and job titles 
subject to hire, availability of apprenticeship and training positions, the qualifications for each; 
and the name and location of the person(s) taking applications for each of the positions; and the 
anticipated date the work shall begin. 
 

(d) The contractor agrees to include this Section 3 clause in every subcontract subject to compliance 
with regulations in 24 CFR Part 135, and agrees to take appropriate action, as provided in an 
applicable provision of the subcontract or in this Section 3 clause, upon a finding that the 
subcontractor is in violation of the regulations in 24 CFR Part 135. The contractor will not 
subcontract with any subcontractor where the contractor has notice or knowledge that the 
subcontractor has been found in violation of the regulations in 24 CFR Part 135. 
 

(e) The contractor will certify that any vacant employment positions, including training positions, 
that are filled (1) after the contractor is selected but before the contract is executed, and (2) with 

319



REHABILITATION CONTRACT 
Project # 1-19-671 

2/14/19 
 

 
Page 4 

 

persons other than those to whom the regulations of 24 CFR Part 135 require employment 
opportunities to be directed, were not filled to circumvent the contractor's obligations under 24 
CFR Part 135. 
 

(f) Noncompliance with HUD's regulations in 24 CFR Part 135 may result in sanctions, termination 
of this contract for default, and debarment or suspension from future HUD-assisted contracts. 
 

(g) With respect to work performed in connection with Section 3 covered Indian housing assistance, 
Section 7(b) of the Indian Self-Determination and Education Assistance Act (25 U.S.C. 450e) 
also applies to the work to be performed under this contract.  Section 7(b) requires that to the 
greatest extent feasible (i) preference and opportunities for training and employment shall be 
given to Indians, and (ii) preference in the award of contracts and subcontracts shall be given to 
Indian organizations and Indian-owned Economic Enterprises. Parties to this contract that are 
subject to the provisions of Section 3 and Section 7)b) agree to comply with Section 3 to the 
maximum extent feasible, but not in derogation of compliance with Section 7(b). 
 

(h) The contractor agrees to comply with Executive Order 11063, as amended by Executive Order 
11375, as related to discrimination in housing. 

 
 

Section 7.  Time for Performance: The Contractor shall, upon acceptance of this Bid and 
submission of evidence of satisfactory insurance coverage, begin work within 14 days after a Notice to 
Proceed is delivered to the Contractor and shall be satisfactorily completed within 90 calendar days 
thereafter. Notwithstanding the aforesaid, the Contractor is excused from performance or delay if at any 
time in the progress of the work by any act of neglect of the Owner or the City or any employee of 
either, or by any separate Contractor employed by the Owner, or by changes ordered in the work, or by 
strikes, lockouts, fire, unusual delay in transportation, unavoidable casualties or any causes beyond the 
Contractor's control, or by delay authorized by the City, or by any cause which the City shall decide to 
justify the delay, then the time of completion shall be extended for such reasonable time as the City may 
decide. When the work has been fully completed, approved by the City, and all waivers and releases of 
liens required by the City are submitted, final payment shall be made to the Contractor by the City. 
 
 

Section 8.  Insurance: The Contractor shall maintain such insurance as will protect him from 
claims under Workmen's Compensation Acts and other employee benefits acts, from claims for damages 
to property which may arise both out of and during operations under this contract, whether such 
operations be by himself or by any subcontractor or anyone directly or indirectly employed by either of 
them. Commercial general liability insurance coverage shall be written on an “occurrence” basis.  The 
CGL policy shall have a minimum coverage of $1,000,000 million per occurrence and $2,000,000 
million aggregate.. The Contractor shall save the Owner harmless from damages arising out of the work 
set forth therein. Before commencing work, Contractor shall furnish the City with certificates showing 
that the above insurance is in force.  If any such insurance is due to expire during the construction 
period, the Contractor shall not permit the coverage to lapse and new certificates shall be furnished to 
the City. 
 
 

Section 9.  Changes in the Work: No modification of this Contract shall be made except in written 
change order signed by the Contractor and Owner, and approved by the City. 
 
 

Section 10.  Releases of Liens: The Contractor shall submit to the City a release of all mechanics 

320



REHABILITATION CONTRACT 
Project # 1-19-671 

2/14/19 
 

 
Page 5 

 

and material liens prior to final payment of the consideration set forth hereafter. 
 
 

 Section 11.  Compensation: The City agrees to compensate the Contractor $__________ for the 
services and the materials to be provided herein. 
 
 

Section 12.  Payment for Completed Work or Materials Ordered: The Contractor will be paid all 
but ten percent (10%) of the contract price after the work is satisfactorily completed. This 10% of 
contract price will be held for thirty (30) days after the date of the final certification of completion. 
Upon request of the Contractor and with approval of the City, progress payments may be made. Progress 
payments shall not exceed 90% of the value of the work satisfactorily completed. Payments due the 
Contractor will be paid within 30 days after the City receives the Contractor's invoice and satisfactory 
release of liens of claims for liens by subcontractors, laborers, and material suppliers for completed 
work or installed materials.  The City may reimburse the Contractor for materials included on Exhibit A 
that are ordered and paid for by the Contractor, at any time after this Contract is approved by the City 
upon providing an invoice. 
 
 

Section 13.  Provision for the Owner: Owner will permit the Contractor to use at no cost existing 
utilities such as light, heat, power, and water necessary to the carrying out and completion of the work. 
Further, Owner will cooperate with the Contractor to facilitate the performance of the work, including 
the removal and replacement of rugs, covering and furniture as necessary.  The Owner is prohibited 
from doing any work or hiring any person to do any work to the Owner’s home or property at any time 
prior to the date of final inspection for this project that will interfere with or adversely impact the 
Contractor’s scope of work, with the exception of emergency repairs.  The Owner shall notify the City 
and Contractor in advance regarding any emergency work or repairs that are to be done, and no such 
emergency work or repairs shall be done without the approval of the City and the Contractor. 
 
 

Section 14.  Occupancy Provision: The premises are to be occupied (unless otherwise notified by 
the City) during the course of the construction work. 
 
 

Section 15.  Condition of Premises: Contractor agrees to keep the premises clean and orderly 
during the course of the work and remove all debris at the completion of the work. Materials and 
equipment that have been removed and replaced as part of the work shall belong to the Contractor unless 
stated otherwise. 

 
 
Section 16.  Interest of Housing Commission and Local Public Officials. No members of the 

Housing Commission of the City who exercises any functions or responsibilities, and no member of the 
City Council of the City of Cedar Falls shall have any interest, direct or indirect, in this contract. 

 
 
Section 17.  Disputes: Disputes or claims pertaining to the Project Specifications, Drawings (if 

applicable), Standard Specifications for Housing Rehabilitations adopted in September 2015, or 
workmanship will be mediated by the City, and a written determination of finding will be provided to 
the Owner and Contractor. If any interested party desires to contest such finding, a written request for an 
appeal hearing shall be submitted to the City representative, who shall set a date for such hearing with 

321



REHABILITATION CONTRACT 
Project # 1-19-671 

2/14/19 
 

 
Page 6 

 

the Housing Commission.  The Commission will then hold an appeal hearing and make a determination 
of resolution in writing to both parties.  Should either party contest the decision, a request to appeal may 
be made to the Mayor.  The Mayor will then ask the City Council to make the determination of 
resolution.  The decision of the City Council shall be final and binding on all interested parties. 

  
      Any binding provisions between the Owner and Contractor shall be set forth in this Contract; 

the City shall not become involved in a dispute between the Owner and the Contractor arising from 
work performed outside this Contract. 
 
 

Section 18.  Workmanship: The work provided hereunder by the Contractor shall be executed as 
directed by the City’s Standard Specifications for Housing Rehabilitations adopted in September 2015 
(available on the City’s website or upon request) and in the most sound, workmanlike and substantial 
manner, and all materials used in the construction, rehabilitation, renovating, remodeling, and improving 
shall be new unless otherwise expressly set forth in the specifications. 

 
 
Section 19.  Engineering Surveys, Permits, Fees, and Licensing: The Contractor shall furnish all 

engineering surveys as required unless otherwise specified. The Contractor shall furnish all permits and 
licenses for the authorization to execute said work and pay all fees incidental to acquiring same.  The 
contractor shall meet all local licensing requirements. 
 
 

Section 20.  Inspection of Work: The City shall at all times have access to the work. If the 
specifications, plans, instructions, laws, ordinances, City Standards, or any public authority requires any 
work to be specifically inspected, tested or approved, the Contractor shall give the City timely notice of 
its readiness for inspection. Inspections by the City shall be promptly made. If any work should be 
covered up without approval or consent of the City, it must, if required by the City, be uncovered for 
examination at the Contractor's expense. If such work should be found not in accordance with this 
contract, including incorporated plans and specifications, the Contractor shall pay such costs; provided, 
however, if the Contractor can show that the defect was not caused by him or his subcontractors, then in 
that event, the Owner shall pay the cost of remedying such work. 
 
 

Section 21.  Defects after Completion: Any defects that appear within one (1) year from the 
completion of the work and arise out of the defective or improper materials or workmanship will upon 
the direction of the City be corrected and made good by the Contractor at his own expense. 
 
 

Section 22.  Approval by City: This Agreement must be approved by the City before it becomes 
effective. 
 
 

Section 23.  Nonliability of the City and Indemnification: The parties hereto agree to hold the City 
harmless and to indemnify the City for any damages concerning the undertaking and carrying out of this 
Contract. 
 
 

Section 24.  Default: In the case of default by the Contractor, the City may procure the articles of 
services from other sources and hold the Contractor responsible for any excess cost occasioned thereby. 

322



REHABILITATION CONTRACT 
Project # 1-19-671 

2/14/19 
 

 
Page 7 

 

Section 25.  Termination: In case the Contractor fails to furnish materials or execute work in 
accordance with the provisions of this Contract, or fails to proceed with or complete the work within the 
time limit specified in this Contract, or if the provisions of the Contract are otherwise violated by the 
Contractor, then in any case, upon ten (10) days' written notice to the contractor, the City shall have the 
right to declare the Contractor in default in the performance of these obligations under the Contract. Said 
notice shall contain the reason for the City's intent to declare Contractor at fault and unless within ten 
(10) days after service of said notice, the violation shall cease or satisfactory arrangements shall be made 
for its correction, the Contractor, by written notice from the City may be declared in default and his right 
to proceed under the Contract terminated. In the event the Contractor is thus declared to be in default, 
the City will proceed to have the work completed, shall apply the cost of having the work completed any 
money due the Contractor under the contract, and Contractor shall be responsible for any damages 
resulting to Owner by reason of default. 
 

Section 26.  Notices: Notices to be given by Owner or City to Contractor shall be considered 
given for the purpose of this Agreement when provided via electronic mail or when deposited in regular 
mail to the Contractor at the address listed below. 
 

Section 27.  Condition for Validity of Agreement: This Contract is contingent upon the receipt by 
the Owner of a Grant or Loan in an amount sufficient to cover the cost of the rehabilitation work 
described herein. If the Grant or Loan is not approved, this Contract is null and void. 
 

Section 28.  Prohibition Against "Kick-Backs": The Contractor agrees that he has not and will not 
give up any part of the compensation to which he is entitled under this contract for the purpose of being 
awarded the contract; further, the Contractor agrees that he will not induce any person employed by him 
to give the Contractor any part of any compensation owed the employee for work done pursuant to this 
contract. 
 
Section 29.  Other Federal Requirements: 
 

(a) Access and Maintenance of Records. For projects utilizing CDBG funds, the contractor must 
maintain all required records for five years after final payments are made and all other pending 
matters are closed. At any time during normal business hours and as frequently as is deemed 
necessary, the contractor shall make available to the Department of Housing and Urban 
Development, for their examination, all of its records pertaining to all matters covered by this 
contract and permit these agencies to audit, examine, make excerpts or transcripts from such 
records, contract, invoices, payrolls, personnel records, conditions of employment, and all other 
matters covered by this contract. 

 
(b) Civil Rights. For all CDBG-funded projects, the Contractor must comply with the following laws 

and regulations: 
• Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (P.L. 88-352). States that no person may be 
excluded from participation in, denied the benefits of, or subjected to discrimination under 
any program or activity receiving Federal financial assistance on the basis of race, color, or 
national origin. 
• Title VIII of the Civil Rights Act of 1968 (Fair Housing Act), as amended. 
• Iowa Civil Rights Act of 1965. This Act mirrors the Federal Civil Rights Act. 
• Section 109 of Title I of the Housing and Community Development Act of 1974, as 
amended (42 U.S.C. 5309). Provides that no person shall be excluded from participation in, 
denied the benefits of, or subjected to discrimination on the basis of race, color, national 

323



REHABILITATION CONTRACT 
Project # 1-19-671 

2/14/19 
 

 
Page 8 

 

origin, sex, age, or handicap under any program or activity funded in part or in whole under 
Title I of the Act. 
• The Age Discrimination Act of 1975, as amended (42 U.S.C. 1601 et seq.) Provides that 
no person on the basis of age, be excluded from participation in, be denied the benefits of or 
be subjected to discrimination under any program or activity receiving Federal financial 
assistance. 
• Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, as amended (P.L. 93-112, 29 U.S.C. 794). 
Provides that no otherwise qualified individual shall solely by reason of his/her handicap be 
excluded from participation in, be denied the benefits of, or be discriminated against under 
any program or activity receiving Federal financial assistance. 
• Americans with Disabilities Act (P.L. 101-336, 42 U.S.C. 12101-12213). Provides 
comprehensive civil rights to individuals with disabilities in the areas of employment, 
public accommodations, state and local government services, and telecommunications. 

 
(c) All contracts utilizing CDBG funds must contain the following certification concerning 

restriction of lobbying: 
 

"The Recipient certifies, to the best of his or her knowledge and belief, that: 
 
i. No Federal appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid, by or on behalf of the 
Recipient, to any person for influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of 
any agency, a Member of Congress, an officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of 
a Member of Congress in connection with the awarding of any Federal contract, the making 
of any Federal grant, the making of any Federal loan, the entering into of any cooperative 
agreement, and the extension, continuation, renewal, amendment, or modification of any 
Federal contract, grant, loan, or cooperative agreement. 
 
ii. If any funds other than Federal appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid to any 
person for influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of any agency, a 
Member of Congress, an officer or employee, or an employee of a Member of congress in 
connection with this Federal contract, grant, loan, or cooperative agreement, the Recipient 
shall complete and submit Standard Form-LLL, "Disclosure Form to Report Federal 
Lobbying" in accordance with its instruction. 
 
iii. The Recipient shall require that the language of this certification be included in the 
award documents for all subawards at all tiers (including subcontracts, subgrants, and 
contracts under grants, loans, and cooperative agreements) and that all subrecipients shall 
certify and disclose accordingly. 
 
This certification is a material representation of fact upon which reliance was placed when 
this transaction was made or entered into. Submission of this certification is a prerequisite 
for making or entering into this transaction imposed by section 1352, title 31, U.S. Code. 
Any person who fails to file the required certification shall be subject to a civil penalty of 
not less than $10,000 and not more than $100,000 for each such failure." 

 
  

324



REHABILITATION CONTRACT 
Project # 1-19-671 

2/14/19 
 

 
Page 9 

 

CONTRACTOR ACCEPTANCE BY OWNER(S) 
 
  Sue Kotz 
Contractor Firm Name  Owner(s) Name 

  1509 Main Street 

Contractor’s Address  Owner’s Address 

  Cedar Falls, IA 50613 

City, State, Zip  City, State, Zip 
   

Contractor’s E-mail  Owner’s E-mail 
 
   

Signature of Contractor  Owner’s Signature 
   
Date of Acceptance  Date of Acceptance 
 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
 
       By: _________________________________ 
               James P. Brown, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
By: _________________________ 
 Jacqueline Danielsen, CMC, City Clerk 
 
STATE OF IOWA      ) 
      )  SS  
COUNTY OF BLACK HAWK   ) 
 
 On this _____ day of _______________, 2018, before me a Notary Public in and for said 
County, personally appeared James P. Brown and Jacqueline Danielsen to me personally known, who 
being duly sworn, did say that they are the Mayor and City Clerk, respectively, of the City of Cedar 
Falls, Iowa, a Municipal Corporation, created and existing under the laws of the State of Iowa, and that 
the seal affixed to the foregoing instrument is the seal of said Municipal Corporation, and that said 
instrument was signed and sealed on behalf of said Municipal Corporation by authority and resolution of 
its City Council and said Mayor and City Clerk acknowledged said instrument to be the free act and 
deed of said Municipal Corporation by it voluntarily executed. 
 
      _____________________________________ 

Notary Public in and for Black Hawk County, Iowa 

325



REHABILITATION CONTRACT 
Project # 1-19-671 

2/14/19 
 

 
Page 10 

 

 

Exhibit A 
Housing Rehabilitation Project Write Up 

 
1509 Main Street, Cedar Falls, IA 50613 

  

326



327



REHABILITATION CONTRACT 
Project # 1-19-671 

2/14/19 
 

 
Page 11 

 

 
Exhibit B 

FEDERAL REGULATIONS PROHIBITING USE OF 
LEAD-BASED PAINT AND ELIMINATION OF 

LEAD-BASED PAINT HAZARD 
 
 
 Part I: Prohibition of Lead-Based Paint Usage 
 

A. Definition: 
 

"Lead-based paint" means any paint containing more than one percent (1%) lead by weight 
(calculated as lead metal) in the total nonvolatile content of liquid paints or in the dried film 
of paint already applied. 

 
B. Applicable Surfaces: 

 
Applicable surfaces means all interior surfaces and those exterior surfaces, such as stairs, 
decks, porches, railings, windows, and doors which are readily accessible to children under 
seven (7) years of age. 

 
Part II: Elimination of Lead-Based Paint Hazard 
 

A. Procedure: 
 

All defective paint conditions shall be assumed to involve lead-based paint and thus to 
constitute health hazards that must be corrected unless testing shows that lead is not present 
in the paint at a level above 1.0 percent. 

 
B. Treatment: 

Particular care shall be taken to correct conditions of cracking, scaling, peeling and loose 
paint on walls, ceilings, doors, windows, trim, stairs, railings, cabinets and piping.  All such 
surfaces shall be thoroughly washed, scraped or wire brushed so as to remove all cracking, 
scaling, peeling and loose paint before repainting.  As a minimum, these surfaces must 
receive two (2) coats of a suitable nonlead-based paint.  Where it is infeasible to control or 
correct the cracking, scaling, peeling or loosening of the lead-based paint and the film 
integrity of the treated surfaces cannot be maintained, the paint on these surfaces shall be 
removed or covered with material such as hardboard, plywood, drywall, plaster, or other 
suitable material. 

 
Part III: The Contractor will comply with all applicable regulations in 24 C.F.R. Part 35 pertaining to
 requirements for notification, evaluation and reduction of lead-based paint hazards in
 federally owned residential properties and housing receiving federal assistance. 

328



 

 

DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com  

 

INTEROFFICE MEMORANDUM 

Administration Division 

  

  

 

 

  

 
 
  

 TO: Mayor Brown & City Council  

 FROM: Stephanie Houk Sheetz, AICP, Director of Community Development 

 DATE: March 28, 2018 

 SUBJECT: CDBG Banking Service Agreement for Lump Sum Drawdown 

 
Cedar Falls receives approximately $248,000 in Community Development Block Grant 
(CDBG) funds each year, as an entitlement community.  These funds primarily support 
several programs: housing rehabilitations or housing repairs for income-qualifying 
residents; financial support to several service agencies such as Visiting Nurses, 
Northeast Iowa Food Bank, Consumer Credit Counseling, etc.   
 
May 2nd of every year, Cedar Falls must meet a timeliness test.  At that point, the 
maximum in unspent funds is 1.5 times its annual award.  We estimate Cedar Falls will 
have 1.6 times our annual award.  Therefore, as permitted by HUD, we are proposing a 
lump sum draw down into a separate account, of $35,500.   
 
The attached Service Agreement is similar to last year’s lump sum agreement.  We 
have advised HUD of our intent to complete this.  There are several provisions staff will 
be sure to meet, as provided in the agreement: 1) first expenditure of the lump sum 
funds must occur within 45 days of the deposit and 2) substantial use of lump sum 
funds must occur within 180 days.  We have several open rehabilitation projects that 
needed the spring weather to continue forward.  These requirements can be met. 
 
Please contact me with any questions.  Thank you. 
 

329



330



331



332



333



334



335



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 

MEMORANDUM 
Planning & Community Services Division 

  

   

 

 

 
 

 

 

 TO: Honorable Mayor James P. Brown and City Council 

 FROM: Shane Graham, Planner II 

 DATE: March 28, 2019 

SUBJECT:      Sale of Lots 21 and 22, West Viking Road Industrial Park Phase IV, City 
of Cedar Falls, Black Hawk County, Iowa (Contains 3.54 acres more or 
less). 

    
The Community Development Department would like to request that a public hearing be 
scheduled for April 15, 2019 to address the proposed transfer of the above referenced 
City owned real estate to Zuidberg NA, L.L.C. The proposed project would consist of a 
new 30,000 sf. warehouse and office facility to be constructed along the east side of 
Production Drive, between Capital Way and Technology Place in the West Viking Road 
Industrial Park. Additional information pertaining to the land transaction and the 
Agreement for Private Development will be provided to City Council prior to the public 
hearing. 
 
If you have any questions, please contact the Community Development Department. 
 
xc:  Stephanie Houk Sheetz, Director of Community Development 
       Karen Howard, Planning and Community Services Manager 
         
        
 
 
 

336



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Prepared by: Shane Graham, Planner II, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, IA 50613, (319) 268-5160 

 

 

RESOLUTION NO. ______ 

 

RESOLUTION SETTING DATE OF PUBLIC HEARING (1) TO CONSIDER 

ENTERING INTO A PROPOSED AGREEMENT FOR PRIVATE DEVELOPMENT 

BETWEEN THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, AND ZUIDBERG NA, L.L.C.; 

AND (2) TO CONSIDER CONVEYANCE OF CERTAIN CITY-OWNED REAL 

ESTATE TO ZUIDBERG NA, L.L.C., PURSUANT TO SAID PROPOSED 

AGREEMENT 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, has received a proposal from 

Zuidberg NA, L.L.C., an Iowa limited liability company (the “Developer”), to enter into a proposed 

Agreement for Private Development (the "Agreement") between the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, and 

Zuidberg NA, L.L.C. on terms which include: 

 

(1) Conveyance of certain city-owned real estate legally described as consisting of all that 

certain parcel or parcels of land located generally in the City of Cedar Falls, County of Black 

Hawk, State of Iowa, more particularly described as follows: 

 

Lots 21 and 22, West Viking Road Industrial Park Phase IV, City of Cedar Falls, Black 

Hawk County, Iowa (Contains 3.54 acres more or less); 

 

and  

 

(2) Entering into a Minimum Assessment Agreement whereby the minimum actual taxable 

value of the land and improvements to be constructed on the Development Property would be 

established at an amount not less than $2,980,000.00 for a period through December 31, 2031; 

and  

 

 WHEREAS, as required by law, a hearing is to be held by the City Council of the City of Cedar 

Falls, Iowa, to consider entering into the proposed Agreement for Private Development and conveyance 

of the Development Property to the Developer pursuant to the terms of said Agreement.  

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, that a hearing be held on the 15
th

  day of April, 2019, at 7:00 p.m., in the 

Council Chambers of the City Hall of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa, 

337



to consider entering into a proposed Agreement for Private Development between the City of Cedar 

Falls, Iowa, and Zuidberg NA, L.L.C., and to consider conveyance of the Development Property to the 

Developer on certain terms as set forth in the proposed agreement.  A copy of the proposed agreement is 

on file in the Office of the Cedar Falls City Clerk.  The City Clerk is hereby directed to publish said 

notice of said public hearing. 

 

ADOPTED this _____ day of _____________, 2019. 

 

   

  James P. Brown, Mayor 
   

ATTEST:   
   

   

Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk   

 

  

338



CERTIFICATE 

 

 

STATE OF IOWA   ) 

     ) SS: 

COUNTY OF BLACK HAWK: ) 

 

 

I, Jacqueline Danielsen, City Clerk of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, hereby certify that the above 

and foregoing is a true and correct typewritten copy of Resolution No. _______________ duly and 

legally adopted by the City Council of said City on the _____ day of ____________________, 2019. 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto signed my name and affixed the official seal of the 

City of Cedar Falls, Iowa this _____ day of ____________________, 2019. 

   

  

Jacqueline Danielsen 

City Clerk of Cedar Falls, Iowa 

 

339



   MAYOR JIM BROWN 

 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
220 CLAY STREET 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
319-273-8600 

FAX 319-268-5126 
M E M O R A N D U M 

Office of the Mayor 
  

 TO: City Council & City Staff 

 FROM: Mayor Jim Brown 

 DATE: March 28, 2019 

 SUBJECT: Referral request for a limited-use fireworks window 

 
Per Council directive, Councilmember Green presented me with the following referral to 
reconsider a limited-use fireworks window. I have included his request on the City 
Council agenda for consideration. 
 
 
Wednesday, March 27, 2019 
 
Mayor Brown,  
 
I request to refer to Committee of the Whole a repeal of the 2017 consumer fireworks ban, and 
enactment of a limited-use window.  
 
On February 18th, the Waterloo City Council voted to permit fireworks use between noon and 
11pm on July 4th, and from noon to 10pm on both July 3rd and July 5th.  Additionally, it 
increased the fines for using fireworks outside of those use windows. I believe that a limited-use 
window is also a reasonable compromise for Cedar Falls and would be amenable to the majority 
of residents of our city. For this reason, I believe this item merits consideration by City Council in 
time for Independence Day 2019. 
 
Very respectfully,  
Rob 

340


	Top
	1. Regular meeting of March 18, 2019.
	190318MINUTES.docx

	2. PH-2019 Permeable Alley
	1. PH - 2019 Permeable Alley.docx
	2. Plans_2019-Permeable-Alley_Final.pdf
	3. Specs_2019-Permeable-Alley_Final.pdf
	4. 2019 PERMEABLE ALLEY - COST ESTIMATE.pdf

	3. Adopt adopt the plans, etc.-2019 Permeable Alley
	4. PH-CHN Zoning Amendments
	1- Council staff memo. 4.1.19.docx
	2. Ordinance CHN code amendments.docx
	3-red-lined ordinance.recodified version.docx
	CHP Letter  March 2019.docx

	5. Ordinance-CHN Overlay Zoning District
	6. Ordinance #2937 - Code of Ordinances
	1-Memo for Ord 2937.doc
	2-Ord 2937-Adoption of Code.doc

	7. Ordinance #2938, Rezoning A-1 to RP
	2938-Rezoning A1 to RP.docx

	8. Resignation of Jayme Renfro - Art & Culture Board
	Jayme Renfro - Art &amp; Culture Resignation.docx

	9. 3/18/19 Committee of the Whole minutes
	Comm of the Whole 03 18 19.doc

	10. 4/01/19 Certified Lists
	Arborist-CertList3-2019.pdf
	EquipOperator-CertList3-2019.pdf

	11. Monthly Report - February 2019
	Monthly Report - February 2019.pdf

	12. Berg and Ray Funds
	1-BERG &amp; RAY POLICIES.COUNCIL 2019.MEM.doc
	2-library foundation funds_001.pdf
	3-Berg2020 Memo.pdf
	4-Kathryn Ray Funds 2019.doc

	13. Temporary sign request for Make-A-Wish Walk
	Make A Wish cc memo temporary sign permit 3-25-19.pdf

	14. Street Closure - Downtown Show and Shine
	1 - Special Event Request Council Memo.doc
	2 - Street Closure - Downtown Show and Shine.pdf

	15. Liquor Licenses 4/01/19
	Liquor beer 3-28-19.doc

	16. CFU Transfer
	CFU Transfer.pdf

	17. Easement Agreement - Sidewalk Café at 314 Main Street
	SW Cafe - Easement Agrmt - 314 Main.pdf

	18. Gold Star Memorial Site Plan Concept
	1_GSFMM_Council_4_1_19.pdf
	2_March_2019_Minutes.pdf
	3_Location Map - GSFMM.pdf
	4_Elevation.pdf
	5_Plan 1of2 w Aerial Photo-  Gold Star Memorial.pdf
	6_Plan 2of2-  Gold Star Memorial.pdf
	7_GSFMM_Cost_Estimate.pdf
	8_Gold_Star_Family_Monument_Resolution.pdf

	19. Revised Bylaws for the Housing Commission
	Memo to Council -  Bylaws Final.pdf
	Housing Commission Bylaws_Proposed Redline_Council Memo.pdf
	Resolution_Bylaws Updated 2019_final.pdf

	20. Relocation Reimb-W. 1st Street Acquisition
	1.council memo on w 1st street ROW acquisitions.docx
	2.2642_001.pdf

	21. Levee Temp Easement Agreement
	1. Memo - Temporary Construction Easement.docx
	2. Plaza Temp Construciton Easement.pdf
	3. Exhibit A.pdf

	22. Aureon Licence Agreement
	1. Memo Aureon Greenhill.docx
	2. License Agreement Aureon Greenhill.pdf
	3. Exhibit A - Aureon Greenhill.pdf
	4. Exhibit B - Signed Aureon Plans.pdf

	23. PSA-Robinson-Ace Place WatershedEngineering
	1. Memo-Robinson Design Agreement Birdsall Watershed Assessment.docx
	2. PSA.pdf

	24. PSA-Terracon-2019 Construction Testing
	1. 2019 Terracon Testing Services.docx
	2. PSA.pdf

	25. SFC-925 West 15th Street
	1. Memo to Council - 925 W 15th Street.docx
	2. Lien Notice and Special Promissory Note for925 W 15th Street.docx
	3. updated application.pdf
	4. Bid document for 925 W 15th Nelson, Joshua.pdf
	5. Bid Nelson, Josh windows.pdf
	6. images of property.docx

	26. Benda-Amended Dev. Proc.Agreement
	1. PZ Staff report MPC Zoning Amendment = BENDA 3-20-19.docx
	2. Amended Development Agreement 3-20-19 EDITED.pdf
	3. UNIV n McCLAIN EX CONDITIONS (3-5-2019).pdf

	27. CDBG Rehab Contracts-Connerly Const.
	Council memo-Rehab contracts group 5 - permit amounts as submitted (iris and karen edits).docx
	Rehab Contract White - Connerley Const bid.pdf
	Rehab Contract Kotz - Connerley Const bid.pdf

	28. Service Agreement-FSB-Drawdown CDBG
	1. Council memo-Lump Sum Draw Down 4-1-19.docx
	2. CityCedarFallsCDBGLumpSumAgreeApril2019.pdf

	29. Set Public Hearing for Agreement for Private Development - Zuidberg NA, LLC
	1_Memo to Council Setting Date of Public Hearing 04-01-19.docx
	2_Resolution Setting Public Hearing - Zuidberg NA, LLC (2).docx

	30. Allow Bills and Payroll of April 1, 2019
	31. City Council Referral to allow a limited-use fireworks window
	Mayor Memo on Fireworks Referral.docx

	Bottom

